
 
 
Democratic Services   

Guildhall, High Street, Bath BA1 5AW   

Telephone: (01225) 477000 main switchboard   

Direct Lines - Tel: 01225 394458  Date: 7
th
 July 2015 

Web-site - http://www.bathnes.gov.uk E-mail: Democratic_Services@bathnes.gov.uk 

 
 
To: All Members of the Children and Young People Policy Development and 

Scrutiny Panel 
 
Councillors: Lisa Brett, Matt Cochrane, Karen Warrington, Peter Turner, Sally Davis, 
Alison Millar and Liz Hardman 
 
Co-opted Voting Members: David Williams 
 
Co-opted Non-Voting Members: Chris Batten and Edward Joseph 

 
   Cabinet Member for Children’s Services: Councillor Michael Evans 
 
Chief Executive and other appropriate officers  
Press and Public  

 
 
Dear Member 
 
Children and Young People Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel: Wednesday, 15th 
July, 2015  
 
You are invited to attend a meeting of the Children and Young People Policy Development 
and Scrutiny Panel, to be held on Wednesday, 15th July, 2015 at 9.30 am in the Council 
Chamber - Guildhall, Bath. 
 
The agenda is set out overleaf. 
 
Yours sincerely 
  
 
Mark Durnford 
for Chief Executive 
 
 
 

If you need to access this agenda or any of the supporting reports in an alternative 
accessible format please contact Democratic Services or the relevant report author 
whose details are listed at the end of each report. 

 

This Agenda and all accompanying reports are printed on recycled paper 

 



NOTES: 
 

1. Inspection of Papers: Any person wishing to inspect minutes, reports, or a list of the 
background papers relating to any item on this Agenda should contact Mark Durnford who 
is available by telephoning Bath 01225 394458 or by calling in at the Guildhall, Bath  
(during normal office hours). 
 

2. Public Speaking at Meetings: The Council has a scheme to encourage the public to 
make their views known at meetings. They may make a statement relevant to what the 
meeting has power to do.  They may also present a petition or a deputation on behalf of a 
group.  Advance notice is required not less than two full working days before the meeting 
(this means that for meetings held on Wednesdays notice must be received in Democratic 
Services by 4.30pm the previous Friday)  
 

The public may also ask a question to which a written answer will be given. Questions 
must be submitted in writing to Democratic Services at least two full working days in 
advance of the meeting (this means that for meetings held on Wednesdays, notice must 
be received in Democratic Services by 4.30pm the previous Friday). If an answer cannot 
be prepared in time for the meeting it will be sent out within five days afterwards. Further 
details of the scheme can be obtained by contacting Mark Durnford as above. 
 

3. Details of Decisions taken at this meeting can be found in the minutes which will be 
published as soon as possible after the meeting, and also circulated with the agenda for 
the next meeting.  In the meantime details can be obtained by contacting Mark Durnford as 
above. 
 

Appendices to reports are available for inspection as follows:- 
 

Public Access points - Reception: Civic Centre - Keynsham, Guildhall - Bath, The Hollies 
- Midsomer Norton. Bath Central and Midsomer Norton public libraries. 
 
For Councillors and Officers papers may be inspected via Political Group Research 
Assistants and Group Rooms/Members' Rooms. 
 

4. Recording at Meetings:- 
 
The Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014 now allows filming and 
recording by anyone attending a meeting. This is not within the Council’s control. 
 
Some of our meetings are webcast.  At the start of the meeting, the Chair will confirm if all 
or part of the meeting is to be filmed.  If you would prefer not to be filmed for the webcast, 
please make yourself known to the camera operators. 
 
To comply with the Data Protection Act 1998, we require the consent of parents or 
guardians before filming children or young people. For more information, please speak to 
the camera operator 
 
The Council will broadcast the images and sound live via the internet 
www.bathnes.gov.uk/webcast An archived recording of the proceedings will also be 
available for viewing after the meeting. The Council may also use the images/sound 
recordings on its social media site or share with other organisations, such as broadcasters. 
 

5. Attendance Register: Members should sign the Register which will be circulated at the 
meeting. 
 



6. THE APPENDED SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS ARE IDENTIFIED BY AGENDA ITEM 
NUMBER. 
 

7. Emergency Evacuation Procedure 
 

When the continuous alarm sounds, you must evacuate the building by one of the 
designated exits and proceed to the named assembly point.  The designated exits are 
sign-posted. 
 

Arrangements are in place for the safe evacuation of disabled people. 
 

 



 

 

Children and Young People Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel - Wednesday, 15th 
July, 2015 

 
at 9.30 am in the Council Chamber  - Guildhall, Bath 

 
A G E N D A 

 
 

1. WELCOME AND INTRODUCTIONS  

 

2. EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE  

 The Chair will draw attention to the emergency evacuation procedure as set out 
under Note 6. 

 

3. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS  

 

4. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 At this point in the meeting declarations of interest are received from Members in any 
of the agenda items under consideration at the meeting. Members are asked to 
indicate: 

(a) The agenda item number in which they have an interest to declare. 

(b) The nature of their interest. 

(c) Whether their interest is a disclosable pecuniary interest or an other interest,   
(as defined in Part 2, A and B of the Code of Conduct and Rules for Registration of 
Interests) 

Any Member who needs to clarify any matters relating to the declaration of interests is 
recommended to seek advice from the Council’s Monitoring Officer or a member of his 
staff before the meeting to expedite dealing with the item during the meeting. 

 

5. TO ANNOUNCE ANY URGENT BUSINESS AGREED BY THE CHAIRMAN  

 

6. ITEMS FROM THE PUBLIC OR COUNCILLORS - TO RECEIVE DEPUTATIONS, 
STATEMENTS, PETITIONS OR QUESTIONS RELATING TO THE BUSINESS OF 
THIS MEETING  

 At the time of publication no notifications had been received. 

 

 



7. CABINET MEMBER UPDATE  

 The Cabinet Member will update the Panel on any relevant issues. Panel members 
may ask questions. 

 

8. PEOPLE AND COMMUNITIES STRATEGIC DIRECTOR'S BRIEFING  

 The Panel will receive a verbal update on this item from the People and Communities 
Strategic Director. 

 

9. LSCB ANNUAL REPORT & WORK PROGRAMME (Pages 7 - 92) 

 The People and Communities Directorate would like to set out for the Panel the work 
of the Local Safeguarding Childrens Board during 2014-2015 and the priorities for 
2015-16 work programme along with further areas to be actioned during 2016 - 18. 

 

10. INDEPENDENT REVIEWING OFFICERS ANNUAL REPORT (Pages 93 - 108) 

 The People and Communities Directorate would like to set out for the Panel the activity 
of the Independent Reviewing Officers (IRO) during 2014-2015. 

 

11. CARE LEAVERS SUPPORT UPDATE (Pages 109 - 112) 

 This report is to update the Children and Young People Panel on the activity of the 
BaNES Leaving Care team over the previous 12 months. 

 

12. PANEL WORKPLAN (Pages 113 - 118) 

 This report presents the latest workplan for the Panel. Any suggestions for further 
items or amendments to the current programme will be logged and scheduled in 
consultation with the Panel’s Chair and supporting officers. 

 
The Committee Administrator for this meeting is Mark Durnford who can be contacted on  
01225 394458.

 



This page is intentionally left blank



Printed on recycled paper 

 

Bath & North East Somerset Council 
 

MEETING/
DECISION 
MAKER:  

Children and Young People Policy Development and  Scrutiny Panel  

MEETING/
DECISION 
DATE:  

15th July 2015 

EXECUTIVE FORWARD 

PLAN REFERENCE: 

  

TITLE: 
Local Safeguarding Childrens Board Annual Report 2014 – 15 and Business Plan 2015 - 
18 

WARD: All  

AN OPEN PUBLIC ITEM 

 

List of attachments to this report: 

Annex 1 

 
1 THE ISSUE 

1.1 The People and Communities Directorate would like to set out for the Panel the 
work of the Local Safeguarding Childrens Board during 2014-2015 and the 
priorities for 2015-16 work programme along with further areas to be actioned 
during 2016 - 18.  

2 RECOMMENDATION 

2.1 Proposal 1: The Panel are asked to note the report. 

2.2 Proposal 2: The Panel are asked to highlight any additional areas of focus they 
view as important for the LSCB to consider.  

3 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS (FINANCE, PROPERTY, PEOPLE) 

3.1 None 

4 STATUTORY CONSIDERATIONS AND BASIS FOR PROPOSAL 

4.1 The LSCB is a Statutory Body. The LSCB has made it a requirement of its  
Terms of Reference (reviewed in June 2015) to share the LSCB Annual Report 
and work programme with the Scrutiny Panel as it values the input that will be 
provided and would like to share its work with the widest audience.   

5 THE REPORT 

5.1 The LSCB have reviewed the content and structure of its Annual Report and if 
compared to previous years the Panel will see that significantly more detail has been 
included with a focus on what has been achieved. 

Agenda Item 9

Page 7



Printed on recycled paper 

5.2 Along with highlighting new guidance that has been published and new statutory 
responsibilities that have arisen in year, the Annual Report includes detailed updates 
from each sub-group (two new ones have been formed in year, those being CSE and 
Missing sub-group and Communications sub-group) and also includes for the first time 
reports from partner agencies. The report aimed to set out the difference that has been 
made and partners were asked to clarify this by asking themselves ‘so what difference 
has been made?’.  

5.3 The report has a more substantial overview of case activity and this will be built on year 
on year. 

5.4 For the first time the LSCB has move to a three year business planning cycle and the 
business plan will be signed off in September 2015 but will be a live document and 
additions will be made as and when needed.  

6 RATIONALE 

6.1 To raise awareness of the work of the LSCB and to provide an assurance that the LSCB 
have appropriate mechanisms in place to safeguarding children and young people in 
B&NES and those B&NES children and young people who are placed out of area.  

7 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

None 

8 CONSULTATION 

    The Local Safeguarding Children’s Board.  

9 RISK MANAGEMENT 

The multi-agency partners of the LSCB reviews the risk to children and young people 
routinely. The Council’s Risk management processes are followed for Council Services 
and the risk register was updated during the reporting period. The  LSCB will develop its 
own risk register during 2015 – 16. 

Contact person  Lesley Hutchinson  

Head of Safeguarding and Quality Assurance 

Lesley_hutchinson@bathnes.gov.uk 

Background 
papers 

None 

Please contact the report author if you need to access this report in an 
alternative format 

 

Page 8



1

Annual Report 2014 – 2015

and 

Business Plan 2015 - 2018

Page 9



2

Page 10



3

Chair’s Foreword

I am delighted to present this, my second report as the 

Independent Chair of Bath and North East Somerset Local 

Safeguarding Children Board. 

The year 2014 to 2015 has been one of significant change for the 

Board in the way that it operates and one of substantial challenge 

to our member agencies. The Board has undertaken an ambitious 

programme of improvement.  Member agencies have continued to 

perform within a context of tightening financial pressure as well as 

the implementation of new legislation and guidance. I am pleased 

to report that the Board and its members have risen well to these 

challenges.

It needs to be said that children as well as those adults in need 

of care and support, will always be at risk from abuse, predation 

and neglect.  Most of this abuse takes place behind closed doors 

and owing to the need for confidentiality, is rarely evident to 

communities.  Historically, public awareness of safeguarding arrangements usually occurs on 

those occasions when something goes wrong, often resulting in a Public Inquiry. The reality is 

that here and elsewhere, an outstanding multi-agency team of professionals, work tirelessly to 

ensure that such tragedies are rare and that the lives of children blighted by abuse are turned 

around. 

It is important to remember though, that protection always starts with somebody raising a 

concern in the first place. The “somebody” I refer to here might be a professional such as a 

health visitor or a school but could equally be a neighbour or a friend or relative. Safeguarding 

children and adults should be considered everybody’s business and not the select province of 

a handful of professionals. This is an important message and one which our Communications 

Sub Group endeavours to drive home at every opportunity.

Multi-agency safeguarding arrangements exist to coordinate our collective workforce in the 

early identification of such risks and to respond to them collaboratively and effectively. A large 

part of the process of doing so is founded in good information sharing between agencies and 

at the time of writing, we are working with partners to develop a Multi – Agency Information 

Sharing Hub in which we hope the process of information sharing will be conducted more 

effectively than ever before.

What is very clear to me is tangible evidence of improvement in preventative activity, which 

is delivering positive outcomes for those children in most need. The LSCB business plan is 

geared to support prevention through early help and support, as a priority and for the purpose 

of driving improvements effectively, has been extended to continue into 2018.

This year has seen the implementation of the Care Act 2014. The Act principally improves 

things for adults but it includes improvements for children, especially those with special 

educational needs and disability. In particular, the Care Act places the Safeguarding Adults 

Board on a similar legal footing to the LSCB. We believe that this legislative alignment now 

presents a unique opportunity to explore closer collaboration between both Boards. To that end 

we have held a joint Development Day and are now planning to implement some exciting new 

approaches. Closer collaboration across both Boards should at least strengthen the “Think 

Family” ethos in which professionals consider the wider implications of an individuals needs in 

the context of risk implications for other members of their family.

Page 11



4

The challenges facing the LSCB into 2015 to 2016 are outlined later in this report. On the basis 

of the achievement of an ambitious programme of change undertaken during the past year, 

I feel confident of our ability to squarely meet these challenges into the next. In particular, 

I would like to commend the members of B&NES LSCB, its sub groups and our thoroughly 

professional workforce for their continued efforts in keeping children and young people safe in 

B&NES.

Reg Pengelly 

Independent Chair

Page 12



5

Executive Summary 

Context

B&NES LSCB is a statutory body established under the Children Act 2004 and the Local 

Safeguarding Children Board Regulations 2006. It is independently chaired and consists of 

senior representatives of all the principal stakeholders working together to safeguard children 

and young people across the area. 

There are just over 180,000 residents in the B&NES area. The 2011 Census shows that 16.7% 

(29,577) of the population are 15 years or under, and that 6.3% (11,211) are 16 -19 year olds.

2014 - 15 has been a period of substantial legislative change and new guidance. This has 

taken place in the context of financial challenges for all of our member agencies. 

Child Protection

There has been a 25% rise nationally in Child Protection (CP) activity over the past five years. 

In B&NES the increase from 2010 up to 2014 was over 56%.  However during 2014 – 15 

B&NES have seen a 13% reduction.

Over the past year there has been a reduction in the percentage of CP cases that are re-

referred into the Authority within 12 months of a previous case closure. In April 2014 this 

rate of re-referral was 24.6% (against the statistical neighbour percentage of 24.5% and the 

national percentage of 24.9%). By December 2014 this percentage had reduced to 21%.  The 

reduction in this percentage indicates that although the length of our Children In Need (CIN) 

interventions might be longer than that of other areas, the longer duration has allowed a better 

quality of intervention and assisted in a more sustained improvement for families.   

Prevention and Safeguarding

There is evidence that the Early Help service, and the strengthening of links between Early 

Help and Social Work teams has had a positive impact on their ability to work with families at 

an earlier stage and to also work effectively with families when they are subject to a CP plan. 

This approach has led to a 13% reduction in plans since April 2014. (From 125 in April to 109 

in March 2015).  

The prioritisation of Early Help has contributed to a sustained reduction in the numbers of 

young people coming into care (Looked After Children), over the past 12 months. In April 2014 

there were 145 young people in care. This figure has since reduced to the current figure of 131 

(a reduction of just under 10%). 

Within this cohort of Looked After Children, and in common with the national picture, there 

has been a considerable rise in the number of 10 -15 year old children and young people 

that were accommodated. This age group now comprises almost half (48%) of the Looked 

After population, which is significantly higher than both statistical neighbours (37.1%) and the 

national average (37%). 

It is always a challenge to evidence the impact of assessment and subsequent planned 

intervention but from what has been returned to the Integrated Working Team, 69% of the 

information evidences improved outcomes to some extent. 

Over the past two years we have seen a consistent figure of between 8 -10% of Common 

Assessment Frameworks appropriately progressing to a  child in need or child protection 

assessment by the Children’s Services Duty team.   More tangible outcomes such as improved 

morning or bedtime routines have also been reported as positive outcomes.

Page 13



6

The B&NES Connecting Families initiative (launched nationally as Troubled Families) 

completed the phase one targets in August 2014. This meant that the targets for reaching 

215 families were met 7 months early and confirmed the  local initiative as one of the best 

performing in the UK. This has led to an increased focus on the impact of workless-ness and 

homelessness as issues that contribute to poor outcomes for young people. 

The Work of the Board

The LSCB has undergone a significant programme of change in the past year.  This includes 

a change to the format of Board meetings to allow a themed discussion of each of our key 

work-streams at each meeting and effective challenge between members. A review has been 

completed of the tasks and focus of all of the sub-groups, and two new groups, (CSE sub-

group, and the Communications sub-group) have been established. 

Links between the LSCB and the LSAB have been strengthened through the appointment of a 

joint Head of Safeguarding and Quality Assurance, a joint Independent Chair (from June 2015).

The LSCB continues to be an active and influential participant in the work of the Children’s 

Trust and Health and Wellbeing Boards. It provides information and challenge throughout 

the year to influence the priorities and work of both Boards. This report provides evidence 

that the LSCB has prioritised its work according to local issues and demands and set clear 

improvement priorities that are incorporated into a delivery plan to improve outcomes

A Learning and Improvement Framework has been agreed. There is strong evidence in this 

report that opportunities for learning are effective and properly engage all partners. A culture 

of learning and continuous improvement appears to be embedded within key agencies. 

The delivery of training consistently meets high standards and work is underway to further 

strengthen the way that the Board evaluates the impact of training to support improved 

outcomes for children and families. 

The LSCB and its members face a number of current and future challenges/areas for 

development. Resourcing and financing of the Board remains tight and pressured. The 

interface with schools requires improvement. To that end, the LSCB has recently recruited both 

a primary and secondary head teacher to join the LSCB and they will join in June 2015.

Business Plan

This year the LSCB have developed a three year business plan. The priorities for 2015 -16 are 

as follows:

s฀ 2ECEIVE฀PROGRESS฀REPORTS฀ON฀THE฀DEVELOPMENT฀OF฀-ULTI
AGENCY฀)NFORMATION฀3HARING฀(UB
s฀ -ONITOR฀THE฀DELIVERY฀OF฀THE฀#HILD฀3EXUAL฀%XPLOITATION฀AND฀-ISSING฀!CTION฀0LAN
s฀ -ONITOR฀THE฀IMPLEMENTATION฀OF฀0REVENT฀AND฀#HANNEL฀RESPONSIBILITIES฀�RADICALISATION	
s฀ 'ATHER฀ASSURANCE฀ON฀E
SAFETY฀ARRANGEMENTS
s฀ #ONTINUE฀TO฀IMPROVE฀PRACTICE฀THROUGH฀MULTI
AGENCY฀AUDITS฀AND฀AGENCY฀AUDITS
s฀ #ONTINUE฀TO฀ENSURE฀THE฀VOICE฀OF฀THE฀CHILD฀AND฀PARENT฀�฀CARER฀IS฀HEARD
s฀ )NDUCT฀NEW฀LAY฀MEMBERS�฀SCHOOL฀REPRESENTATIVES฀AND฀HOUSING฀PROFESSIONALS฀TO฀THE฀,3#"

Progress against the actions is monitored routinely.

Page 14



7

Contents  Page

Chair’s Foreword ...............................................................................................................  3

Executive Summary  .........................................................................................................  5

Section 1:  Local Context for B&NES 2014 - 15 .........................................................  9

Section 2:  Summary Statement: How Safe Are Children and Young People  ...........   

 in B&NES  .................................................................................................  9

Section 3:  Updates on the Legislative and Statutory Framework during 2014 - 15 ..  12

Section 4:  Non-statutory Guidance and Reports Which Influence and Inform  ........

 Safeguarding Arrangements ....................................................................  15

Section 5:  Significant Local Events and Response ...................................................  16

Section 6:  The Interface with Other Boards and Committees ...................................  17

Section 7:  Governance and Accountability  ..............................................................  20

Section 8:  LSCB Sub Group Achievements and Priorities ........................................  21

Section 9:  Other Relevant Work and Achievements  .................................................  27

Section 10:  Local Arrangements .................................................................................  31

Section 11:  Summary of Activity in Relation to the Support and Interventions 

 Provided for Children and Young People  ................................................  32

Section 12:  External Assessments ..............................................................................  43

Section 13:  Priorities for 2015 - 16 and Beyond ..........................................................  44

Section 14:  Essential Information ................................................................................  47

Appendices

Appendix 1:  List of Statutory Guidance, Legislation and Reports Relevant to  ............   

 Safeguarding Children and Young People ...............................................  47

Appendix 2:  LSCB Terms of Reference ........................................................................  49

Appendix 3:  LSCB Members and Attendance 2014 - 15  ............................................  50

Appendix 4:  Regulation 5 of the Local Safeguarding Children Boards  .......................   

 Regulations 2006  .....................................................................................  55

Appendix 5:  Budget 2014 - 15 ......................................................................................  56

Appendix 6:  Training Information  .................................................................................  57

Appendix 7:  Partner Reports ........................................................................................  67

Appendix 8:  B&NES LSAB / LSCB JOINT WORKING 2015- 2016 ...............................  75

Appendix 9:  LSCB Business Plan outturn 2014 -15 ......................................................  77

Appendix 10:  LSCB Business Plan 2015-18 ...................................................................  78

Page 15



8

Tables

CAFs undertaken 2011 – 15 .............................................................................................  33

Timescale from Strategy Discussion to Initial Child Protection Conference 2014 -15 .....  36

Number of Children Subject to a Child Protection Plan on 31st March by Year ..............  37

Rate of Children Subject to a Child Protection Plan Per 10,000 Population in  ................  

Comparison to Other Areas (at the end of the period) .....................................................  38

Lengths of Time Children are Subject to a Child Protection Plan ....................................  39

Recorded Categories of Abuse at Initial and Latest Child Protection  .............................   

Plan 2014 -15 ...................................................................................................................  40

Rate Per 10,000 Population of Looked After Children ......................................................  42

Diagrams

Number of Common Assessments (CAFs) by Year and Quarter .....................................  33

Number of Contacts per Month 2013 – 15 .......................................................................  34

Number of Referrals per Month (contacts which progress to single assessment) ..........  34

Percentage of Referrals by Presenting Issue ...................................................................  35

Rates of Children Subject to an Initial Child Protection Conference by Year, Statistical 

Neighbour and England Averages ...................................................................................  37

Percentage of Initial Child Protection Conferences held within 15 days of the start .......   

of the section 47 enquiries which led to a conference .....................................................  37

Number of Children and Young People on a Child Protection Plan by Age  ...................   

and Period ........................................................................................................................  38

Percentage of Children Subject to Child protection Plan for a Second or  ......................  

Subsequent Time .............................................................................................................  39

Number of Looked After Children at End of Quarter ........................................................  41

Children and Young People’s Participation in Reviews ....................................................  42

Page 16



9

Section 1: Local Context for B&NES 2014 - 15

1.1  Bath and North East Somerset (B&NES) is a Unitary Authority with just over 180,000 

residents. The 2011 Census shows that 16.7% (29,577) of the population are 15 years or 

under, and that 6.3% (11,211) are 16 - 19 year olds. 

1.2  The area has a predominantly White and White British ethnic population, with 93% 

defining themselves as such. The largest minority ethnic groups in the area are those 

who define themselves as mixed heritage (4%) and Black (2%). 

1.3  Bath is the largest urban settlement in the area, acting as the commercial and 

recreational centre. It is home to approximately 50% of the population and is one of the 

few cities in the world to be named a UNESCO World Heritage Site. Keynsham lies to 

the west of Bath, a traditional market town with a population of almost 9% of the total 

population of B&NES. Midsomer Norton and Norton Radstock are small historic market 

towns, located in the south of the area with approximately 12% of the total population 

split between them. They both have a strong heritage of mining and industry stemming 

from the North Somerset Coalfield.  The rest of the district consists of 69 diverse rural 

communities of varying sizes and characteristics, including a line of villages along the 

foothills of the Mendips, the Chew Valley and Cotswolds villages around Bath.

1.4  The area has a mix of affluent and deprived areas, with 5 small areas being in the most 

deprived 20% nationally according to the 2010 Indices of Deprivation. An estimated 12% 

of children live in poverty, compared to 17% in the UK. Rates vary significantly within 

local authority wards, with levels ranging from 5% to 34%.  

1.5  The Department for Education (DfE) estimates that nationally around 7% of children have 

a disability as defined by the Equalities Act 2010. In B&NES we have an estimated 2,228 

children, 6.2% of the total population of children and young people between the ages of 

0 and 19 who are identified as disabled. 

1.6  Whilst B&NES schools perform well overall, with a higher than average number of pupils 

locally attending good or outstanding schools and authority-wide attainment measures 

in the top quartile nationally, the poorer educational performance for children on Free 

School Meals means the attainment gap is significant and narrowing this gap is a shared 

local priority to improve the equality of life chances for our children and young people.

Section 2: Summary Statement: How Safe Are Children 

and Young People in B&NES 

2.1  Nationally there has been a 25% rise in Child Protection (CP) case activity since 2010. 

Like many other Local Authorities (LAs), in B&NES we have also seen a rise in CP 

activity; the increase from 2010 up to 2014 was over 56% (71 children and young people 

on CP plan in 2010, 109 on a CP plan on 31st March 2015). However with the continued 

investment in Early Help and Connecting Families and the strengthening of links between 

our Early Help services and Social Work teams there has been a positive impact on our 

ability to work with families at an early stage and to also work effectively with families 

when they are subject to a CP plan. This approach has enabled us to make a 13% 

reduction in CP plans since April 2014. (From 125 in April 2014 to 109 in March 2015).  

2.2  Over the past year we have also seen a reduction in the percentage of cases that are 

re-referred into the LA within 12 months of a previous case closure. In April 2014 this 

rate of re-referral was 24.6% (with the Statistical Neighbour figure of 24.5% and the 
Page 17



10

national figure of 24.9%) whilst in December 2014 we had reduced this figure to 21%.  

The reduction in this figure is suggests that although the length of our Children In Need 

(CIN) interventions might be longer than other LAs, the longer duration has allowed a 

better quality of intervention and assisted in a more sustained improvement in the family 

situation.   

2.3  The prioritisation of Early Help has also contributed to a sustained reduction in the 

numbers of young people coming into care over the past 12 months. In April 2014 we 

had 145 young people who were Looked After. Over the past year we have been able 

to gradually bring this figure down to the current figure of 131 (a reduction of just under 

10%). The rate per 10,000 population, a figure which is commonly used for comparison 

purposes puts B&NES at 40.5 which is just below our statistical neighbour average 

(41.5). Within this cohort of Looked After children, and in common with the national 

picture, we have seen a considerable rise in the number of 10 - 15 year old children and 

young people that we accommodated. This age group now comprises almost half (48%) 

of our Looked After population, which is significantly higher than both our statistical 

neighbours (37.1%) and the national average (37%). It will be important that we continue 

to develop services such as our R2K (a respite service for foster carers) and our In Care 

Council to support this age group and ensure that outcomes for this group are monitored 

closely. In Care Council is a group of Children in Care facilitated by Off the Record, 

providing a voice for Looked After young people, it also provides some scrutiny of our 

services and the pledge to children in care.

2.4  B&NES LSCB has undergone considerable change over the past 2 years.  The 

appointment of a new chair has allowed us to review the way the Board works and to 

ensure its work reflects the emerging priorities within Safeguarding as well as ensuring 

that the LSCB was able to develop closer working links with the adult safeguarding 

agenda and the LSAB. Of particular importance has been the development of a 

stronger multi-agency position in relation to Child Sexual Exploitation.  In the last year, 

we have commissioned awareness raising training for all agencies, and developed and 

launched the LSCB Child Sexual Exploitation Strategy.  This is now being developed 

further through the recruitment to a multi-agency “virtual” team of practitioners who have 

skills in engaging with hard to reach young people. These staff work alongside though 

independently of, the lead professional, offering advice and undertaking some of the key 

face-to-face work with the young person.

2.5  The LSCB has also:

a) Changed the format of Board meetings to allow a themed discussion of each of 

our key work-streams at each meeting.

b) Reviewed the tasks and focus of all of the sub-groups, and established two new 

groups (CSE sub-group, and the Communications sub-group).

c) Further strengthened the links between the LSCB and the LSAB through the 

appointment of a joint Head of Safeguarding and Quality Assurance, a joint 

Independent Chair (from June 2015) and the continued work of the joint LSCB and 

LSAB Interface Group.  

d) Appointed lay members to the LSCB; we recognise that maintaining a consistent 

and sustained contribution from lay members can be difficult and we are currently 

recruiting more lay members.

e) Undertaken a full section 11 audit of all contributing agencies looking at 2013 - 14 

information.  This audit demonstrated a good level of engagement from partners 

and a clear commitment to the safeguarding agenda. We have agreed four themed 
Page 18



11

mini audits with the sub regional LAs for 2014 - 15; these are in progress.

f) Organised the annual stakeholder event in November 2014. The focus was on 

“The contribution of Early Help towards Safeguarding”. In addition to this we 

launched the CSE Strategy and the LSCB has continued to organise development 

workshops for all partners on a six monthly basis.  We also held a “Vision Day” to 

allow partners to critically review the goals, values and objectives of the LSCB to 

ensure that all members remain in agreement about the measures of success for 

the LSCB.  This has resulted in the development of a document that sets out the 

vision and goals of the LSCB.

g) Developed a short document for all front-line professionals which sets out some 

of the key tasks undertaken by the LSCB. This has been completed by the 

Communications sub-group. This group intends to strengthen an already good 

level of engagement between the LSCB and partner agencies.  

h) Continued to undertake multi-agency audits. The Professional Practice sub-

group now takes a themed focus and cases are debated by a range of agencies/

professionals.  Learning is shared with managers and good practice is recognised 

through letters of appreciation to individuals who have contributed to positive 

outcomes. The Chair of this group is an independent consultant from Barnardos. 

i) Developed a stronger “challenge” culture, evidenced in the challenges set to the 

Children’s Trust Board which have involved discussion of how the following areas 

are being addressed by partners:

i) Early Help

ii) Provision of parenting support in addition to those services provided by the 

Connecting Families Team

iii) Raising staff awareness of Child Sexual Exploitation

iv) Transition arrangements for vulnerable adults

v) The development of resilience in young people

j) Developed, launched and implemented a “Learning and Improvement Framework” 

for staff in accordance with the requirements of Working Together 2013. 

k) Re-launched the Threshold Document.  Training on thresholds is now included in 

the LSCB induction training for all staff of LSCB agencies.

l) Undertaken a detailed audit of Safeguarding arrangements in schools and 

colleges including those with independent and academy status.  This was 

launched by the LSCB in October 2014, and the findings have been reported back 

to each establishment and an overview report is being presented to the LSCB in 

June 2015. 

m) Approved a 360 degree feedback system for the performance of the Independent 

Chair with an annual multi-agency ‘Challenge and Review’ Panel. This will be 

implemented in 2015 - 16.

2.6  The LSCB faces a number of current and future Challenges/Areas for Development:

a) In accordance with other LSCBs the resourcing and financing of the Board remains 

tight and pressured.  All partner agencies experience similar pressures on funding, 

and therefore it will be important to ensure that funding is proportionate and fair.  In 

the last year we have reviewed and re-confirmed the pooled funding arrangements 

of the B&NES LSCB and how its historical carry-forward will be used.

Page 19



12

b) Along with six other LAs and in conjunction with the Avon and Somerset Police and 

the Police & Crime Commissioner we have successfully bid to the Home Office 

Innovation Fund to assist in the recruitment of two regional posts that will provide 

additional capacity to support the collation and sharing of key information and 

victim profiling. These posts will commence in June 2015 and are funded for two 

years. 

c) The engagement between the LSCB and schools requires improvement. We have 

recently recruited both a primary and secondary head teacher to join the LSCB 

and they will join in June 2015.

d) We welcome the current Ofsted focus on the quality of LSCBs and their role in 

challenging partner agencies to work more closely when addressing Safeguarding 

issues. However the emergence of CSE and “Missing from Home/Care” as 

key areas of strategic and practice development bring with them considerable 

expectations and at present there appears to be little recognition that the 

investment in the development of responses to these issues will bear a significant 

cost, or divert resources away from other priorities.

e)  Governance arrangements and further alignment of the Childrens Trust Board, 

Health and Wellbeing Board and the Local Safeguarding Adults Board. 

Section 3: Updates on the Legislative and Statutory 

Framework during 2014 - 15

3.1  Appendix 1 lists the relevant and most significant Acts, guidance and reports provided 

by Ofsted, Department of Health (DH) and the Department for Education (DfE) that 

shape our work in safeguarding children and young people. Section 3 sets out new 

guidance and reports published during the reporting period.

3.2  The Children and Families Act 2014 received royal assent in March 2014. Although 

published just before this reporting period, it is relevant to note as it introduced new 

arrangements that came into force during 2014 and into 2015. Significant changes 

include: 

s฀ #HILD฀!RRANGEMENTS฀/RDERS฀�WHICH฀AMENDED฀SECTION฀�฀OF฀THE฀#HILDREN฀!CT฀����	�฀
replacing Contact and Residence Orders. The Court can decide whom the child 

is to live and spend time or have contact with and when this will take place. The 

residency element can be in place until a child reaches 18 years; the contact 

aspects (with whom) ceases to have effect when the child reaches 16 years unless 

the court says otherwise.

s฀ %NABLING฀CHILDREN฀AND฀YOUNG฀PEOPLE฀TO฀STAY฀WITH฀FOSTER฀CARERS฀IF฀THEY฀WISH฀UNTIL฀��฀
years.

s฀ 4HE฀EXTENSION฀OF฀SUPPORT฀UNTIL฀THE฀AGE฀OF฀��฀FOR฀CHILDREN฀WITH฀SPECIAL฀EDUCATIONAL฀
needs and disabilities (SEND).

s฀ 4HE฀REQUIREMENT฀FOR฀#OURT฀PROCEEDINGS฀FOR฀CARE฀AND฀SUPERVISION฀APPLICATIONS฀TO฀BE฀
completed within 26 weeks.

 DfE produced a Young Persons Guide to the Children and Families Act 2014 in 

September 2014.

Page 20



13

3.3  Public Law Outline: Guide to Case Management in Public Law Proceedings came 

into effect on 22nd April 2014. It sets out streamlined case management procedures for 

dealing with public law children’s cases and the aim is to identify and focus on the key 

issues for the child; making the best decisions for the child within the timetable set by 

the Court and avoiding the need for unnecessary evidence or hearings. It sets out the 

requirement to complete cases within 26 weeks. 

3.4  The statutory inspection and regulatory framework changed during the period and the 

following was introduced - Framework and evaluation schedule for the inspections of 

services for children in need of help and protection, children looked after and care 

leavers. Reviews of Local Safeguarding Children Boards (Ofsted June 2014, various 

amendments made through-out the year). This document sets out the current single 

inspection framework. Inspections are conducted under section 136 of the Education 

and Inspection Act 2006 and focus on the effectiveness of local authority services 

and arrangements for child protection, children that are ‘looked after’ and care leavers 

including permanency.

3.5  What local authorities need to do to place a child under 13 in a secure children’s 

home, and guidance on when it is appropriate to do so (DfE February 2015) sets out 

step by step guidance about how to make such a placement and the criteria that need to 

be met. 

3.6 Young Carers’ (Needs Assessment) Regulations (March 2015) came into force on 

the 1st April 2015 and sets out what needs should be considered and the skills and 

experience of the person carrying out the assessment.

3.7  Working Together to Safeguard Children: a guide to inter-agency working to 

safeguard and promote the welfare of children March 2015 – replaces the 2013 

statutory guidance and sets out,

 ‘…the legislative requirements and expectations on individual services to 

safeguard and promote the welfare of children; and 

 a clear framework for Local Safeguarding Children Boards (LSCBs) to monitor the 

effectiveness of local services.’ (p6)

 Early help has been emphasised in the guidance and LSCBs are encouraged to 

monitor training and ensure this is included. The guidance focuses on awareness 

raising, involvement of universal services, assessments and lead professional and 

commissioning responsibilities.

 The guidance makes reference to the new Young Carers’ (Needs Assessment) 

Regulations 2015 which requires local authorities to look at the needs of the whole 

family when carrying out a young carer’s needs assessment (p17).  It also refers to the 

Local Authority’s new duty to establish Channel panels (from 12th April 2015) as part of 

the Counter-Terrorism and Security Act 2015 and in response to children (not least the 

recent case of three teenage girls from Bristol) being radicalised.

 On page 22 of the guidance the assessment framework has been retained along with 

the focus on outcomes and timeliness, with assessments needing to be completed in 

no longer than 45 days. The CP process is also the same with the minimum requirement 

for Police, Health and Social Care to be involved in strategy discussions, for the initial 

case conference to take place within 15 working days, develop the CP plan, the core 

group to meet within 10 working days of the conference and the review conference to be 

convened within three months. 

Page 21



14

 The document makes reference to the principles set out in Freedom to Speak Up report 

written by Francis (February 2015) and about the need to ensure cultures of openness 

and learning.

 There is a new requirement for ‘new to post’ designated officers in the local authority 

coordinating allegations against staff or volunteers working with children and young 

people to be qualified social workers (p54). The term LADO is no longer specified. 

 The publication clarifies notifiable incidents involving the care of a child and defines 

‘serious harm’ for the first time. 

 ‘“Seriously harmed” …includes, but is not limited to, cases where the child has 

sustained, as a result of abuse or neglect, any or all of the following: 

฀ s฀A฀POTENTIALLY฀LIFE
THREATENING฀INJURY�฀

฀ s฀SERIOUS฀AND�OR฀LIKELY฀LONG
TERM฀IMPAIRMENT฀OF฀PHYSICAL฀OR฀MENTAL฀HEALTH฀OR฀
physical, intellectual, emotional, social or behavioural development. 

 This definition is not exhaustive. In addition, even if a child recovers, this does not 

mean that serious harm cannot have occurred. LSCBs should ensure that their 

considerations on whether serious harm has occurred are informed by available 

research evidence.’ (p76)

3.8 Young Person’s Guide to Working Together to Safeguard Children (March 2015) 

sponsored by DfE but produced by the Office of the Children’s Rights Commissioner is a 

new guide for children and young people.

3.9  Keeping children safe in education: schools and colleges (March 2015) and Keeping 

children safe in education: schools and colleges for staff (Part 1) (March 2015) 

replaces 2014 guidance and sets out what schools and colleges must do to safeguard 

and promote the welfare of children and young people under the age of 18.

3.10  Information Sharing: advice for practitioners providing safeguarding services 

to vulnerable children, young people, parents and carers (March 2015) replaces 

previous guidance from 2008.  New advice setting out the legal and professional 

guidance on information sharing and is intended to: 

 ‘…support  frontline practitioners, working in child or adult services, who have to 

make decisions about sharing personal information on a case by case basis.6 

The advice includes the seven golden rules for sharing information effectively 

and can be used to supplement local guidance and encourage good practice in 

information sharing. ‘ (Working Together to Safeguard Children 2015 p13)

3.11  Promoting the health and well-being of looked-after children: Statutory guidance 

for local authorities, clinical commissioning groups and NHS England (March 2015) 

published by DfE and DH sets out what each agency must do when supporting looked-

after children. New arrangements are set out.

3.12  Modern Slavery Act 2015 was passed in March. The Act applies to children and adults 

and sets out the circumstances in which it applies (including trafficking) and the range 

of responses and penalties. This issue has been on the political agenda for some time 

and the Government raised awareness and focus during the nationwide campaign it 

launched in July 2014. 

Page 22



15

Section 4: Non-statutory Guidance and Reports Which 

Influence and Inform Safeguarding Arrangements

4.1  The section outlines a number of non-statutory guidance reports published during the 

period to help practitioners, commissioners and LSCBs. It is not an exhaustive list. The 

LSCB await the outcome of the Government announcement in July 2014 regarding the 

Independent Inquiry into Child Sexual Abuse in England and Wales. 

4.2  Female genital mutilation: multi-agency practical guidelines (DfE and Home Office 

July 2014 revised from 2011) – provides guidelines to support frontline staff including 

teachers, health and social care professionals and the Police in safeguarding children 

and adults from the abuse associated with this. This document along with those listed 

below is part of the Governments declaration on FGM.

4.3  Estimating the Cost of Child Sexual Abuse in the UK written by Aliya Saied-Tessier 

and published by the NSPCC in July 2014 reports the cost and impact of child sexual 

abuse.

4.4  Independent Inquiry into Child Sexual Exploitation in Rotherham 1997 - 2013 

written by Alexis Jay OBE was published in August 2014. The Inquiry estimated that 

approximately 1400 children were sexually exploited over the Inquiry period and in just 

over a third of the cases the children were previously known to services because of CP 

and neglect issues. The report described the 

 ‘…appalling nature of the abuse that child victims suffered. They were raped by 

multiple perpetrators, trafficked…abducted, beaten and intimidated….doused in 

petrol and threatened with being set alight, threatened with guns…Girls as young 

as 11 were raped by large numbers of male perpetrators.’ (p1)

 The Inquiry sets out the failings of the Police, Council, Councillors and other agencies 

to respond to information, which it describes as clear in its description of the situation 

in Rotherham. It highlights that the Safeguarding Childrens Board was weak as it rarely 

checked whether strategies, policies and procedures had been implemented and were 

working. Jay made 15 recommendations for improvement.

4.5  The Thematic Inspection of The Sexual Exploitation of Children: It Couldn’t Happen 

Here, Could It? (Ofsted November  2014)

 ‘The report draws on evidence from inspection and case examination in eight 

local authorities and from the views of children and young people, parents, carers, 

practitioners and managers. In addition, themes from the aligned inspections of 36 

children’s homes and the collation of findings from the 33 published inspections 

of services for children in need of help and protection, children looked after and 

care leavers and reviews of Local Safeguarding Children Boards contributed to the 

findings.’ (P1)

 It sets out a number of recommendations for LSCBs, Services and practitioners on how 

to improve the response.

4.6  Safeguarding Pressures Phase 4 (November 2014) was published by the Association 

of Directors of Children’s Services.  This report sets out the current national position 

regarding safeguarding children showing an increase in child protection referrals but a 

decrease in the ‘revolving door’. 

4.7  Serious Case Review into Child Sexual Exploitation in Oxfordshire: from the 
Page 23



16

experiences of Children A, B, C, D, E, and F (Oxfordshire Safeguarding Children Board 

February 2015). This SCR report followed Operation Bullfinch. The SCR findings are that 

there was a lack of understanding of CSE. The review report identified approximately 330 

victims and makes national and local recommendations.

4.8  What to do if you’re worried a child is being abused: advice for practitioners (DfE 

March 2015) is a non-statutory advice document which sets out the different types of 

abuse and neglect. It helps practitioners recognise the types, explains what to do and 

what will potentially happen. It replaces the previous version of What to do if you’re 

worried a child is being abused, published in 2006, and complements Working 

Together to Safeguard Children (March 2015) statutory guidance.

4.9  Commissioning services to support women and girls with female genital mutilation 

(DH March 2015) sets out what to consider in relation to FGM, the multi-agency response 

and what to commission in terms of effective support services. This document was 

published at the same time as Female Genital Mutilation Risk and Safeguarding 

Guidance for Professionals. The latter document replaces previous guidance.

4.10  Deaf and Disabled Children Talking About Child Protection written by Julie Taylor, 

Audrey Cameron, Christine Jones, Anita Franklin, Kirsten Stalker, Deborah Fry from 

the University of Edinburgh and published by the NSPCC in March 2015 sets out the 

findings from 10 in-depth interviews of children and young people who are deaf and 

disabled and their experience of child protection.

Section 5: Significant Local Events and Response

5.1 There have been two unexpected child deaths during the period which have tested the 

effectiveness of partnership working and multi-agency processes. For both deaths the 

Critical Incident Protocol was invoked and the Child Death Overview Panel has been 

informed in accordance with Working Together to Safeguard Children 2013. 

s฀ )N฀THE฀CASE฀OF฀THE฀SECONDARY฀SCHOOL฀AGED฀BOY฀WHO฀DIED฀IN฀.OVEMBER฀����฀THE฀
Serious Case Review sub-group considered whether a Serious Case Review 

(SCR) was required however following an initial review it was agreed by the LSCB 

Independent Chair that the situation did not meet the criteria. 

s฀ )N฀&EBRUARY฀����฀THERE฀WAS฀THE฀UNEXPECTED฀DEATH฀OF฀A฀FOUR฀YEAR฀OLD฀CHILD฀AND฀
three adults following a tipper truck driver losing control of the vehicle. The incident 

is subject to a police investigation and the outcome is expected later in the 

year. Multi-agency partners provided swift support to the family, school and the 

community due to the wider impact of this traumatic event. The LSCB particularly 

want to commend the Weston All Saints Church of England Primary School and 

Snapdragons Nursery for their handling of the situation. The circumstances 

surrounding the death did not meet the criteria for a SCR however the partners 

have agreed to look at how the incident was managed to ensure any improvements 

can be identified. The outcome of this will be noted in the next report.

Page 24



17

Section 6: The Interface with Other Boards and 

Committees

6.1  The work of the LSCB is complementary to and coordinated alongside those of other 

bodies within the responsibility of B&NES Council including the following:

s฀ #HILDREN�S฀4RUST฀"OARD

s฀ (EALTH฀AND฀7ELLBEING฀"OARD

s฀ ,OCAL฀3AFEGUARDING฀!DULTS฀"OARD

s฀ 2ESPONSIBLE฀!UTHORITIES฀'ROUP฀�#OMMUNITY฀3AFETY฀0ARTNERSHIP	

 In addition to this the LSCB and Council present papers to the Councils Early Years, 

Children and Young People Scrutiny Panel.

6.2  The Children’s Trust Board (CTB) is responsible for delivering outcomes for children 

and young people as outlined in the Children and Young People’s Plan 2014 - 2017 

(www.bathnes.gov.uk/cypp)

 As part of their complementary work to drive improvements in the safeguarding of 

children and young people, the LSCB issued a set of ten challenges to the CTB for 2014-

2015, including: 

s฀ 4O฀IDENTIFY฀%ARLY฀(ELP฀PRIORITIES฀AND฀LAUNCH฀OF฀THE฀%ARLY฀(ELP฀3TRATEGY�

s฀ 4HE฀PROVISION฀OF฀APPROPRIATE฀PARENTING฀SUPPORT�฀INCLUDING฀BUT฀NOT฀LIMITED฀TO฀THAT฀
offered through the Connecting Families Service;

s฀ 4HE฀EFFECTIVE฀CO
ORDINATION฀OF฀PLANNING฀FOR฀THE฀SAFEGUARDING฀OF฀VULNERABLE฀
individuals, particularly at times of transition, including the transition from 

childhood to adulthood;

s฀ %VIDENCING฀PROGRESS฀IN฀REDUCING฀THE฀INEQUALITY฀IN฀LIFE฀CHANCES฀OF฀MORE฀VULNERABLE฀
groups of children;

s฀ 4O฀FURTHER฀DEVELOP฀THE฀POSITIVE฀WELLBEING฀AND฀RESILIENCE฀OF฀CHILDREN฀AND฀YOUNG฀
people so that they recognise, value and meet their physical, emotional health and 

wellbeing needs.

 The CTB has been able to evidence progress on all of the challenges. Most are ongoing 

priorities which will continue to be reviewed as part of the mutual challenge process 

between the two boards.

6.3  The LSCB works in partnership with the Health and Wellbeing Board and Local 

Safeguarding Adults Board (LSAB) to make sure that vulnerable children, young people 

and adults at risk of harm are protected and kept safe.  

 Both the LSCB and LSAB share their annual reports and business plans with the 

Health and Wellbeing Board. There is also shared membership amongst the Boards 

which ensures a joint and seamless approach to delivering health and wellbeing and 

safeguarding priorities.

 The current Health and Wellbeing Strategy is being refreshed and will be published later 

this year and the LSCB is seeking to influence this. The existing strategy is available here 

- http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/neighbourhoods-and-community-safety/working-

partnership/health-and-wellbeing-boardPage 25



18

6.4  The LSCB has continued during the year to develop and strengthen its relationship with 

the Local Safeguarding Adults Board (LSAB), please see http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/

services/adult-social-care-and-health/safeguarding-adults-risk-abuse

 The Independent Chairs of the LSCB and LSAB have met regularly throughout the year 

and in December 2014 presented a scoping paper to each Board which moves the 

collaboration further. The paper set out the following:

 x฀TO฀PROPOSE฀THE฀IMPLEMENTATION฀OF฀A฀NUMBER฀OF฀OPPORTUNITIES฀FOR฀JOINT฀WORKING฀
between the Bath and North East Somerset (B&NES) Local Safeguarding Children 

and Adults Boards. During the early months of 2014, the Independent Chairs of 

both Boards have met on several occasions to identify these opportunities and 

subsequently, a framework for future working has been shared with Sub Group 

Chairs and Business Managers who have suggested several refinements. 

 (Reg Pengelly and Robin Cowen, December 2014)

 The areas identified and approved for collaboration included:

s฀ #OMMUNICATIONS

s฀ 1UALITY฀!SSURANCE

s฀ 4RAINING

s฀ 0OLICIES฀AND฀0ROCEDURES

s฀ %XCHANGING฀)NFORMATION

 The LSCB at its Development Day in February 2015 started to develop shared vision and 

values in preparation for its joint development session planned with the LSAB in April 

2015 (this will be reported in the 2015-16 Annual Report). 

 The LSAB continues to receive routine updates on the work of the LSCB as a standing 

item on its agenda and hears reports on the progress of the Multi-agency Information 

Sharing Hub project. The scope of this has been approved by both Boards and the 

Responsible Authorities Group and includes developing an information sharing hub 

for low and moderate safeguarding and domestic abuse concerns for children, young 

people and adults.

 Of significant note is that in October 2014 the LSAB interviewed and approved the 

appointment of Reg Pengelly to become the LSAB Independent Chair in June 2015. 

Having the same Chair for both Boards will facilitate the development of the shared 

agenda.

6.5 Links between safeguarding, community safety (overseen by the Responsible 

Authorities Group) and the Council’s wider preventative agenda have again been 

strengthened this year. The work of the RAG can be found here -  http://www.bathnes.

gov.uk/services/neighbourhoods-and-community-safety/crime-prevention-and-

community-safety

 The Council’s Head of Safeguarding and Quality Assurance and the Divisional Director 

for Children’s Specialist Services have played a key role in this through attendance at the 

RAG Group (Community Safety Partnership) and impacts on working groups such as the 

Interpersonal Violence and Abuse Strategic Partnership (IVASP) and its sub-groups; the 

Partnership Against Hate Crime (PAHC); the MARAC Steering Group; and the Prevent 

Steering Group. 

 These relationships have built on existing projects and have developed more integrated 

Page 26



19

and effective services. Service redesign workshops have mapped the process of 

tackling domestic abuse, with a view to ensuring more focused services for victims.  Our 

Public Services Board received a Draft Business Case based on this work which focuses 

on earlier intervention and better data sharing. This has led to the following:

s฀ 4HE฀COMMISSIONING฀AND฀DELIVERY฀OF฀THE฀h)2)3v฀PROGRAMME฀TO฀CREATE฀A฀CLEAR฀REFERRAL฀
pathway for domestic violence for GP surgeries. Initial costs have been jointly 

funded by the Police and Crime Commissioner and Clinical Commissioning Group.  

s฀ *OINT฀WORKING฀ON฀THE฀-ULTI
AGENCY฀)NFORMATION฀3HARING฀(UB฀�-)3(	฀PROJECT฀TO฀
explore new ways of working, and information sharing, drawing on the experience 

of the Information Sharing Centre of Excellence. Our Community Safety Partnership 

has received regular updates on the work of this project and is represented on the 

MISH Project Board.

s฀ 7IDENING฀OF฀THE฀)NDEPENDENT฀$OMESTIC฀6IOLENCE฀!DVISOR฀�)$6!	฀ROLES฀TO฀INCLUDE฀
“medium” and “low” risk victims and exploring co-location of IDVAs with Avon and 

Somerset Constabulary and Curo Group.

 Of particular note over the past year has been the role of the RAG in identifying key 

emerging issues and ensuring that systems and processes are in place for delivery. As 

well as being kept updated on our CSE Strategy, the RAG has received a report from the 

Anti-Slavery Partnership. B&NES has actively participated in the work of this Partnership, 

shaping both future direction and operational projects such as problem-profiling. 

The RAG has also worked with a wide range of Council services to highlight the new 

statutory duty relating to Prevent. As a result, a “smart” approach to engagement with 

key professionals on this agenda has been adopted. Opportunities for sharing training 

and development on this and related agendas across partners and with neighbouring 

partnerships have also been explored.

 In relation to the wider Health and Wellbeing agenda, the Health and Wellbeing Board 

established a task-and-finish group to further progress its priority relating to loneliness 

and isolation. The Campaign to End Loneliness has awarded B&NES its “Gold” standard 

for this theme and the Village Agents project and now operates in 20 parishes and 

undertakes “Roadshows” at local village halls as well as home visits. The task-and-finish 

group involves health and social care commissioners as well as local groups and is 

considering how best to further develop this work including use of new technology and 

local volunteering.

6.6  Presentations made to Early Years Children and Young People Scrutiny Panel: 

safeguarding issues have been regularly scrutinised by the panel during 2014 - 15. 

Over the past year officers have needed to present reports to members on the following 

Safeguarding issues:

s฀ 5PDATE฀OF฀THE฀RE
STRUCTURING฀OF฀#HILDREN�S฀#ENTRES฀AND฀%ARLY฀9EARS฀SERVICES฀�!PRIL฀
14 and June 14) 

s฀ 5PDATE฀ON฀#HILDREN฀IN฀#ARE฀�*UNE฀��	฀

s฀ 5PDATE฀ON฀PROGRESS฀WITH฀#HILD฀3EXUAL฀%XPLOITATION฀3TRATEGY฀AND฀LOCAL฀ACTION฀PLAN฀
(November 14 and March 15), 

s฀ 4HE฀REGIONAL฀0EER฀#HALLENGE฀PROCESS฀�*ANUARY฀��	

s฀ 3AFEGUARDING฀AND฀3CHOOLS฀n฀OUTLINING฀THE฀WORK฀THAT฀IS฀TAKING฀PLACE฀ACROSS฀THE฀AREA฀
(January 15)

Page 27



20

Section 7: Governance and Accountability 

7.1  B&NES LSCB is a statutory body established under the Children Act 2004 (Section 

13) and the Local Safeguarding Children Board Regulations 2006. It is independently 

chaired and consists of senior representatives of all the principle stakeholders 

working together to safeguard children and young people across the area. The Terms 

of Reference are set out in Appendix 2 and are due for review in 2015 – 16. The 

membership for the LSCB and sub-groups during 2014 - 15 is set out in Appendix 3.

7.2  B&NES Council is responsible for establishing the LSCB; the LSCB Independent Chair 

meets the Chief Executive of the Council on a quarterly basis to discuss the work of the 

Board and to raise any concerns on the Board’s behalf. The Strategic Director for People 

and Communities along with the Lead Member for Children & Young People are the key 

points of professional and political accountability and are joint responsibility for ensuring 

the effectiveness of the Board and are members. 

7.3 The Board’s statutory objectives as set out in the Children Act 2004 (Section 14) are:

a)  To co-ordinate what is done by each person or body represented on the Board for 

the purposes of safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children in the area; 

b)  To ensure the effectiveness of what is done by each person or body for those 

purposes. 

7.4  The functions in relation to the above objectives are described in Regulation 5 of the 

Local Safeguarding Board Regulations 2006, set out in Appendix 4

  http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2006/90/contents/made

7.5  The LSCB structure is set out below and the work of the sub-groups is articulated in 

Section 8 of the report.

7.6  The LSCB have not undertaken any SCRs during the period; however the Chair has 

considered recommendations from the SCR sub-group for two cases it believed did not 

meet the SCR criteria.

Page 28



21

7.7  In line with the statutory requirement, the LSCB has in place a Learning and 

Improvement Framework. This framework is intended to facilitate how the learning 

from reviews takes place and is embedded into practice which in turn should lead to 

improved outcomes for children and young people. 

7.8  During the period covered by this report, the LSCB was fortunate to have two very 

able and committed lay members, each with a unique and valuable perspective 

on safeguarding children. Their work positively influenced decisions of the Board. 

Membership as a Lay Member is a significant commitment and regrettably owing to 

changes in personal circumstances both were obliged to resign during the course of 

2014. The Board is in the process of recruiting new lay members at the time of this report 

with interviews scheduled in early May 2015. 

7.9  The LSCB budget is monitored throughout the year and presented in the Annual Report 

in Appendix 5. The allocation of the budget was reviewed in September 2014; this 

revision was implemented in January 2015. 

Section 8: LSCB Sub Group Achievements and Priorities

8.1  The LSCB has six sub-groups as set out in section 7.5 above. The Terms of Reference 

for each of the sub-groups is available on the LSCB web page; see http://www.bathnes.

gov.uk/services/children-young-people-and-families/child-protection/local-safeguarding-

children-board . Each sub group reports progress on the Board’s Business Plan on a 

quarterly basis and contributes to the Chair’s Agenda Setting meeting. Each sub-group 

has a duty to challenge practice within the partnership where it identifies issues of 

concern. 

Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) and Missing sub-group

The CSE and Missing sub-group was established in June 2014 and was tasked with drafting 

a CSE Strategy and Protocol on behalf of the LSCB. Since this time the sub-group has met 

on eight occasions to drive forward the work. The CSE Strategy was brought to the Board 

in September 2014 for sign-off.  The LSCB Missing from Home and Care Protocol was also 

presented and agreed at the same Board meeting. The sub-group has good multi-agency 

attendance and includes GP and schools representation as well as other key partners. 

Key achievements 

a)  The drafting of the B&NES CSE Strategy, which was launched at a multi-agency 

event in early November 14. Please see http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/

files/sitedocuments/Children-and-Young-People/ChildProtection/final_banes_cse_

strategy.pdf 

b)  The sub-group has also drafted and distributed the CSE Protocol and workflow 

documents (January 2015) as well as drawing up and agreeing an Action Plan for 

the sub-group that covers the next 18 months

c)  The sub-group has played a key role in the development and setting up of the 

‘Willow Project’, a multi-agency group of practitioners who have key skills in 

engaging with young people at risk of CSE and Missing. These workers will be 

assigned to work with young people identified as being at risk of CSE as well 

undertaking ‘Return Home’ interviews

d)  The sub-group has also been instrumental in re-focusing the previous Risk 

Management Panel into the CSE MARAC which should ensure a sharper focus 
Page 29



22

on CSE and Missing cases and allow for the co-ordination of resources and 

interventions   

Outcomes – What difference have achievements made in relation to outcomes?

a)  The work of the sub-group on re-launching the CSE MARAC and defining its Terms 

of Reference has enabled the collation of accurate data on CSE referrals and data 

on Missing children

b)  Commissioning arrangements with Barnardos have enabled swift referrals for 

therapeutic interventions for vulnerable young people

c) The launch of the ‘Willow Project’ is ensuring that young people are being seen 

promptly when they have been missing and we are beginning to engage with 

young people at risk of CSE to establish meaningful relationships and provide 

support

Challenges Faced in Delivering the Agenda

a) The key challenge in this area of work over the coming year will be to ensure that 

the progress that we have made over the previous 12 months and the protocols 

that we have put into place continue to take root within the practice of all agencies

b) One key element in this process of embedding awareness of CSE in all of our 

practice will be the accurate recognition and identification of what constitutes a 

concern in this area and who to contact in regard to this

Priorities for CSE and Missing sub-group

a) Further recruitment to the pool of workers for the ‘Willow Project’, and to review the 

effectiveness of interventions

b) To re-launch the CSE Protocol, following some amendments and additions to the 

workflow of referrals

c) Continued training for all agencies and newly recruited staff

d) Strengthen the strategic links with key partners and initiatives such as Schools, 

and with the Sexual Health agenda

e) Deliver the action plan

Professional Practice Group (PPG)

The PPG is a quality assurance group; it meets nine times a year and audits the records of 

at least four children at each meeting.  PPG has looked at the functioning of child protection 

conferences as well as focussing on the following themes:

a) Cases that moved between Early Help and Social Care 

b) Disabled children in Safeguarding processes  

c) Voice of the Child in Safeguarding processes 

Key achievements

PPG saw good progress in the following areas:

a) Cases that moved between Early Help and Children’s Specialist Services showed 

good use of step up processes from Common Assessment Framework when 

concerns about a child’s safety increased
Page 30



23

b) Voice of the Child in safeguarding processes.  PPG looked at this twice during the 

year and saw good improvements, particularly  increased use of advocacy in child 

protection conferences, better use of observations of young children to understand 

what their lives are like and recognition of children as individuals as well as being 

part of a sibling group

Outcomes – What difference have achievements made in relation to outcomes?

PPG has seen ongoing improvements in the way that Child Protection Conferences work.  

Social Work and other agency reports have improved

Listening to and responding to the voice of the child has a crucial impact on the safety of 

children in child protection processes.  The improvements that PPG has seen will support 

these improvements

Challenges faced in delivering the agenda

a) Ensuring full engagement from all schools in B&NES in child protection processes

b) Ensuring full participation from GPs in child protection processes

c) Recognising that some families make positive improvements for their children but 

then support ends without confidence that those changes will be sustained.  There 

is a need for community based, lower level but ongoing support

Priorities for Professional Practice Group

a) Ensuring the correct category of abuse is used in child protection conferences

b) Oversight of responses to young people affected by child sexual exploitation

c) Auditing themes from LSCB Business Programme

Communications sub-group

The Communications sub-group was set up in March 2014 to ensure that key messages 

that needed to reach staff of all partner agencies were disseminated effectively and in a co-

ordinated manner, preventing repetition and duplication. Since this time, the group has met 

regularly and has produced a number of documents and guidance for staff across the LSCB.   

Key achievements

a) The sub group has drafted and agreed a Terms of Reference which sets out key 

tasks and goals

b) It has commissioned the design of the new LSCB logo

c) The group has drafted and disseminated the ‘10 things’ document that sets out in 

an easy to read format what the LSCB does on behalf of partner agencies

d) We have also adapted the ‘10 things’ document into a handy book-mark that will 

be distributed to staff

e) The group has begun the process of developing a new web-site that will be easier 

to access and will link with the B&NES LSAB. This should be concluded towards 

the end of 2015 

Outcomes – What difference have achievements made in relation to outcomes?

a) The group has produced the LSCB Members hand-book that forms part of the 

induction pack/process for all new members of the LSCB
Page 31



24

b) The distribution of the book-marks promotes the awareness of the role and function 

of the LSCB

Challenges in Delivering the Agenda

With the prospect of closer working relationships with the LSAB it will be vital that the LSCB 

Communications group links closely with its counterpart in the adult world to ensure that where 

possible key messages are delivered with one voice and at the same time.

Priorities for Communications sub-group

a) The completion and launch of the new web-site

b) Improved engagement and links with the B&NES ‘e-teams’ (groups of young 

people that have a focus on equalities issues) who can work with the group to 

ensure that the materials we produce are written clearly and make sense to young 

people

c) To strengthen the links with the Communications group of the LSAB to ensure 

key messages about safeguarding, such as the ‘Think Family’ approach are 

communicated jointly and with maximum impact

d) Dissemination of Working Together 2015 to all agencies and children and young 

people where relevant 

Training and Workforce Development sub-group

This sub-group is responsible for ensuring that single agency and inter agency training on 

safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children is provided in order to meet local needs. 

The group will also examine safeguarding workforce development issues across agencies.

Key Achievements

a) Substantial inter-agency training programme offered to the workforce, responding 

to local need and national and local agenda

! 59 Inter-agency training courses offered

! 1161 inter-agency training places made available

! 1028 inter-agency training places filled

! 1199 days of inter-agency training attended

! 781 professionals trained

b) A 3 year training strategy has been produced to provide a strategic and dynamic 

framework for training and development and this has been adopted by LSCB.   

The strategy includes a framework for members of LSCB to identify gaps in 

workforce knowledge and skills and to propose new training to address these gaps 

and also includes the learning outcomes expected in single agency training 

c) The sub group is responsible for evaluating the training which it provides in order 

to ensure that it meets the LSCB’s statutory duties and to respond to national and 

local issues.   All inter-agency courses advertise the learning outcomes and pre 

and post scales are used to measure confidence (see Appendix 6)

Outcomes – What difference have achievements made in relation to outcomes?

a) The strategy provides a robust framework for how we ensure that the workforce is 

provided with the relevant training to safeguard children and young people

b) Feedback from course attendance is used to inform future training

Page 32



25

Challenges faced in delivering the Agenda

a) Incomplete training needs analysis from section 11 

b) Issues around representation, continuity of attendance and capacity of sub group 

members to undertake tasks

Priorities for the Training and Workforce sub-group

a) Develop the quality assurance of single agency training & provide train the trainer 

training and support

b) Develop communication within LSCB and sub groups to ensure that training 

programme is informed by workforce issues and needs analysis

c) Develop processes to measure transfer of learning to be used by member 

organisations of LSCB

d) Develop standardised tool to evaluate competency

e) Further develop the potential of the electronic booking system, to provide data for 

deeper analysis

f) Explore alternative methods of teaching and learning

g) Contribute to the standardisation of domestic violence and abuse training across 

B&NES

h) Review terms of reference for sub group

i) Explore opportunities to work with LSAB training sub group to share and learn

Serious Case Review sub-group

The Serious Case Review sub group was set up in August 2013 and has met four times during 

the period. Terms of Reference were approved in June 2014. The group is responsible for:

a) Considering cases which may meet the threshold for a SCR

b) Overseeing reviews of cases which do not meet this threshold and ensuring a 

proportionate response is adopted whilst enabling lessons to be learned and 

shared 

c) Monitoring SCR or other review action plans

d) Linking with the Child Death Overview Panel as required

Key achievements

During the period the sub-group has:

a) Monitored the multi-agency SCR action plan and reported progress against this. 

The plan is now signed off with the exception of one item which the group is 

progressing

b) Monitored the single-agency SCR action plans to ensure agencies are delivering 

their improvement and lessons learned actions

c) Considered two SCR applications and recommended to the Chair that they do not 

meet the SCR threshold

d) Kept abreast of Operation Brook in Bristol
Page 33



26

e) Written the SCR process which was approved by the LSCB

Outcomes – What difference have achievements made in relation to outcomes?

a) Assurance to the LSCB that SCR actions have been progressed and changes 

made to service delivery

b) Assurance to the LSCB and partners that cases have been appropriately 

considered in terms of meeting the SCR threshold

Challenges in Delivering the Agenda

a) The group has had three different Chairs since it was established, this has affected 

the progress of the group; it has also had mixed attendance

b) One outstanding action from the SCR action plan remains; it was hoped this would 

be completed in February 2015 however further work is needed and the support of 

the Multi-agency Self Harm and Suicide group required before this is achievable

Priorities for Serious Case Review sub-group

a) Ensure the SCR final action is completed and signed off by the LSCB and Multi-

agency Self Harm and Suicide group

b) Three cases have been identified for review at the time of the report; the group will 

ensure the Learning and Development Framework is used to progress these 

c) Reinvigorate the group, review the Terms of Reference, develop a set agenda 

which includes partners identifying SCRs or other reviews for consideration

Policy, Procedure and Performance sub-group (PPPG) 

This sub-group has the responsibility for reviewing policies and procedures operated by LSCB 

and South West Child Protection Procedures and monitoring their effectiveness and ensuring 

agency compliance with them. The sub-group also develops and monitors performance 

indicators relevant to LSCB business focusing on analysing data that will inform improving 

performance.

Key achievements

a) Further developed data and performance reporting and scrutiny, to support the 

identification of children and young people who may be at risk of specific harm 

and to evidence the LSCB’s impact and pro-activity

b) The group now routinely reviews Police data alongside LA data, to ensure 

triangulation where appropriate

c)   Improved section 11 format and mechanisms, introduced themed audits

d) Approved a range of policies and procedures, including Learning and 

Improvement Framework, SCR Process, Missing from Home and Care Protocol, CP 

Conference Complaints Procedure, Unborn Baby Protocol, Managing Allegations 

Protocol, Forms for reports to CP conferences, CP policies for schools and 

community groups, Single Assessment Protocol

Outcomes – What difference have achievements made in relation to outcomes?

a) Ensured clearer arrangements for following up Missing Children and thereby 

Page 34



27

helped to ensure relevant risks are assessed and managed

b) Numbers of unborn babies on CP plans has increased, suggesting the protocol is 

being effective and that unborn babies at risk are better safeguarded

c) SCR Process followed when considering potential SCR cases – providing sound 

audit trail to demonstrate LSCB’s effective decision-making

d) Data challenge on CP Plan categories leading to audit and action plan which has, 

for example, improved the focus of CP plans by ensuring the appropriate category 

is used

Challenges faced in delivering the agenda

a) Availability of further data, e.g., workforce data, of suitable quality and timeliness to 

be of value

b) Capacity of sub-group members to undertake tasks

c) Section 11 audits – co-ordinating approach across multiple LAs

d) Section 11 audits – compliance of agencies in responding

Priorities for PPPG

a) Develop more systematic approach to review of policies and procedures and 

monitoring effectiveness/compliance

b) Development of workforce data/reporting

c) Exploration of joint working with equivalent LSAB sub-group(s) and opportunities to 

learn from them and/or share expertise and capacity

Section 9: Other Relevant Work and Achievements 

9.1  Engagement with Children and Young People: The Communications sub-group 

currently provides a link with the Young People’s Equalities Group (YPEG). Safeguarding 

is a standing item on their agenda for meetings. Its membership is wide ranging and 

includes young people who are care leavers, disabled, LGBT, CAMHS users, young 

carers, from Black and minority ethnic communities and / or representatives from School 

Equalities teams. The B&NES Strategic Participation Officer oversees this group and 

is also a member of the Communications sub-group.  This ensures young people’s 

views on safeguarding inform the work of the LSCB. Children and young people have 

been actively engaged with the recruitment of the Chair, lay members and the Business 

Manager roles. Two young people also spoke at the November 2014 stakeholder event. 

 In early 2014 the then Principal Social Worker undertook a significant piece of research 

which looked at the engagement and participation of Looked After children and young 

people in their reviews. The research highlighted a number of areas of good practice by 

Social Workers in terms of how they ensure the best possible engagement with young 

people in care. The research also highlighted areas for development such as direct work 

tools that Social Workers might use with young people to improve engagement even 

further. The findings were discussed at the June LSCB meeting and the paper was also 

published in a national journal. 

Page 35



28

9.2  Child Death Overview Panel (CDOP): throughout 2014 - 15 B&NES has held the Chair 

of the West of England CDOP. The number of child and infant deaths has dropped 

slightly in this calendar year, the first reduction for three years. Emerging themes from the 

monthly meetings have been:

s฀ 4HE฀NEED฀TO฀ENSURE฀GOOD฀INTERPRETING฀SUPPORT฀FOR฀FAMILIES฀DURING฀EMERGENCY฀
hospital admissions. This also reflects the growing diversity of families across the 

West of England. 

s฀ 4HE฀NEED฀TO฀CONTINUE฀TO฀PROVIDE฀FAMILIES฀WITH฀CLEAR฀ADVICE฀ABOUT฀THE฀DANGERS฀OF฀CO

sleeping with very young babies in bed. In particular, the dangers of this increase 

considerably when one or both parents has taken alcohol. This continues to be 

a significant and all too common theme in a proportion of child deaths that are 

brought to the panel. 

s฀ 4HERE฀IS฀ALSO฀AN฀EMERGING฀CORRELATION฀BETWEEN฀THE฀NUMBER฀OF฀FAMILIES฀IN฀POOR฀
housing accommodation, of migrant backgrounds and child deaths. A high and 

dis-proportionate number of the child deaths seen at the CDOP come from families 

in over-crowded, rented accommodation with poor heating. 

The LSCB is assured that all child deaths are reported as required.

The CDOP reports annually to the LSCB on its findings and actions taken as a result.

9.3  Private Fostering: this has been an area which the LSCB has sought to highlight and 

develop in 2014 - 15. We have produced new guidance and advertising materials for 

distribution to key establishments such as GP surgeries and nurseries.  These materials 

had been in need of a re-fresh and the profile of Private Fostering across the area has 

needed to be raised.  During this year the Strategic Director for People and Communities 

(holding the DCS role) has also written to all independent and Language Schools in the 

area to remind them of their responsibilities to self-report any arrangements that might 

constitute Private Fostering with ‘host’ families.  

9.4  Children Placed ‘At Distance’:  The LSCB has defined children placed ‘at distance’ to 

constitute those young people who are in foster placements or residential establishments 

that are more than 20 miles away from the B&NES boundary.  The March 2015 LSCB 

highlighted the needs of young people placed ‘at distance’ within its discussion of young 

people in special circumstances and used the opportunity to discuss and highlight the 

importance of good communication and the co-ordination of such support services as 

Health Visiting and CAMHS for many of these young people.  The LSCB also receives 

the Independent Reviewing Service’s Annual Report which identifies actions to ensure 

this cohort of children and young people are kept safe. Further supporting information is 

set out in section 11.

9.5  Connecting Families: the B&NES Troubled Families initiative (known as Connecting 

Families) completed the phase one targets in August 2014. This meant the targets for 

reaching 215 families were met 7 months early and confirmed the initiative as one of the 

best performing in the UK. As a consequence of this, the team was asked to become 

an ‘early adopter’ of the phase two initiative.  This has led to an increased focus on the 

impact of workless-ness and homelessness as issues that contribute to poor outcomes 

for young people and some interesting and potentially productive links with other parts of 

the Council and the voluntary sector.

9.6  The LSCB has had a number of guest speakers during the year including:

s฀ #!&#!33฀n฀SETTING฀OUT฀ITS฀WORK฀AND฀AREAS฀OF฀FOCUS

Page 36



29

s฀ 3OUTH฀7EST฀!MBULANCE฀4RUST฀n฀OUTLINING฀ITS฀COMMITMENT฀TO฀SAFEGUARDING฀AND฀THE฀
welfare of children

s฀ #OUNTER฀4ERRORISM฀)NTELLIGENCE฀5NIT฀n฀RAISING฀AWARENESS฀OF฀0REVENT

s฀ I(OP฀3ERVICE฀n฀REGARDING฀ITS฀SERVICE฀TO฀CHILDREN฀AND฀FAMILIES฀OF฀OFFENDERS

s฀ #!-(3฀RESEARCH฀INTO฀SUICIDE฀AND฀YOUNG฀PEOPLE

 Presentations have been informative and led to further actions such as considering 

how to raise awareness of the risks of low level ligatures, this is being discussed with the 

Suicide and Self Harm group and the scoping of a task and finish group to consider how 

B&NES can improve support to families of offenders

9.7  Since December 2014, the LSCB has allotted a significant portion of its meeting time to 

a more focused review of particular themes in safeguarding – Thematic Reviews. This 

allows for a more in – depth analysis and debate about the provision and coordination of 

services, more effective challenge between partner agencies and offers the potential to 

identify improvements.  

s฀ !T฀THE฀$ECEMBER฀MEETING฀WE฀EXAMINED฀THE฀MULTI฀n฀AGENCY฀CHILD฀PROTECTION฀
process and learned much about the categorisation of abuse, the work of 

conference chairs and the level of commitment to these important activities from 

professionals. It is clear that every member of the Board learned a great deal 

about the overall process as well as how they might improve upon the activities of 

their own agencies. 

s฀ !T฀THE฀-ARCH฀����฀MEETING�฀WE฀TOOK฀UP฀THE฀THEME฀OF฀CHILDREN฀WITH฀PARTICULAR฀CARE฀
needs such as those in the lawful care of the Local Authority, Foster Children and 

children subject to Private Fostering arrangements. We considered the particular 

risks pertaining to children placed outside of the Authority’s geographical remit 

and how these were managed. We also considered the means by which such 

children’s healthcare needs were met. 

9.8  The LSCB has received the annual reports from the Child Protection Chairs and the 

Independent Reviewing Service and identified a number of actions and priorities. These 

are monitored through the following years report. Some of the activity information is also 

presented later in the report.

9.9  The Local Authority Designated Officer reported on activity during 2013 - 14 and the 

first half of 2014 - 15 during this period as well. The full year 2014 - 15 report will be 

considered in June 2015. There has been a sharp increase in enquiries and referrals 

from 49 in the whole of 2013 - 14 to 44 for the six months from April to end of September 

2014. Police were involved in 11 cases during 2013 - 14. Physical abuse is the main 

category of allegation. A significant number of enquiries and referrals are from schools 

and the Deputy Safeguarding Lead (who undertakes the role of LADO) provides support 

and advice to LA schools, Academies and the independent education sector. The report 

highlights a lack of referrals from health care providers, the Acute Trust and Avon and 

Somerset Constabulary and the LADO has followed this up with the relevant agencies.

9.10  The analysis of the 2013 - 14 Section 11 Audits was presented to the LSCB in June 2014. 

The report highlighted that undertaking the audit generates a significant amount of work 

for agencies, therefore it was recommended to the LSCB that the next Section 11, for 

2014 - 15, should be a ‘mini’ audit focusing on four themes highlighted in the report as 

needing additional progress. These themes were identified as training, safer recruitment, 

CSE and Missing, and the voice of the child. The first themed audit ‘training’ was 

Page 37



30

circulated to members in Spring 2015. It was agreed that the next full Section 11 audit 

would be undertaken in 2016, in partnership with North Somerset, Somerset, Bristol and 

South Gloucestershire. This will allow for a more ‘joined up’ approach and for more work 

to be developed with our neighbouring authorities in relation to the Section 11 process. 

(This will be of particular benefit to agencies who work in a co-terminus capacity across 

those areas).

9.11  A school safeguarding audit was also undertaken in October 2014, initial feedback was 

reported to the Board in March 2015 and a full report is being presented in June 2015. 

Early analysis of the self assessments indicates that most schools are compliant with 

safeguarding requirements as detailed in Keeping Children Safe in Education (April 

2014) https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/keeping-children-safe-in-education.

However it is important that schools continue to: prioritise early interventions and follow 

through with the CAF process; make referrals to the Council; and prioritise multi-agency 

training for staff.

9.12  The Board has also monitored the way safeguarding is considered as part of the 

transition process from children’s to adult services. A number of actions have been 

identified and these are monitored. 

9.13  The LSCB has received regular update reports on the progress of the Multi-agency 

Information Sharing Hub (B&NES are scoping this model rather than a MASH). A 

multi-agency task and finish Board has been established and reports into the LSCB, 

LSAB, RAG and the overarching Programme Board which is coordinated by Avon and 

Somerset Constabulary.

9.14  The LSCB holds two Development Days every year. The purpose of these half–day 

events is to explore the mechanisms by which the Board undertakes its business and 

to identify improvements to our effectiveness. In 2014, the first Development Day was 

held in April. The purpose was to consider a proposal to redesign the way that our 

Board Meetings are conducted so that at each meeting, a significant proportion of time 

is focused on a particular theme relevant to delivery of the Board’s priorities. A number 

of important principles were agreed and the first of these themed LSCB meetings took 

place in December at which multi-agency child protection processes and outcomes 

were explored in some detail (as described above). At the October Development Day, 

members of the Board reviewed the mission, vision and values of the LSCB as well as 

opportunities for collaboration with the LSAB. Importantly, there was consensus over 

the need for defined agency commitment to the work of the Board and further work is 

underway to develop a process of formal agreement across all agencies. 

9.15  The LSCB identified a common theme for a number of member agencies who were 

having difficulties in accessing interpreting and translation services. Following work 

to ascertain the levels of demand across agencies, a tender process was undertaken 

to jointly commission a Translation, Interpretation and British Sign Language 

Interpretation Service for employees dealing with residents and workers in Bath & 

North East Somerset and a 3 year spot purchase framework contract was put in place 

in December 2014 with Language Empire Ltd on behalf of Bath & North East Somerset 

Council, NHS Bath & North East Somerset Clinical Commissioning Group, Royal United 

Hospital, Sirona Care & Health and Avon & Wiltshire Partnership Mental Health Trust.

9.16  Awareness in relation to safe restraint of young people: this is an issue that continues 

to be of high importance and one on which we must remain vigilant. During the course 

of 2014 - 15 there were a small number of incidents where young people’s behaviour 

became dangerous to themselves and those around them. These incidents were dealt 

with calmly and with the use of proportionate response. However it will be vital to ensure 
Page 38



31

that all staff at all levels have an understanding of how to deal with aggressive behaviour 

and have sufficient training with which to deal with this confidently.

9.17  The activity of the Youth Offending Team and the Youth Justice Board are reported to the 

LSCB on an annual basis.

Section 10: Local Arrangements

10.1  Local arrangements fulfil the requirements set out in Working Together to Safeguard 

Children 2013 and will be reviewed during 2015 - 16 in light of the 2015 update.

10.2  B&NES LSCB is one of the 13 members of the South West Safeguarding Child Protection 

Procedures group and uses these procedures to direct its safeguarding duties

 www.swcpp.org.uk

10.3  All multi-agency policies and procedures the LSCB approves are placed on the public 

website. We are aware that we need to ensure these are disseminated in a wide and 

timely way and are implemented and this will be an area of focus in the new business 

plan. We are mindful that poor oversight and assurance of implementation was a failing 

in the Rotherham Inquiry. 

10.4 The Council delivers its statutory duty through its Children’s Specialist Service and 

Children and Young People Strategy and Commissioning Service. The Child Protection 

Chairs and Independent Review Service sit within the commissioning side of the 

Directorate whilst operational teams such as the Children and Families Assessment 

and Intervention Team, who provide the first point of contact for anyone wishing to talk 

about a child or young person, sit within the Children’s Specialist Service area. If a child 

is disabled the Disabled Children Team located at the Royal United Hospital provides 

contact, referral and initial response services for the hospital and for disabled children. 

Page 39



32

Section 11: Summary of Activity in Relation to the 

Support and Interventions Provided for Children and 

Young People 

11.1  All partners have a responsibility to act when they identify that a child, young person and 

/ or their family needs support. The following diagram sets out changing needs and how 

the level of multi-agency support and assessments corresponds to this.

11.2  The information provided in this section of the Annual Report details the activity that has 

taken place during the reporting period to support children and young people identified 

in need. It starts with the offer of ‘early help’ and the Common Assessment Framework 

(CAF) (level 2 and 3 above); this is what we do collectively to prevent and reduce 

problems escalating and moves through Level 4, providing details on the number of 

children and young people we are supporting through child protection arrangements 

and the number of children the Local Authority brings into the care to protect and keep 

them safe. Note through-out this section percentages have been rounded to the nearest 

whole number.

11.3  Early Help - In order to meet its duty to safeguard and promote the welfare of children 

in need, as set out in the Childrens Act 1989, B&NES Council works closely with local 

agencies to ensure that help is offered at the earliest point where children and young 

people’s additional needs are emerging.  In many cases, the common assessment (CAF) 

is the multi-agency assessment tool which is used; 501 CAFs were completed in 2014 

- 15. There is a wide spread of agencies and services initiating common assessments 

across B&NES including health, early years services/setting and schools initiating the 

majority of assessments. There is also strong engagement from the voluntary sector and 

commissioned services.
Page 40



33

 Early help is also offered via family assessments completed by the Connecting Families 

team (Troubled Families initiative) and through Youth Connect ‘One’ assessments.  

11.4  Diagram 1: Number of Common Assessments (CAFs) by Year and Quarter

 

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

C
A

F
s 

Year by Quarter Period 

As indicated in the diagram above in the table below there has been a year on year increase in 

the number of assessments undertaken.

11.5  Table 1: CAFs undertaken 2011 - 15:

 Year CAFs undertaken % increase

 2011 - 12 163 n/a

 2012 - 13 360 121%

 2013 - 14 454 26%

 2014 - 15 501 10%

11.6  Overall, early years services, health visitors and schools continue to initiate the greatest 

numbers of common assessments, and there is a growing trend for jointly completed 

assessments giving a holistic view of a child’s strengths and needs. The need for 

parenting support, along with parental mental health needs which impact on children, 

feature most strongly as reasons for initiating the common assessment.

11.7  It remains a challenge to evidence the impact of assessment and subsequent planned 

intervention but from what has been returned to the Integrated Working Team, 69% of 

the information evidences improved outcomes. However educational outcomes feature 

strongly such as improved behaviour at school, improved attendance and punctuality, 

smooth transitions between stages or schools, and improved attainment.  Over the past 

two years we have seen a consistent figure of between 8 -10% of CAF’s appropriately 

progressing to a CIN or CP assessment by the Children’s services Duty team.   More 

tangible outcomes such as improved morning or bedtime routines have also been 

reported as positive outcomes.

11.8  It isn’t possible at the current time to compare the number of children we support through 

the CAF with other areas as this data is not collected by the DfE however ADCS are 

looking into this and are considering how they can collect and share it. Some data has 

already been shared between the ADCS but it is not for this period. Early help continues 

Page 41



34

to remain a focus with the development of the Multi-agency Early Help Strategy. 

11.9  Contacts and Referrals to B&NES Council Childrens Specialist Services – This Service is  

responsible for receiving and processing contacts when there is a concern about a child 

or young person. They assess the information according to the threshold matrix and 

decide whether the contact reaches the threshold for a referral into Childrens Specialist 

Services for action. The diagram below sets out the activity per month.

11.10  Diagram 2: Number of Contacts per Month 2013 – 15

11.11  It will be important to note the change in the total numbers of contacts that begins in 

April 2014, with an apparent drop in numbers of contacts. This results from changes 

in the manner in which contacts and referrals were being counted. Prior to this time 

any number of contacts from agencies in relation to the same incident were being 

counted separately, rather than as different information on the same incident. Whilst 

direct comparison between the different methods of counting  is difficult, work has been 

undertaken with Police colleagues to compare numbers of contacts and referrals over 

the period, and these have remained steady.  

Diagram 3: Number of Referrals per Month (contacts which progress to single assessment)

Page 42



35

11.12 The recording of referrals was also changed in April 2014. Prior to this date, new 

information or incidents on some already open cases were often being recorded as 

referrals. This was felt to be distorting figures and also creating considerable, additional 

work for the duty team. Therefore, from this date any new information on already open/ 

allocated cases was recorded straight to the file and passed to the allocated Social 

Worker. The two spikes in referrals seen in  July and then again in October could be 

linked with schools passing on information about young people prior to the school 

summer holidays, and then picking up on emerging issues once the schools had re-

started in the autumn.  The steady increase in the use of CAF’s and promotion of early 

help will also have impacted on the overall numbers of referrals.  Childrens Specialist 

Services and the Children and Young People Strategy and Commissioning team of 

the Council are monitoring this and have undertaken an audit of threshold in regard to 

section 47 enquiries this is being reported to the Policy, Procedures and Performance 

sub-group in May 2015. 

11.13 Data for the preceding year (2013/14) allows us to make a rough comparison on the 

numbers of referrals we undertake, in comparison with both statistical neighbours and 

the national average. In 2013 - 14, B&NES undertook 319.6 referrals per 10,000 of the 

population. The statistical neighbour figure is 422.5 per 10,000, and the national figure is 

573 per 10,000. 

11.14 During the period 64.5% of the referrals gave safeguarding concerns as the presenting 

issue. The diagram below described the % of referrals by presenting issue. 

Diagram 4: Percentage of Referrals by Presenting Issue

 This indicates that the community and partners are raising safeguarding concerns 

appropriately. This figure has been consistently at around this figure for the majority of 

2014-15, and does indicate that thresholds are understood by partners. Of note however 

is that just over 17% of records at the time of this information being provided is not 

available, however this problem was identified earlier in the year and since quarter 4 it 

has become a mandatory field. Quarter 4 data shows that just over 80% of presenting 

issues are recorded as safeguarding concerns.

11.15 Given the changes in the way in which contacts and referrals have been recorded the 

Policy, Procedures and Performance sub-group has been monitoring who has made 

referrals and compared this year’s information with last years. There has been a slight 

reduction in referrals from Schools, Avon and Somerset Constabulary, other Social 

Care teams, other education settings and the acute hospital which are consistent with 

Page 43



36

the decrease generally; however there has been a more marked reduction from family 

members and carers which again may be as a result of being engaged at an earlier 

stage through the CAF and from GPs. Conversely however there has been an increase 

in referrals from external social care agencies (none Council services) and from housing 

providers and primary care such as Health Visitors (albeit these were small) which is 

encouraging.

11.16 During the period Childrens Specialist Services has managed to reduce the percentage 

of cases that are re-referred within 12 months of closure. In 2013 - 14 this stood at 

24.6%. Over the past year, this has reduced to an average of 21.8%. A report from 

Ofsted setting out 2013 - 14 data identifies the re-referral rate as 23% nationally and our 

statistical neighbours is 22.3%. The re-referral rate will continue to be monitored carefully 

as this will be an important measure of the quality of our interventions with vulnerable 

families. 

11.17 Children in Need and Child Protection Interventions - the number of Children in Need 

(CIN) that are open to Children’s Specialist Services is between 480 and 550 at any one 

time.

 Compared to other Local authorities B&NES does appear to keep more CIN cases open 

during the initial months of intervention, than occurs with both our statistical neighbours 

and the national average. The percentage of CIN cases that are closed at the 0-3 month, 

3-6 month and 6-12 month period are significantly lower than our statistical neighbours 

and the national average. However, given the drop in our rate of re-referrals, CP numbers 

and children being accommodated, it possible to see a correlation between the quality 

of interventions, planning and duration of intervention and a reduction in re-emerging 

concerns.     

11.18 Strategy Discussions- the table below sets out the number of strategy discussions 

that were held during the year and the length of time before an Initial Child Protection 

Conference was convened. The South West Child Protection Procedures (and Working 

Together to Safeguarding Children 2015) state that the Conference should be convened 

within 15 working days of the strategy discussion taking place.

11.19 Table 2: Timescale from Strategy Discussion to Initial Child Protection Conference (2014 

- 15)

 Timescale          

 (working  0-7 8-15 16-22 23-30 31+    

 days) 

 Number          

 of ICPCs 6 97 23 0 11

 % of Total 4.4% 70.8% 16.8% 0% 8.0%

11.20 As the data indicates above 75.2% of cases were convened in accordance with the 

procedures however just under 25% weren’t. The Child Protection Chairs and the Duty 

and Assessment team routinely look at the reason for the delay. The most common 

reason for these delays is due to difficulties in obtaining information that is felt to be 

central to the decision making process. However there are also occasions when staff 

sickness or annual leave has also impacted on this process. As all section 47’s continue 

to have good management oversight the safety of children within an investigation is 

continually monitored and risk is continually assessed.

11.21 Initial Child Protection Conferences - there have been a total of 117 Initial Child 

Protection Conferences during 2014 – 15. This is a decrease from 164 in the previous 
Page 44



37

period; a 29% decrease. This trajectory is in line with the decrease in contacts and 

referrals however a threshold of section 47 audit has been undertaken in order to provide 

the assurance required to ensure cases are not being missed. 

11.22 Diagram 5: Rates of Children Subject to an Initial Child Protection Conference by Year, 

Statistical Neighbour and England Averages

 (Source: DfE information provided by Ofsted May 2015)

11.23 Diagram 6 below demonstrates that in B&NES there is a higher rate of section 47 

enquiries which lead to a conference than statistical neighbours or the England average. 

This provides the LSCB with assurance that once appropriate cases are being referred.

Diagram 6:  Percentage of initial child protection conferences held within 15 days of the start  

  of the section 47 enquiries which led to a conference

  (Source: DfE information provided by Ofsted May 2015)

11.24 Unborn Babies, Children and Young People on a Child Protection Plan - the number 

subject to a child protection plan has decreased in line with the above during the period. 

During the year there have been 102 new child protection plans started.  

11.25 Table 3: Number of Children Subject to a Child Protection Plan on 31st March by Year

 Year 2012 - 13 2013 - 14 2014 - 15

 Number subject to a CP  125 123 109    

 plan in B&NES from last         

 year’s Annual Report  

Page 45



38

11.26 In comparison to England and B&NES statistical neighbours at the time of data collection 

the following table demonstrates those subject to a plan per 10,000 population aged 

under 18 years. 

Table 4: Rate of Children Subject to a Child Protection Plan Per 10,000 Population in 

Comparison to Other Areas (at the end of the period)

 Year 2012 - 13 2013 - 14 2014 - 15

 B&NES rate 36.3 36.1 32.0

 Statistical Neighbour rate  29.3 33.2 Not available   

 (average) 

 England rate 37.9 42.1 Not available

11.27 The information would indicate that the continued development of early help services 

is having a positive impact on our ability to identify risk at an earlier stage and provide 

co-ordinated support via the CAF process or within a CIN plan. The diagram below also 

indicates that the cohort of young people that are subject to a Child Protection plan are 

becoming younger. This is felt to be a positive change, as it is suggestive of a move to 

being able to identify risk and concern at a young age/earlier stage. 

11.28 Diagram 7: Number of Children and Young People on a Child Protection Plan by Age and 

Period 

11.29 As expected in line with the reduction in number of children subject of an initial 

conference the number of child and young people in receipt of a plan has also fallen, 

most significantly seen by the reduction over the last half of the period. Of note is the 

increase in the number of unborn children and reduction in the number of young people 

over the age of 16 years and above. The identification of risk prior to birth is positive and 

demonstrates agencies are addressing this at the earliest possible stage. The growth 

in the number of children made subject to a Child Protection plan prior to birth is very 

positive as it demonstrates our ability to begin planning prior to the birth of the child 

and work with parents to reduce risks at the earliest point. The reduction in children 

over the age of 16 years of age demonstrates that Children’s Specialist Services and 

partners are finding different ways to manage the risk which is also viewed as positive. 

Page 46



39

Comparator information from DfE supplied by Ofsted for 2013 - 14 shows that B&NES 

had fewer children under the age of 5 years subject to a Child Protection Plan, a slightly 

higher number of children aged 5 to 15 years and a lower number of those aged 16 

plus however the numbers are broadly similar. In 2013 - 14 the lack of unborn babies 

identified was a potential issue however given the number in 2014 - 15 the LSCB is 

assured these are not being missed.

11.30 Table 5: Lengths of Time Children are Subject to a Child Protection Plan

 Length of Period Children on a Plan  Children on a Plan   

  2014 - 15 2013 - 14

 Lasted less than 3 months 19% 24%

 Lasting 3-6 months 4% 6%

 Lasting 6-12 months 45% 53%

 Lasting 12-24 months 30% 42%

 Lasting more than 24 months 1% 3%

(Note figures are rounded to the nearest whole)

11.31 The activity demonstrates that less than 1% (0.87) of children and young people are 

subject to a plan that lasts longer than two years. This is a reduction on the previous 

year which is positive as is the reduction in the length of plans overall in all areas in 

comparison to the previous year. At the end of the 2014 - 15 period there had been 

just under 7% (6.7) of children who have been subject to a Child Protection Plan for a 

second or subsequent time within two years of their previous plan. This figure is slightly 

down in comparison to 2013 - 14 when the figure was 6.9%. The diagram below sets 

out how B&NES compares to other areas and demonstrates that we are effective in our 

intervention and reduce the need for a repeat plan. 

11.32 Diagram 8: Percentage of Children Subject to Child protection Plan for a Second or 

Subsequent Time

 (Source: DfE data provided by Ofsted May 2015)

11.33 When looking at the categories of abuse recorded for children on Plans the following 

information is recorded.

Page 47



40

11.34 Table 6: Recorded Categories of Abuse at Initial and Latest Child Protection Plan 2014 - 

15

 Need / B&NES  B&NES       

 Abuse Open Open  Open CPPs by Latest Need

 Category CPPs by CPPs by  Category 2013 - 14

  Initial Need Latest Need 

  Category Category B&NES Statistical England

  2014 - 15 2014 - 15  Neighbour 

Emotional  36% 37% 45% 36% 35%

Neglect 49% 53% 43% 43% 41%

Physical  13% 7% 8% 10% 10%

Sexual  2% 2% 5% 6% 5%

Multiple 1% 1% 0% 6% 9%

Total  101% 100% 101% 101% 100%

Note: figures have been rounded to the nearest whole

11.35 The LSCB has been monitoring the categories of abuse and noted during the period 

that the number of children categorised as subject to sexual abuse had fallen from the 

previous year and those categorised as neglect had increased. The LSCB PPP sub-

group were concerned about the decrease in the number of emotional abuse cases in 

comparison to the previous period; having now received the comparator data and the 

difference this was a correct concern to be looked into. An audit of cases made subject 

to a plan under the category of emotional harm was reported to the LSCB in December 

2014 as part of the themed review and a number of recommendations were made. The 

audit looked at 90% of cases categorised as emotional abuse at the end of quarter 1. 

Seven recommendations were made as a result of the audit – the LSCB concentrated on 

the following areas:

s฀ THE฀DIFFERENCES฀BETWEEN฀AGENCIES฀OVER฀THE฀PERCEPTION฀OF฀RISK฀WHEN฀ASSESSING฀
whether a child was at risk of significant harm or was a cause for concern. 

s฀ INCONSISTENCY฀IN฀HOW฀THE฀ASSESSMENT฀OF฀INITIAL฀RISK฀IS฀CATEGORISED฀INTO฀DIFFERENT฀
kinds of abuse. This decision has to be correct for the action plan to work. 

s฀ LACK฀OF฀EVIDENCE฀OF฀CHALLENGE฀CONCERNING฀THE฀ABOVE�฀

s฀ QUERIES฀ABOUT฀HOW฀WELL฀STAFF฀COMMUNICATE฀WITH฀PARENTS฀ABOUT฀THEIR฀ASSESSMENT฀
and how the risk issues are explained. 

 In addition to identifying issues with categorisation of cases a number of other practice 

concerns were identified which are being addressed and are being monitored by the 

PPPG. 

11.36 In addition to this the PPP sub-group have been monitoring the number of sexual abuse 

cases and have sought assurance that cases have not been missed. They are currently 

in the process of triangulating Council and Avon and Somerset Constabulary data; 

findings will be shared with the LSCB during 2015 - 16 as necessary for assurance 

purposes. The number of cases initially categorised as physical abuse has dropped in 

comparison to the latest categorisation by 6%. The PPP sub-group will consider whether 

there is a need to look into this.

Page 48



41

11.37 The Child Protection Chairs provide an annual report to the LSCB which captures the 

participation of families at conferences and is of particular interest to the LSCB. We await 

the 2014 - 15 report, however information from the 2013 - 14 report stated:

 ‘Attendance remains high, at 98% of the conferences attended by at least one or 

other parent, in only 6 out of 264 conferences did no family member attend. This is 

AN฀IMPROVEMENT฀ON฀�������฀lGURE฀OF฀����฀4HIS฀IS฀A฀GOOD฀LEVEL฀OF฀ATTENDANCE฀AND฀
we need to continue enabling participation of family members.’ (Child Protection 

#HAIRS฀!NNUAL฀2EPORT฀����
��฀P�	

 In relation to participation of children in conferences the following is written:

 ‘Child Protection Chairs spend time with the young person before a Conference 

to agree how best to share their views, ensuring that their involvement will be 

meaningful and they are protected from any distress.  It is positive that young 

PEOPLE�S฀PARTICIPATION฀HAS฀INCREASED฀THIS฀YEAR�฀)N฀����฀
฀��฀CHILDREN฀OVER฀��฀YEARS฀
and their siblings were automatically offered the services of an independent 

Advocacy Service, provided by Shout Out. There were 167 Child Protection 

Conferences where this service was offered and the Advocacy Service was used 

in 90 of these Conferences meaning that 54% of the young people offered the 

service used it.’ (p6)

11.38 Looked After Children - On the 31st March 2015 there were 131 Looked After Children 

in B&NES and there are 142 on average during the year. The table below outlines 

the number of children and young people whom are Looked After each quarter. It 

demonstrates a decreasing number during the period which is consistent with the overall 

trajectory for 2012 - 13 and 2013 - 14 with the one quarters outlier in 2013 - 14. This is 

thought to have been caused by a number of developments. Firstly, the effectiveness 

of the early help interventions are beginning to positively impact or our ability to offer 

support to families at an earlier stage, particularly for families with younger children. 

Secondly, changes made within the Children’s Specialist Services procedures for the 

planning for placements has seen a reduction in the number of requests for emergency 

or un-planned admissions to care. 

11.39 Diagram 9: Number of Looked After Children at End of Quarter

Page 49



42

11.40 B&NES has a lower number of Looked After children and young people than the England 

average as expected and is largely similar to its statistical neighbours. The table below 

sets out how it compares.

11.41 Table 7: Rate Per 10,000 Population of Looked After Children 

 Comparator Areas 2012 - 13 2013 - 14 2014 - 15

 B&NES  41.6 44.7 41.3

 Statistical neighbours 43.3 42.6 Not available

 England 60 60 Not available

(Source: DfE data provided by Ofsted Dec 2014)

11.42 The per 10,000 data would appear to confirm the positive picture of B&NES being able 

to reduce the number of young people being accommodated so that it is now slightly 

below our statistical neighbour comparators, but not so far that we are an outlier. This 

again underlines that thresholds and decision making are in line with other areas. Our 

challenge for the next few years will be to seek to reduce the number of 13-16 year olds 

that come into care. Although the services and support to young parents appears to be 

becoming more effective, there is a continuing need to develop more effective services 

to teenagers, so that we can reduce the rate of family break-downs due to pressures 

within this age group.  Children Specialist Services and Independent Reviewing Services 

work together to ensure placements remain as stable as possible. In 2014 - 15, 73% 

of placements had lasted more than two years. This is in comparison to the statistical 

neighbour figure of 65% and the national figure of 67%.  This demonstrates ‘…accurate 

assessments of need, good ‘matching’ process and ongoing support to both carers and 

children.’ (Children Specialist Services Care Service Manger May 2015). 

11.43 The Independent Reviewing Service has ensured reviews are carried out in a timely 

way and 96% have been carried out on time. The location and time of the reviews has 

changed in accordance with Children and Young Peoples wants.

11.44 403 reviews were carried out during the year; children and young people are 

encouraged to participate in these and in 93% of cases this occurred. Note good 

practice recommends not to include children under the age of four in such reviews.

11.45 Diagram 10: Children and Young People Participation in Reviews

Page 50



43

11.46 The Independent Reviewing Officers have raised concerns about the timeliness of social 

work reports in preparation for reviews and this has been escalated. 

11.47 Outcomes for Looked After Children 

s฀ $URING฀THE฀PERIOD฀�����฀OF฀YOUNG฀PEOPLE฀LEAVING฀CARE฀HAVE฀SUITABLE฀AND฀STABLE฀
accommodation; this compares to 90.4% in 2013-14 and continues to demonstrate 

good outcomes for care leavers. 90.8% of care leavers (aged 19, 20 and 21) at 

the end of March 14 were in suitable accommodation in comparison to 76.5% for 

statistical neighbours and 77.8% England average (source DfE)

s฀ ���฀OF฀YOUNG฀PEOPLE฀LEAVING฀CARE฀ARE฀IN฀EMPLOYMENT�฀EDUCATION฀OR฀TRAINING�฀THIS฀
figure has reduced in comparison to last year which was 78.6%. We believe there 

has been a reduction nationally as the DfE has changed the age range being 

collected which is likely to cause the variation, that said, we need to understand 

the position locally and will be looking into this. 

11.48 Private Fostering arrangements: there have been four Private Fostering notifications 

during 2014 - 15 and two Private Fostering arrangements ended during 2014 - 15.

11.49 During the year there has been an increased focus on children missing from school, 

education and home data and the CSE sub-group will look at triangulating this for 

assurance purposes in the 2015 - 16 business plan. Police notifications are routinely 

received and recorded

Section 12: External Assessments

12.1 The LSCB has not been subject to any external assessments itself during the period 

however a peer review of the Local Authority response to CSE was undertaken by 

another Local Authority. The findings were largely positive, the peer challenge confirmed 

progress in the areas of development that we are already working on and highlighted the 

importance of stronger information sharing arrangements particularly in relation to the 

Police.

12.2 A peer review of safeguarding adults assurance mechanisms has taken place and this 

review commented upon the opportunity to collaborate with the LSCB.

12.3 The HMIP Thematic Inspection of safeguarding practice within the Youth Offending 

Service was published. This was a national review which included a visit to B&NES 

and findings were discussed by the LSCB. As it is a thematic review no specific 

recommendations are made for any of the participating authorities, although the YOS has 

been following up on specific local feedback from the review team.

12.4 The LSCB was made aware of the National Child Protection Inspection Report and 

subsequent action plan produced by Avon and Somerset Constabulary and have asked 

for progress reports on this.

Page 51



44

Section 13: Priorities for 2015 - 16 and Beyond

13.1  The report has identified a number of areas which the LSCB intend to explore further. 

These are articulated in the list below and have been added to other areas the LSCB 

want to explore; all are being included in the 2015 - 18 Business Plan and the ones 

in bold have been prioritised for work to commence in 2015 - 16. Not all the work 

associated with these areas will have been completed by March 2016 but progress will 

have been made. The format of the Business Plan is set out in Appendix 10; the LSCB 

intend to sign off the populated three year plan in September 2015.

Key Priority 1 - The LSCB will co-ordinate a multi-agency approach to reducing harm 

to vulnerable Children and Young People. This will particularly focus on children and 

young people associated with the issues of:

฀ s฀ 0HYSICAL฀!BUSE
฀ s฀ .EGLECT
฀ s฀ 3EXUAL฀!BUSE
฀ s฀ #HILD฀3EXUAL฀%XPLOITATION฀
฀ s฀ #HILDREN฀MISSING฀OR฀ABSENT
฀ s฀ %
3AFETY
฀ s฀ 3ELF฀HARM฀�฀SUICIDE
฀ s฀ %MOTIONAL฀WELL฀BEING
฀ s฀ $ISABILITY
฀ s฀ &'-
฀ s฀ $OMESTIC฀!BUSE
฀ s฀ 3UBSTANCE฀MISUSE฀฀
฀ s฀ -ENTAL฀HEALTH฀AND฀LINK฀TO฀DOMESTIC฀ABUSE฀AND฀SUBSTANCE฀MISUSE฀
฀ s฀ 2ADICALISATION฀�0REVENT฀AND฀#HANNEL	
฀ s฀ 3LAVERY
฀ s฀ (ARM฀ASSOCIATED฀WITH฀SERVICE฀PROVISION฀�EG�฀MENTAL฀HEALTH฀BED฀AVAILABILITY฀OR฀฀
  provider failure)

฀ s฀ #HILDREN฀AFFECTED฀BY฀PARENTAL฀OFFENDING
Issue

Gather assurance on e-safety arrangements  

Put in place new Prevent and Channel responsibilities

Monitor progress of Multi-agency Information Sharing Hub project

Gather assurance on the effectiveness of missing from home, care and school 

arrangements

Deliver CSE action plan (ensure Willow Project is effectively functioning, strengthen 

links with schools and sexual health and review and refine strategy and protocol)

Implement and monitor effectiveness of mental health protocol

Progress targeted work with drug and alcohol agencies, mental health and domestic 

abuse services – seek assurance that effective co-ordinated work is in place

Progress work with the Self Harm and Suicide Prevention group consider the best 

mechanism to raise awareness of risks with low level ligatures

Assess the potential impact of lack of mental health beds on young people in B&NES

Continue to monitor the transition of children to adult services

On-going liaison with South West Child Protection Procedures and arrangements 

going forwards

Page 52



45

Finalise Early Help Strategy

Implement task and finish group to look at needs of offender and families (in line with 

iHop presentation)

Gather assurance on children and young people with disabilities

Understand the data regarding children in care in education, training and employment

Key Priority 2 – To increase the participation and involvement of children, young 

people and parents/carers in service improvements and developments both:

s฀ %XPERIENCE฀OF฀CURRENT฀SERVICES฀
s฀ !SPIRATIONS฀FOR฀฀NEW฀ONES
Issue

Seek assurance that new child friendly Working Together guidance is disseminated

Continue to seek assurance from IRO, CP chairs, Children Specialist Services, Off the 

Record Advocacy Service and other agencies that children, young people and parents 

are invited and supported to participate in meetings – seek their views on their 

experience 

Continue to engage support of young people in stakeholder events and in recruitment 

of staff

Commence work with the e-teams to develop new materials

Development of further children and young people friendly communication strands eg, 

potential for face book, twitter, You Tube etc to communicate messages

To continue to work with Project 28 and Mentoring Plus to develop new ways of utilising 

the feed-back from young people using these groups on the delivery of service to young 

people.

Key Priority 3 – Strengthening  the LSCB’s evaluation and challenge of the 

effectiveness of individual agency safeguarding arrangements

Issue

Continue to undertake multi-agency audits and provide feedback (specifically review 

school and GP engagement; re audit categorisations of abuse; CSE cases; joint audit 

with LSAB sub-group)

Develop programme for auditing agency compliance with multi-agency procedures

Ensure Section 11 sub-regional mini audits for 2014 - 15 are completed, analysed and 

responded to 

Assurance that findings of schools audit are addressed and implemented

Ensure that findings from lessons learned reviews are reported and actions to 

improve effectiveness are addressed 

Assurance from SCR sub-group that single agency action plans from SCR have all 

been completed

Assurance that Section 11 action plans for 2013 - 14 have been signed off and 

completed

Review effectiveness of partners challenge at CP Conferences

Audit referrals from adult care commissioned services

Understand the assurance mechanisms commissioners have in place for safeguarding 

children and young people in contracts

Banes NHS CCG and B&NES Council to ensure standardised contractual requirements are 

included in all contracts

Page 53



46

Key Priority 4 – Sufficient and Competent Workforce to ensure Children and Young 

People are ‘safe’

Issue

Disseminate Working Together to Safeguard Children 2015 and other recent reports / 

guidance documents

Assurance that new areas of abuse are included in all staff training eg, modern 

slavery, trafficking, FGM and CSE

Develop electronic training booking record management system to improve quality of 

information to provide assurance of multi-agency training

Assurance that schools are complying with minimum safeguarding training requirements 

issued in March 2015

Commence the development of a quality framework for single agency and ‘train the 

trainer’ training 

Develop standardised competencies for all new programmes

Assurance that agencies have attended Prevent training

Review existing Training Programme 

Develop and implement joint training programme with LSAB (consider particularly 

Domestic Abuse in 2015 - 16)

Key Priority 5 – Continuous Improvement of the LSCB

Issue

Review LSCB and sub-group Terms of Reference – seize opportunity for joint working 

with LSAB sub-groups

Review assurance mechanisms CCG and Council Commissioning teams have in place 

(including for schools; ensure standardised contract measures between CCG and 

Council where possible and included for roll out in contract variations 2016)

Assess effectiveness of Thematic Reviews 

Continue to analyse feedback from other LSCB Ofsted inspection reports to identify 

areas for improvement

Develop new LSCB website and consider opportunity to link with LSAB 

Develop systematic method for reviewing, disseminating and monitoring 

implementation of multi-agency policy and procedures (initial priority it to review 

against Working Together 2015 and new Information Sharing Guidance)

Clarify arrangements for identifying and writing new policy, protocols, materials etc 

Secure and induct lay members, schools and housing representatives to LSCB and 

sub-groups

Gather assurance on Private Fostering arrangements

Implement Challenge and Review Panel for the Chair

Review data: eg, (1) take a closer look at the age of Looked After children in 

comparison to other areas to understand if B&NES is an outlier and if so why are we 

different; (2) generate data on children’s ethnicity, disability  and gender for those on 

CP plans and Looked After for next years report; (3) triangulate sexual abuse cases 

with Avon and Somerset Constabulary. 

Develop stronger links with other Boards

Review performance report ensuring new data is added as required – members to keep the 

‘so what’ question front of mind.

Page 54



47

Section 14: Essential Information

14.1 The Annual Report is published by the LSCB and has been contributed to and approved 

by all partner agencies.

14.2 The Report is shared with the Health and Wellbeing Board, Childrens Trust Board, LSAB, 

RAG and Council Chief.

14.3 The report can be made available in alternative formats as required and by contacting 

the Communications Co-ordinator by emailing Melanie_Hodgson@bathnes.gov.uk or 

ringing 01225 477983.

Appendix 1: List of Statutory Guidance, Legislation and 

Reports Relevant to Safeguarding Children and Young 

People

Section 1: Acts and Regulations

1. Family Law Act 1996 

2. Housing Act 1996

3. Children Act 1989 

4. Family Law Act 1996

5. The Human Rights Act 1998 

6. Adoption and Children Act 2002 

7. Education Act 2002 (Section 175) 

8. Sexual Offences Act 2003

9. Licensing Act 2003 

10. Female Genital Mutilation Act 2003

11. Children Act 2004

12. Domestic Violence Crime and Victim Act 2004

13. The Children (Private Arrangements for Fostering) Regulations 2005

14. Serious Crime Act 2005 

15. Childcare Act 2006

16. LSCB Regulations 2006

17. Education and Inspection Act 2006

18. Vulnerable Group Act 2006

19. The Apprenticeship, Skills, Children and Learning Act 2009

20. Coroners and Justice Act 2009

21. Looked After Children’s Care Reviewed Under Care Planning, Placement and Case 

Review (England) 2010 Care Planning Regulations

22. Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011

23. The Right to Choose Multi-agency Statutory Guidance (2013)

Page 55



48

Section 2: Guidance and Relevant Publications

1. Statutory guidance on protecting children where carers or parents fabricate or 

induce illness in a child (DH; DfE and Home Office 2008). 

2. Safeguarding Children and Young People from Sexual Exploitation: supplementary 

Guidance (DfE 2009)

3. Safeguarding Disabled Children: Practice guidance (DfE 2009) 

4. Safeguarding children and young people who may be affected by gang activity 

(DfE and Home Office 2010)

5. Safeguarding children who may have been trafficked: Practice Guidance (DfE and 

Home Office 2011)

6. The Munro Review of Child Protection: A child Centred System - Final Report  by 

Professor Eileen Munro (DfE 2011)

7. Cross- Border Child Protection Cases – The Hague Convention 1996. 

Departmental advice for local authorities, social workers, service managers and 

children’s services lawyers (DfE 2012)

8. What to do if you suspect a child is being sexually exploited (DfE 2012)

9. Resources for training multi-agency participant groups in identifying and dealing 

with child neglect (DfE 2012)

10. Protecting Children and Young People: responsibilities of all doctors (GMC 2012)

11. When to Suspect Child Maltreatment (NICE revised guidance from 2013, formerly 

produced 2009)

12.  Statutory guidance: regulated Activity (children) - supervision of activity with 

children which is regulated activity when unsupervised (DfE 2013)

13. Domestic violence and abuse: how health services, social care and the 

organisations they work with can respond effectively (NICE February 2014)

14.  In the Childs Time: Professional Response to Neglect (Ofsted March 2014)

15.  Safeguarding Children and Young People Roles and Competencies for Health 

Care Staff (RCPCH March 2014)

16. Safeguarding Children and Young People: the RCGP/NSPCC Safeguarding 

Children Toolkit for General Practice (March 2014) 

Page 56



49

Appendix 2: LSCB Terms of Reference

http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Children-and-Young-People/

ChildProtection/lscb_terms_of_reference.pdf

The Terms of Reference were updated at the June 2015 LSCB and have been included as part 

of this report rather than the 2012 version.

 

 

Page 57



50

A
p

p
e
n

d
ix

 3
: 

L
S

C
B

 M
e
m

b
e
rs

 a
n

d
 A

tt
e
n

d
a
n

c
e
 2

0
1
4
 -

 1
5
 

N
am

e 
  

A
g

en
cy

 
R

o
le

 

1.
 

A
ni

ta
 J

oh
ns

on
 

G
W

H
 B

&
N

E
S

 m
at

er
ni

ty
 s

er
vi

ce
s 

 
N

am
ed

 m
id

w
ife

2.
 

A
sh

le
y 

A
yr

e 
B

&
N

E
S

 C
ou

nc
il 

D
ire

ct
or

 o
f P

eo
p

le
 a

nd
 C

om
m

un
iti

es

3.
 

B
ru

ce
 L

au
re

nc
e 

B
&

N
E

S
 C

ou
nc

il 
D

ire
ct

or
 o

f P
ub

lic
 H

ea
lth

4.
 

C
liv

e 
D

ia
z 

(u
nt

il 
m

id
 2

01
4)

 
B

&
N

E
S

 C
ou

nc
il 

P
rin

ci
p

al
 S

oc
ia

l W
or

ke
r 

C
hi

ld
re

n 
an

d
 F

am
ili

es

5.
 

D
aw

n 
C

la
rk

e 
B

an
es

 N
H

S
 C

C
G

 
D

ire
ct

or
 o

f N
ur

si
ng

 &
 Q

ua
lit

y

6.
 

(C
llr

) 
D

in
e 

R
om

er
o 

 
C

ab
in

et
 M

em
b

er
 fo

r 
C

Y
P

7.
 

D
on

na
 R

ed
m

an
 

B
an

es
 N

H
S

 C
C

G
 

N
am

ed
 G

P

8.
 

D
un

ca
n 

S
ta

nw
ay

 
B

ar
na

rd
os

 
A

ss
is

ta
nt

 D
ire

ct
or

 M
id

s 
an

d
 S

W

9.
 

Fi
on

a 
Fi

nl
ay

 
S

iro
na

 C
ar

e 
an

d
 H

ea
lth

  
D

es
ig

na
te

d
 D

oc
to

r

10
. 

H
el

en
 B

la
nc

ha
rd

 
R

U
H

 N
H

S
 T

ru
st

 
D

ire
ct

or
 o

f N
ur

si
ng

11
. 

Je
nn

y 
Th

ee
d

 
S

iro
na

 C
ar

e 
an

d
 H

ea
lth

 
D

ire
ct

or
 o

f O
p

er
at

io
ns

12
. 

Ji
ll 

H
ol

lin
 (

no
 lo

ng
er

 in
 p

os
t)

 
In

d
ep

en
d

en
t 

La
y 

M
em

b
er

13
. 

Ju
d

y 
Ly

e-
Fo

rs
te

r 
C

ity
 o

f B
at

h 
C

ol
le

g
e 

D
ire

ct
or

 o
f L

ea
rn

in
g

 

14
. 

Ju
lie

 D
ow

ne
y 

(u
nt

il 
N

ov
 2

01
4,

 c
on

tin
ue

s 
to

 d
o 

on
-g

oi
ng

 c
on

su
lta

nc
y)

 
B

&
N

E
S

 C
ou

nc
il 

In
te

rim
 H

ea
d

 o
f S

af
eg

ua
rd

in
g

15
. 

K
ev

in
 E

lli
ot

t 
N

H
S

 E
ng

la
nd

 
P

at
ie

nt
 E

xp
er

ie
nc

e 
le

ad

16
. 

K
ev

in
 G

ib
b

s 
C

A
FC

A
S

S
 

H
ea

d
 o

f S
er

vi
ce

 

17
. 

Le
sl

ey
 H

ut
ch

in
so

n 
(c

on
fir

m
ed

 fr
om

 N
ov

 2
01

4)
 

B
&

N
E

S
 C

ou
nc

il 
H

ea
d

 o
f S

af
eg

ua
rd

in
g

 a
nd

 Q
ua

lit
y 

A
ss

ur
an

ce

18
. 

Li
z 

B
al

l 
P

ro
je

ct
 2

8 
C

o 
or

d
in

at
or

19
. 

M
at

t H
un

t 
A

vo
n 

Fi
re

 &
 R

es
cu

e 
O

ffi
ce

r 

20
. 

M
ic

ha
el

 E
va

ns
 

 
C

ou
nc

il 
M

em
b

er

21
. 

M
ic

he
lle

 M
ag

ui
re

 
O

xf
or

d
 H

ea
lth

 
H

ea
d

 o
f S

er
vi

ce

22
. 

M
ik

e 
B

ow
d

en
 

B
&

N
E

S
 C

ou
nc

il 
D

ire
ct

or
 fo

r 
C

Y
P

 a
nd

 H
ea

lth
 S

tr
at

eg
y 

an
d

 C
om

m
is

si
on

in
g

23
. 

N
ai

na
 T

ho
m

as
 (

no
 lo

ng
er

 in
 p

os
t)

 
In

d
ep

en
d

en
t 

La
y 

M
em

b
er

24
. 

P
et

e 
M

ou
nt

st
ep

he
n 

B
&

N
E

S
 C

ou
nc

il 
H

ea
d

 o
f S

t S
te

p
he

ns
 P

rim
ar

y

25
. 

P
et

er
 B

ra
nd

t 
A

vo
n 

P
ro

b
at

io
n 

Tr
us

t 
A

ss
is

ta
nt

 C
hi

ef
 O

ffi
ce

r

26
. 

R
ac

he
l W

ill
ia

m
s 

A
vo

n 
an

d
 S

om
er

se
t C

on
st

ab
ul

ar
y 

D
et

ec
tiv

e 
S

up
er

in
te

nd
en

t, 
H

ea
d

 o
f P

P
U

27
. 

R
eg

 P
en

g
el

ly
 

In
d

ep
en

d
en

t 
In

d
ep

en
d

en
t C

ha
ir

28
. 

R
ic

ha
rd

 B
al

d
w

in
 

B
&

N
E

S
 C

ou
nc

il 
D

iv
is

io
na

l D
ire

ct
or

 T
ar

g
et

ed
 a

nd
 S

p
ec

ia
lis

t s
er

vi
ce

s 

29
. 

R
oz

 L
am

b
er

t 
V

C
S

 C
Y

P
N

   
Fi

rs
t S

te
p

s 
- 

Vo
lu

nt
ar

y 
S

ec
to

r 
re

p

30
. 

S
al

ly
 C

hu
rc

hy
ar

d
 

B
&

N
E

S
 C

ou
nc

il 
Yo

ut
h 

O
ffe

nd
in

g
 S

er
vi

ce
 

11
-1

9 
P

re
ve

nt
io

n 
S

er
vi

ce
 M

an
ag

er

31
. 

S
ar

ah
 T

ho
m

p
so

n 
 

S
W

A
S

T 
S

af
eg

ua
rd

in
g

 M
an

ag
er

32
. 

S
op

hi
a 

S
w

at
to

n 
B

an
es

 N
H

S
 C

C
G

 
D

es
ig

na
te

d
 N

ur
se

 S
af

eg
ua

rd
in

g

33
. 

V
ic

ky
 T

in
sl

ey
 

G
W

H
 

D
ire

ct
or

at
e 

M
at

er
ni

ty
 le

ad

34
. 

V
ic

to
ria

 P
en

al
ig

g
on

 
C

A
FC

A
S

S
 

S
er

vi
ce

 M
an

ag
er

35
. 

D
r 

W
ill

ia
m

  B
ru

ce
-J

on
es

 
A

W
P

 (
A

vo
n 

an
d

 W
ilt

sh
ire

 M
en

ta
l H

ea
lth

 P
ar

tn
er

sh
ip

 T
ru

st
) 

C
lin

ic
al

 D
ire

ct
or

Page 58



51

L
S

C
B

 A
tt

e
n

d
a

n
c

e
 b

y
 A

g
e

n
c
y

N
a
m

e
 

J
u

n
e
 2

0
1
4

 
S

e
p

t 
 2

0
1
4
 

D
e
c
 2

0
1
4

 
M

a
rc

h
 2

0
1
5

A
vo

n
 F

ir
e
 &

 R
e
sc

u
e
 

 
 

 

A
vo

n
 a

n
d

 W
ilt

sh
ir
e
 M

e
n
ta

l  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

H
e
a
lth

 P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 T
ru

st
 

 
 

 

B
a
rn

a
rd

o
s 

 
 

 

C
A

F
C

A
S

S
 

 
 

 

C
ity

 o
f 
B

a
th

 C
o
lle

g
e
  

 
 

 

B
a
n
e
s 

N
H

S
 C

C
G

  
 

 
 

 

C
Y

P
N

 
 

 
 

E
xe

c
u
tiv

e
 L

e
a
d

 M
e
m

b
e
r 

 
 

 

M
a
te

rn
ity

 G
W

H
 

 
 

 

L
a
y 

M
e
m

b
e
rs

  
 

 
 

N
H

S
 E

n
g

la
n
d

 
 

 
 

N
a
m

e
d

 G
P

 
 

 
 

O
xf

o
rd

 H
e
a
lth

 
 

 
 

D
e
si

g
n
a
te

d
 D

o
c
to

r 
 

 
 

 

A
vo

n
 a

n
d

 S
o
m

e
rs

e
t 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

C
o
n
st

a
b

u
la

ry
 

 
 

 

P
ri
m

a
ry

 H
e
a
d

 R
e
p

 
 

 
 

A
vo

n
 a

n
d

 S
o
m

e
rs

e
t 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

P
ro

b
a
tio

n
 T

ru
st

  
 

 
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 

P
u
b

lic
  
H

e
a
lth

 
 

 
 

S
e
c
o
n
d

a
ry

 H
e
a
d

 r
e
p

 
 

 
 

S
ir
o
n
a
 C

a
re

 a
n
d

 H
e
a
lth

 
 

 
 

R
o
ya

l U
n
ite

d
 H

o
sp

ita
l 

 
 

 

B
&

N
E

S
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

S
o
c
ia

l C
a
re

 
 

 
 

S
W

A
S

T
 

 
 

 

B
&

N
E

S
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

Y
O

S
 

 
 

 

T
h

e
 a

b
o

v
e
 i
n

d
ic

a
te

s
 r

e
p

re
s
e
n

ta
ti

o
n

 o
n

ly
, w

h
ic

h
 i
s
 n

o
t 

a
lw

a
y
s
 f

ro
m

 t
h

e
 d

e
s
ig

n
a
te

d
 l
e
a
d

 f
ro

m
 e

a
c
h

 a
g

e
n

c
y.

Page 59



52

LSCB Sub group members

Serious Case Review sub group

Member Agency

Lesley Hutchinson B&NES Council (Chair)

Fiona Finlay Sirona Care and Health

Jenny Daly Royal United Hospital

Mel Argles B&NES Council

Sarah McCluskey B&NES Council

Trina Shane B&NES Council

Sophia Swatton Banes NHS CCG

Policy Procedures and Performance sub group

Member Agency

Mike Bowden B&NES Council (Chair) 

Chrissie Hardman/Jill Chart Sirona Care and Health

Sarah McCluskey B&NES Council 

Caroline Dowson B&NES Council

Liz Jones B&NES Council

Richard Baldwin B&NES Council

Lesley Hutchinson B&NES Council

Sophia Swatton Banes NHS CCG

Simon Eames Avon and Somerset Constabulary

Jon Peyton Avon and Wiltshire Mental Health    

 Partnership Trust

CSE and Missing sub group

Member Agency

Richard Baldwin  B&NES Council

Dr Donna Redman  Banes NHS CCG

Duncan Stanway  Barnardos

Ian Read  Avon and Wiltshire Mental Health Partnership 

Trust

Jamie Luck  Mentoring Plus

Jenny Daly  Royal United Hospital 

Kirstie Keenan  Avon Fire and Rescue

Lesley Hutchinson  B&NES Council

Lorraine Beasley  Hayesfield Academy

Mark Coleman   Avon and Somerset Constabulary

Charlotte Leason Avon and Somerset Constabulary

Rachel Allen-Ringham  B&NES Council

Sally Churchyard  B&NES Council

Sophia Swatton  Banes NHS CCG

Trina Shane  B&NES Council

Page 60



53

Liz Ball Project 28

Judy Lye-Forster City of Bath College

Mel Holt B&NES Council

Deryck Rees Avon and Somerset Constabulary

Communications sub group

Member Agency

Richard Baldwin  B&NES Council

Jonathan Mercer  B&NES Council

Jackie Deas  B&NES Council

Judy Lye-Forster  City of Bath College

Mel Hodgson  B&NES Council

Sarah McCluskey  B&NES Council

Member of Youth Forum TBC

Lay Member TBC

Briony Waite B&NES Council

Mel Holt B&NES Council

Mel Argles B&NES Council

Training and Workforce Development sub-group

Member Agency

Sophia Swatton  BaNES CCG   (Chair)

Mel Argles  B&NES Council

Kevin Clark B&NES Council

Nick Quine  Avon & Somerset Constabulary

Jill Chart  Sirona Care & Health

Paula Lockyer  Royal United Hospital

Liz Spencer Avon and Somerset Probation 

Philip Rhodes Avon and Wiltshire Mental Health    

 Partnership Trust

Jenny Daly  Royal United Hospital

Judy Lye-Forster Bath College

Tracey Pike B&NES Council

Roz Lambert First Steps (Bath)

Mandy Round Oxford health

Lesley Hutchinson B&NES Council

Policy and Practice sub group

Member Agency

Duncan Stanway Barnardos (Chair)

Jackie Deas B&NES Council

Trina Shane B&NES Council

Sally Churchyard B&NES Council

Sara Willis B&NES Council

Page 61



54

Rosie Hodgson  B&NES Council

Michael Sidey B&NES Council

Sylwia Jones B&NES Council

Jill Chart Sirona Care and Health

Hilary Marcer Sirona Care and Health

Sophia Swatton Banes NHS CCG

Mark Coleman Avon and Somerset Constabulary

Many Round Oxford Health

Page 62



55

Appendix 4: Regulation 5 of the Local Safeguarding 

Children Boards Regulations 2006 

This Regulation sets out that the functions of the LSCB, in relation to the above objectives 

under section 14 of the Children Act 2004

Regulation 1(a) developing policies and procedures for safeguarding and promoting the 

welfare of children in the area of the authority, including policies and procedures in relation to: 

(i)  the action to be taken where there are concerns about a child’s safety or welfare, 

including thresholds for intervention; 

(ii)  training of persons who work with children or in services affecting the safety and 

welfare of children; 

(iii)  recruitment and supervision of persons who work with children; 

(iv)  investigation of allegations concerning persons who work with children; 

(v)  safety and welfare of children who are privately fostered; 

(vi)  cooperation with neighbouring children’s services authorities and their Board 

partners; 

(b) communicating to persons and bodies in the area of the authority the need to safeguard 

and promote the welfare of children, raising their awareness of how this can best be done and 

encouraging them to do so; 

(c) monitoring and evaluating the effectiveness of what is done by the authority and their Board 

partners individually and collectively to safeguard and promote the welfare of children and 

advising them on ways to improve; 

(d) participating in the planning of services for children in the area of the authority; and 

(e) undertaking reviews of serious cases and advising the authority and their Board partners on 

lessons to be learned. 

Regulation 5(2) which relates to the LSCB Serious Case Reviews function and regulation 6 

which relates to the LSCB Child Death functions are covered in chapter 4 of this guidance. 

Regulation 5(3) provides that an LSCB may also engage in any other activity that facilitates, or 

is conducive to, the achievement of its objectives. 

Page 63



56

Appendix 5: Budget 2014 - 15

  2014 - 15

 Budget  Actuals

Income

B&NES Council 51,823 51,823

Avon and Somerset Constabulary 9,003 9,003

Banes NHS CCG 20,102 20,102

Avon and Somerset Probation 3,153 3,153

CAFCASS 550 550

Avon Fire and Rescue 1,000 1,000

Fees and Charges 5,120 5,120

Misc. Contributions 650 650

Carry Forward 51,439 68,297

Totals 142,840 163,981

Expenditure  

Staff salaries (Business Manager) 13,300 15,903

Travel / Car Parking 179 1,374

Printing / Design 39 0

Independent Chair 19,186 17,748

Training  (including organising 39,787 44,800    

and delivering)

Other Expenses 2,052 10,882

Carry Forward 68,297 0

Totals 142,840 90,707

 0 (Balanced)  73,274 (Net Under Spend)

Page 64



57

Appendix 6: Training Information 

LSCB Training delivered 2014-15

Headlines:  

s฀ 59 Inter-agency training courses offered

s฀ 1161 inter-agency training places made available

s฀ 1028 Inter-agency training places filled

s฀ 1199 days of inter-agency training attended

s฀ 781 professionals trained

Core Interagency Child Protection training offer:

  Courses delivered  Places offered  Places attended

 Standard Inter-agency        

 (1 day)  16  288  313

 Advanced Inter-agency        

 (2 day)  11  198  167

 Totals  27  486  480

Core Early Help (CAF) offer (1/2 day training):

  Courses delivered  Places offered  Places attended

 CAF  4  72  56

 Lead Professional  4  72  42

 Totals  8  144  98

LSCB Events:

  Courses delivered  Places offered  Places attended

 CSE Policy Launch  1  45  60

 LSCB Stakeholders Event  1  90  110

 Totals  2  135  170

Awareness:  Inter-agency Child Protection (1/2 day)

  Courses delivered  Places offered  Places attended

 CSE Awareness  1  18  24

 E-Safety  2  36  29

 Thresholds  3  54  31

 i-HOP  2  36  21

 Totals  8  144  105

Page 65



58

Specialist courses:  Inter-agency Child Protection:

  Courses delivered  Places offered  Places attended

 CSE Skills  & Practice  3  54  55

 CP & Substance Abuse  1  18  11

 Critically Curious         

 Conversations   1  18  11

 Neglect  2  36  25

 Domestic Violence  2  36  24

 Disabled Children:         

 Safeguarding &   1  18  10  

 Child Protection 

 Toxic Trio  2  36  29

 Rapid Response   1  18  18

 Child Sexual Abuse   1  18  10

 Totals  14  252  193

Agency representation at training

Page 66



59

 

Bath and North East Somerset

Local Safeguarding Children Board

Evaluation of LSCB Inter-agency Child Protection: 

Standard 

April – July 2014

Page 67



60

Introduction

The Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) is responsible for ensuring that people who 

work with children are appropriately trained to understand normal childhood development and 

to recognise and act on potential signs of abuse and neglect at the earliest opportunity. The 

LSCB also needs to review and evaluate the quality, scope and effectiveness of inter-agency 

training to ensure it is meeting local needs. 

Training for inter-agency work in safeguarding and protecting children and young people is 

intended to promote better outcomes by fostering:

s฀ -ORE฀EFFECTIVE฀AND฀INTEGRATED฀SERVICES฀AT฀BOTH฀THE฀STRATEGIC฀AND฀INDIVIDUAL฀CASE฀
level;

s฀ )MPROVED฀COMMUNICATION฀AND฀INFORMATION฀SHARING฀BETWEEN฀PROFESSIONALS�฀
including a common understanding of key terms, definitions and thresholds for 

action;

s฀ %FFECTIVE฀WORKING฀RELATIONSHIPS�฀INCLUDING฀AN฀ABILITY฀TO฀WORK฀IN฀MULTI
DISCIPLINARY฀
groups or teams;

s฀ 3OUND฀CHILD฀FOCUSED฀ASSESSMENTS฀AND฀DECISION
MAKING�฀AND

s฀ ,EARNING฀FROM฀3ERIOUS฀#ASE฀2EVIEWS฀�3#2S	฀AND฀REVIEWS฀OF฀CHILD฀DEATHS

Research undertaken in 2009 for the Department of Children, Schools and Families and the 

Department of Health indicates that professionals have found that inter-agency training is 

highly effective in helping them to understand their respective roles and responsibilities, the 

procedures of agencies when safeguarding children, and in promoting a shared understanding 

of assessment and decisions-making in practice. Participants also valued the shared learning 

environment and experienced an increase in confidence when working with other agencies 

and a greater respect for such colleagues (Carpenter et al, 2009)

This report reviews feedback from the LSCB Inter-agency Child Protection Training:  Standard, 

for the months of April- July 2014, with contributions from 123 delegates.  

Context:  Training and Workforce Development Sub-

committee (T&WD Sc)

Programme Development

The T&WD Sc is responsible for evaluating the training which it proves in order to ensure that it 

meets the LSCB’s statutory functions and to respond to national and local issues. The course 

evaluated will be:

Standard Inter-agency Child Protection

This one day course aims to promote and improve the inter-agency approach and response 

to Child Protection issues. Delegates have the opportunity to develop their knowledge around 

child protection issues and the processes involved. They will explore with colleagues from 

other organisations the challenges and benefits of working in a multi-agency system.  The 

course includes identifying child protection concerns, understanding how to make a referral, 

the process of information sharing and understanding roles and responsibilities in relation to 

safeguarding children. 

Page 68



61

Training Delivery

The Standard Child Protection course subject to this review was delivered by the LSCB training 

co-ordinator, with a 45 minute guest speaker slot from a member of the integrated working and 

early help team.

Delegates are allocated seating which has been arranged to promote inter-agency 

discussions. 

Delegates are provided with a comprehensive handbook to accompany the training, including 

links to further training, and additional information for further reading.  

Training is delivered in a variety of ways to promote engagement across the four types of adult 

learning styles.  There are structured taught lectures which reference findings from Serious 

Case Reviews and latest findings in research.  There are structured group discussions, 

exploring current knowledge and exploring new ideas.  There are practical exercises which 

involve drawing and the use of a ‘live model’, along with threading learning with numerous 

‘case studies’ and scenarios to promote learning.

Training Standards 

All Local Safeguarding Children Board training is delivered against the following principles:

s฀ Child Centred All training reflects that the welfare of the child is paramount and 

that it incorporates and actively promotes ‘children’s rights’, ‘children’s voice’ and 

their ‘needs’

s฀ Partnership with Parents and Carers All training recognises and actively 

promotes the need for working in partnership and engaging with parents and 

carers. The training recognises the ‘family’ as a whole when safeguarding children 

and young people.

s฀ Diversity All training is informed and governed by equal opportunities and reflects 

the diversity and cultural needs of the individuals and organisations, within Bath & 

North East Somerset, that have responsibilities for safeguarding and promoting the 

wellbeing of children

s฀ Accessibility All individuals who work with children, young people and/or their 

carers in the statutory, voluntary and independent sectors have access to the 

training

s฀ Interagency Collaboration All training promotes the need for interagency working, 

bringing together people and organisations, to effectively safeguard children from 

harm

s฀ Evidence Based All training will be ‘evidence based’ containing the latest 

research, reflective practice and the ‘lessons learned’ on a local and a national 

level. Wherever possible the training will incorporate the views of service users.

s฀ Evaluation All training is responsive to identified local needs and will be subject to 

regular rigorous review and evaluation 

Adapted from PIAT Sustaining quality: Standards for Interagency Child Protection Training and 

Developments (updated 2013)

Page 69



62

Evaluation & Quality Assurance

Through its Training & Workforce Development Sub-committee, the LSCB is required to 

evaluate the provision and quality of both single and multi-agency training, ensuring that it is 

provided within individual organisations, and checking that training is reaching all relevant 

staff.

Monitoring and Evaluation of Inter-agency training 

In order to evaluate the effectiveness of multi-agency training in Bath and North East Somerset, 

a variety of methods are employed to achieve four goals:

s฀ %NSURE฀THE฀LEARNING฀OUTCOMES฀FOR฀EACH฀COURSE฀ARE฀MET�฀AND฀REmECT฀EVIDENCE฀BASED฀
‘best practice’ that keeps the child or young person in focus.

s฀ %NSURE฀THE฀CONTINUAL฀EVALUATION฀BY฀,3#"฀4RAINING฀-ANAGER฀TO฀ENSURE฀COURSES฀ARE฀
meeting the needs of staff, with transparent overview and accountability to the 

LSCB training and workforce development sub group.

s฀ %NSURE฀THAT฀EVALUATIONS฀INFORM฀THE฀PLANNING฀AND฀DEVELOPMENT฀OF฀FUTURE฀TRAINING

s฀ %NSURE฀THAT฀MESSAGES฀FROM฀TRAINING฀ARE฀BEING฀EMBEDDED฀IN฀PRACTICE�

Methods of Evaluation

All courses advertise the learning outcomes expected from participants by the end of the 

course.  As recommended in the DCSF Research Report ‘Outcomes of Interagency Training 

to Safeguarding Children: Final Report, evaluation forms used in B&NES on half day, full day 

or two day courses remind attendees of those learning outcomes and delegates are asked to 

scale pre and post course their confidence in these areas to assess the effectiveness of the 

training in addressing the identified aims and objectives on the day, with space for additional 

comments.   If a common theme emerges around objectives not being met this will trigger a 

review of the course content/ delivery style so that adjustments can be made (Appendix A 

shows the feedback form used).

Research into the effectiveness of inter-agency training suggests that for participants to 

gain the most from training they need to be able to make direct links to their own practice, 

and consider how the knowledge gained in training can improve their practice (Research 

IN฀0RACTICE฀�����	฀4RAINING฀4RANSFER�฀
฀GETTING฀LEARNING฀INTO฀PRACTICE�฀$ARLINGTON฀4RUST	.  It 
is recognised that there can be a number of barriers for delegates in making his training 

transfer, including their organisational structure, their leadership ethos and other practical 

considerations such as workload.  It is therefore recognised that delegate’s managers play an 

important role in promoting positive professional practice and in imbedding knowledge from 

training.  All delegates are therefore invited at the end of training to consider an action plan for 

changing their behaviour in the workplace, and thinking through the impact that this change 

will have on the children and young people that they work with.  

Course evaluations are used on an on-going basis to improve existing courses and to assist in 

the development of new training and learning opportunities. 

Standard Course evaluations.

6 courses were considered for the evaluation.  They took place between April and July 2014, 

information was collated from 148 delegates. The standard course is evaluated against seven 

key learning outcomes; delegates are asked to score their confidence against these seven 

learning outcomes, prior to the start of the course, and once again at the end.  This provides 

an indication of learning which has occurred during the training program.  
Page 70



63

  Before  After  

  Level of  Level of  

 Questions Confidence Confidence 

  1 to 5 1 to 5

  I understand the definitions and types of child abuse,     

 1 including child sexual exploitation and their impact on  3.5 4.8  

  children 

 
2

 I am able to recognise and respond to safeguarding and     

  child protection concerns appropriately 3.5 4.6

 
3

 I am aware of the “early help” offer in B&NES and the     

  importance of consent based, multi-agency planning 2.2 4.5

  I am aware of the child protection process and how key     

 4 agencies work together to identify and meet the needs of  3.0 4.5  

  children where there are safeguarding concerns. 

  I am aware of the impact that domestic abuse,     

 5 substance misuse and parental mental health can have  3.7 4.7  

  on parenting capacity 

  I am aware of what is meant by superficial/disguised     

 6 compliance and the importance of family history and  2.4 4.4  

  functioning. 

  I am aware of the Information Sharing Guidance (2008),     

 7 and when/ where it is appropriate and important to share  2.7 4.2  

  information 

    3.0 4.5

Whilst there were individual variations between scoring on courses, the overall feedback 

followed a very similar pattern.  Following completion of a standard t-test, 

Analysis of Qualitative data: 

 Page 71



64

1. What did you gain most from this training?

 Summarised Comments Number of delegate responses

 When and how to make a referral to social care  34

 Issues round child protection & types of abuse  34

 Inter-agency learning  30

 Early Help Information  22

 Understand safeguarding and the CP process  20

 Information sharing guidance  18

 This was a refresher  15

 Increase confidence in personal judgement  10

 Understand my responsibilities  6

 Learning about law  3

 The importance of having Curiosity  2

 Hearing the Child’s voice  2

 Very informative and interesting study day  1

 Comprehensive understanding of CP  1

 Responding to disclosures from children  1

 Private fostering  1

 Disguised compliance  1

2. How are you going to use this knowledge to improve your practice?

 Summarised Comments Number of Delegate responses

 Improved referrals  38

 Understand value of keeping CAF’s and doing them  15

 Increased confidence in supporting YP,     

 including disclosures  14

 Be more curious  13

 Recognise signs of concern  12

 Info has prepared me for practice  10

 Help me to support other staff in CP  9

 Help me think holistically when issues arise  7

 Improve inter-agency working  6

 Action identified to follow up  5

 Generic ‘Yes’  4

 Be more confident with challenging decisions  3

 Fulfil my responsibilities  3

 Never do nothing’  2

 No - but learnt a lot  2

 Will inform families - consent  1

 Will do advanced training  1

Page 72



65

3. How will you know that your practice has improved? 

 Summarised Content Number of delegates responses

 Feel more confident  22

 Feedback from colleagues  12

 I will notice more signs of risk  8

 Reflective supervision  6

 Will suggest CAF if required earlier  5

 Child’s voice will be evident in work  4

 Improved supervision for other staff  4

 make referrals as necessary - improved referrals  3

 Improved inter-agency work  3

 good resolution of issues  3

 More professional approach.  3

 Using the info gained on course  3

 Don’t know  3

 Better recording  2

 Agencies procedures improved  2

 Fewer CP issues with people I support  2

 Feedback from children and young people  1

 Children safe in setting  1

 Quicker decisions  1

 Doing more training  1

4. How will the children & young people you are working with know?

 Summarised Content Number of delegate responses

 Offer more support to meet their needs -     

 including CAF  22

 Though confidence in responding to concerns  12

 N/A at present  7

 Act on disclosures however they’re made  5

 Children will feel safe in setting  5

 Improved outcomes for our children  4

 I will be more curious  3

 Sharing information.  2

 clear report writing  2

 Children will feel listened to  1

Page 73



66

5. Any additional comments about today’s training?

 Summarised Content Number of delegates responses

 Excellent/ Informative/ Useful Course  33

 Clear delivery/ easy to understand/ well presented  26

 Great Facilitator/ knowledgeable  19

 Good Multi-Agency,   8

 Enjoyable  6

 Useful booklet  4

 Friendly environment  3

 Good resource links  3

 I have left feeling much more confident  2

 I thought I knew more than I did  1

 GP would like support with CAF  1

 Would like some more safeguarding for sport info  1

 Was disturbing to hear the different reports of how     

 things were missed on SCR’s  1

 Past 4pm a bit rushed  1

 Signs and symptoms not useful as have already     

 covered in training  1

Page 74



67

Appendix 7: Partner Reports

Avon and Somerset Constabulary

Brief outline of agency function: 

To provide professional policing services, working with partner agencies, including services to 

and for children and young people, in order to keep them safe from harm and where necessary 

prevent their offending or reoffending. This includes working to prevent children from becoming 

THE฀VICTIMS฀OF฀CRIME�฀INVESTIGATING฀CRIMES฀AGAINST฀CHILDREN�฀BRINGING฀PERPETRATORS฀TO฀JUSTICE฀AND฀
managing offenders, and includes the Statutory Duties under Section 11 of the Children Act 

2004.

Achievements during 2014-2015: (in bullet points including training and awareness raising 

activity)

Examples of achievements include:

s฀ 4HE฀&ORCE฀INTRODUCED฀A฀NEW฀/PERATING฀-ODEL฀THAT฀IS฀ENABLING฀THE฀MOST฀VULNERABLE฀
victims and management of Dangerous Offenders to be prioritised, putting the focus on 

people first and crime type second and providing a means through which the imbalance 

between the staff resource available for Child Protection and the demand can be 

addressed

s฀ )N฀SPITE฀OF฀A฀�����฀INCREASE฀IN฀THE฀NUMBER฀OF฀#HILD฀0ROTECTION฀#RIMES฀�EXCLUDING฀
Domestic Abuse) across B&NES in 2014/15, compared with 2013/14, the number of 

such crimes that were detected was maintained and, in the context of a 33.3% increase 

in the number of Child Protection Crimes (excluding Domestic Abuse) Force-wide over 

these two periods, the number of detected crimes rose by 7%

s฀ ��฀MEN฀WERE฀CONVICTED฀OF฀��฀#3%฀RELATED฀OFFENCES

s฀ 4HE฀&ORCE฀LED฀A฀SUCCESSFUL฀PARTNERSHIP฀BID฀FOR฀a���MILLION฀(OME฀/FlCE฀)NNOVATION฀&UND�฀
WITH฀AN฀ADDITIONAL฀a�������฀CONTRIBUTION฀FROM฀!VON฀�฀3OMERSET฀AND฀7ILTSHIRE฀0OLICE฀AND฀
Crime Commissioners, to improve agency effectiveness in identifying the hidden children 

being subjected to CSE, provide them with the support they need to understand they’ve 

been exploited and to cope and recover from their experience, and to gather evidence 

to support the delivery of services beyond the two year period covered by the Home 

Office funding

s฀ 4HE฀&ORCE฀DELIVERED฀ONE฀DAY�S฀6ULNERABILITY฀4RAINING฀�THE฀lRST฀OF฀A฀PROGRAMME฀OF฀
vulnerability training) to all front-line officers, covering Child Sexual Exploitation, Human 

Trafficking, Domestic Abuse and the Integrated Victim Care “Lighthouse” services. Post-

training evaluation:

s฀ ���฀HAVE฀GOOD฀OR฀HIGH฀LEVEL฀OF฀KNOWLEDGE฀OF฀#3%

s฀ ���฀HAVE฀GOOD฀OR฀HIGH฀LEVEL฀OF฀KNOWLEDGE฀OF฀$!

s฀ ���฀HAVE฀GOOD฀OR฀HIGH฀LEVEL฀OF฀KNOWLEDGE฀OF฀IMPACT฀OF฀$!฀ON฀CHILDREN

s฀ 4HE฀&ORCE฀INTRODUCED฀AN฀)NTEGRATED฀6ICTIM฀#ARE฀SERVICE�฀h,IGHTHOUSEv�฀ENSURING฀THAT฀
vulnerable, intimidated or persistently targeted victims receive a tailored, coordinated 

and consistent service. Each victim now has a Victim & Witness Care Officer (VWCO) 

automatically allocated to their case from the point of initial report, through the Page 75



68

investigation and to the end of any subsequent Criminal Justice process

Challenges:

s฀ 7ORKING฀WITH฀lVE฀UPPER
TIER฀LOCAL฀AUTHORITIES�฀EACH฀WITH฀THEIR฀OWN฀THRESHOLDS฀AND฀DIFFERING฀
approaches, meeting the expectations of five LSCBs, each with their own infrastructure 

of sub-groups and associated demands, in a context of declining budgets

s฀ )NCREASING฀DEMAND฀THROUGH฀RISING฀NUMBERS฀OF฀REPORTED฀CHILD฀PROTECTION฀CRIMES�฀IN฀A฀
context of declining budgets

What difference have your achievements made to children, young people, parents / 

carers?

s฀ -ORE฀CHILDREN฀HAVE฀BEEN฀SAFEGUARDED฀AND฀PROTECTED฀FROM฀HARM฀OR฀FROM฀FURTHER฀HARM

s฀ 4HE฀SIGNIlCANT฀CHANGES฀MADE฀DURING฀�������฀TO฀THE฀WAY฀WE฀OPERATE�฀THE฀SERVICES฀WE฀
provide to victims, and the funding we have secured for improved services for victims 

of CSE, will enable the safeguarding and protection of children to be maintained and 

improved in a context of declining budgets

Objectives for 2015-16:

In partnership with other agencies, Avon & Somerset Constabulary’s objectives for the 

protection of children are:

s฀ ��฀0REVENT฀CHILDREN฀FROM฀BECOMING฀VICTIMS฀OF฀CHILD฀ABUSE

s฀ ��฀7HERE฀CHILDREN฀DO฀BECOME฀VICTIMS�฀ENSURE฀THEY฀ARE฀RECOGNISED฀AS฀SUCH�฀ARE฀PROTECTED฀
from further harm, and are given the support they need to help them remain safe and to 

deal with the physical, emotional and psychological consequences of the abuse

s฀ ��฀"RING฀PERPETRATORS฀OF฀CHILD฀ABUSE฀TO฀JUSTICE฀AND฀PREVENT฀THEM฀REOFFENDING฀THROUGH฀
robust offender management

NHS England

Brief outline of agency function: 

NHS England South (South Central) team

s฀ 3EEK฀ASSURANCE฀THROUGH฀##'S฀WITHIN฀THEIR฀AREA฀ON฀THE฀COMPLIANCE฀OF฀THEIR฀
provider organisations’ compliance with Safeguarding regulations, standards and 

processes.

s฀ 0RIMARY฀#ARE฀3ERVICES�

o Co-commission GP services with CCGs

o Directly commission Dental, Optometrist and Pharmacy services

o These services are independent contractors who are required to comply with 

the NHS contract of which Safeguarding is a part

o GP and Dental services are required to be registered with CQC as part of 

their regulated activity and compliance with Safeguarding is set out in those 

regulations

Achievements during 2014-2015: (in bullet points including training and awareness raising 

activity)

s฀ 3AFEGUARDING฀!UDIT฀OF฀'0฀PRACTICES฀WAS฀UNDERTAKEN฀ACROSS฀"�.%3฀IN฀.OVEMBER฀
2014 giving a 48% response rate from GP practices.

Page 76



69

o Further analysis of the key areas for improvement is being undertaken by 

B&NES CCG Safeguarding team in order to provide relevant support and 

information to practices.

o There is a clear interest by GP practices and their teams to receive information 

and ensure they have the right processes, policies and training in place.

s฀ &UNDING฀AND฀A฀-/5฀TO฀SUPPORT฀PRIMARY฀CARE฀SERVICES฀THROUGH฀TRAINING฀AND฀LEARNING฀
opportunities have been completed.

Challenges:

s฀ 3ECURING฀ENGAGEMENT฀OF฀ALL฀'0฀PRACTICES฀IN฀THE฀AUDIT฀PROCESS

Further work is being undertaken by the Named GP in the CCG to secure that engagement

What difference has your achievements made to children, young people, parents / 

carers?

s฀ %VALUATIONS฀FROM฀THE฀TRAINING฀SESSIONS฀DO฀IDENTIFY฀AN฀INCREASE฀IN฀KNOWLEDGE฀BY฀STAFF฀
with excellent reviews of the quality and relevance of the training.  The wider, direct 

impact is unknown at this time. Through the Area Team Safeguarding Children 

Forum, measures to identify this impact will be undertaken.  

Objectives for 2015-16:

s฀ !S฀ABOVE

Barnardos

Brief outline of agency function: 

Barnardos delivers support to victims of child sexual exploitation in B&NES, through its BASE 

project. Barnardos also provide independent supervision of Community Based Social Work 

assessments.

Achievements during 2014-2015: (in bullet points including training and awareness raising 

activity)

Increased recognition of child sexual exploitation in B&NES.  We do not know that level of CSE 

in B&NES but are moving to a position of knowing more than we have done in the past.  BASE 

has played a part in helping launch B&NES CSE Strategy.

Challenges:

Helping the workforce understand that CSE is child abuse and changing people’s thinking that 

child protection includes the abuse of young people when they are out in the community.  Too 

often, our child protection system is set up to protect children from abuse in the home, not in 

the community.

What difference have your achievements made to children, young people, parents / 

carers?

The individual young people BASE have worked with have seen a reduced level of exploitation 

and risk in their lives

Objectives for 2015-16:

s฀ 4O฀SUPPORT฀��฀YOUNG฀PEOPLE฀WHO฀HAVE฀BEEN฀SEXUALLY฀EXPLOITED฀SO฀THEY฀ARE฀SAFER�

s฀ 4O฀TRAIN฀��฀STAFF฀IN฀#3%�

Page 77



70

s฀ 4O฀HELP฀IMPROVE฀OUR฀UNDERSTANDING฀OF฀WHAT฀#3%฀LOOKS฀LIKE฀IN฀"�.%3�

City of Bath College

Brief outline of agency function: 

s฀ "ATH฀#OLLEGE฀IS฀COMMITTED฀TO฀PROMOTING฀AND฀ENSURING฀THE฀SAFEGUARDING฀OF฀ALL฀
children, young people and vulnerable adults from harm whatever, their age, 

gender, race, disability, language, religion/belief and/or sexual orientation.

Achievements during 2014-2015: (in bullet points including training and awareness raising 

activity)

s฀ -ERGING฀WITH฀.ORTON฀2ADSTOCK฀#OLLEGE฀TO฀BECOME฀ONE฀
฀"ATH฀#OLLEGE

s฀ %NSURING฀ALL฀STAFF฀ARE฀FULLY฀UP฀TO฀DATE฀WITH฀THEIR฀3AFEGUARDING฀#ONTINUING฀
Professional Development including the Prevent Agenda, FGM and CSE 

awareness training. 

s฀ 3UPPORTING฀THE฀#ROWN฀0ROSECUTION฀IN฀SENTENCING฀A฀PERPETRATOR฀IN฀A฀#HILD฀3EXUAL฀
Abuse case.

Challenges:

s฀ 4HE฀COLLEGE฀-ERGER฀WITH฀.ORTON฀2ADSTOCK฀#OLLEGE�

Reduced funding both within the FE sector around Welfare and cuts in welfare services within 

the external agencies sectors.

What difference have your achievements made to children, young people, parents / 

carers?

s฀ +EEPING฀CHILDREN�฀YOUNG฀PEOPLE฀AND฀VULNERABLE฀ADULTS฀FREE฀FROM฀HARM�

Objectives for 2015-16:

1. Continued focus on providing an outstanding welfare service to the Bath College 

student community.

2. Continue to build relationships around partnership working with BANES, and other 

authorities.

3. Increase our partnership working with the Young Carers Association and Young 

Parent Groups to support the student cohort.

4. Cascade the Fundamental British Values Agenda and further embed the Prevent 

Agenda to Governors, Senior Leaders, Students’ Union, all staff and all students in 

2015/16 and beyond.

Voluntary Sector Representative from Children and Young People’s 

Network

Brief outline of agency function: 

Represent the views of the Children and Young People Voluntary Sector Network

Achievements during 2014-2015: 

Able to secure a lower cost to Voluntary Sector organisations for Safeguarding  training.

LSCB Approval of  the Safe Network;  on line Safeguarding support designed for the Voluntary 

Page 78



71

Sector.  Safe Network meeting with voluntary sector organisations to explain role.

Challenges:

Representing such a diverse sector, thinking how the voluntary sector could report on 

safeguarding through the audit process despite the fact that the services they provide are very 

different.

What difference have your achievements made to children, young people, parents / 

carers?

Access to training and safeguarding resources for staff.

Objectives for 2015-16:

s฀ 2EPRESENT฀THE฀VOICE฀AND฀EXPERIENCE฀OF฀THE฀6#3฀AGENCIES฀WORKING฀WITH฀#90฀AND฀
families in B&NES on the LSCB

s฀ &ACILITATE฀CONSULTATION฀WITH฀THE฀6#3

s฀ 0ROMOTE฀6#3฀SERVICE฀PROVIDERS฀FOR฀OPPORTUNITIES฀COMMISSIONED฀VIA฀THE฀,3#"

Oxford Health NHS Foundation Trust

Brief outline of agency function: 

Child & Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS)

Achievements during 2014-2015: (in bullet points including training and awareness raising 

activity)

Direct CAMHS Work:

s฀ 3ELF
REFERRAL฀HAS฀BEEN฀INTRODUCED฀FOR฀YOUNG฀PEOPLE฀AGED฀��฀AND฀��฀WHO฀CAN฀CALL฀
or text a dedicated mobile telephone number and speak with a clinician in the 

CAMHS team. The clinician will work through a guided script written by young 

people in the CAMHS participation group, the referral will either be accepted in 

CAMHS or the young person will be signposted to another agency that would 

give the relevant support needed. CAMHS clinicians and young people in the 

participation group are in the process of visiting the 6th Forms in all BANES 

schools and colleges to explain self-referral. Posters are being sent to all agencies 

that are working with young people or where young people visit to make them 

aware of how to self-refer.

s฀ !฀�฀YEAR฀PILOT฀COMMENCED฀ON฀THE฀�ST฀*ANUARY฀����฀OFFERING฀AN฀EXTENDED฀SERVICE฀
to young people currently working with CAMHS who are care leavers with BANES 

Council. Young people will already be known to CAMHS and received interventions 

prior to their 18th birthday, and have additional vulnerabilities which may impact 

on their emotional needs and behavioural responses, and assessed by CAMHS as 

likely to benefit from an extended intervention. 

s฀ &ACE4IME฀PILOT฀
฀#!-(3฀PROVIDE฀AN฀EXTENSIVE฀RANGE฀OF฀SHORT฀TERM฀AND฀LONG฀TERM฀
interventions, clinic based and outreach/intensive community support to children 

and young people across Bath and North East Somerset.  Young people indicate 

a preference for technological based products frequently through use of texting, 

email, electronic feedback devices and iPhones.  CAMHS interventions have been 

limited to face to face meetings and phone based contact (calls and texts).  This 

project aimed to introduce an additional electronic option for young people where 

it has been risk assessed as part of the care plan. Where young people do not 
Page 79



72

have an electronic device suitable for Face Time contact, CAMHS have 2 iPads 

that they can lend to young people.

s฀ !CCESS฀TO฀���฀SUITE฀
฀)T฀IS฀RECOGNISED฀THAT฀YOUNG฀PEOPLE฀�UNDER฀THE฀AGE฀OF฀��	฀
detained under section 135 or 136 of the Mental Health Act are better assessed in 

a therapeutic environment than a police station where ever possible and safe to do 

so. A Standard Operating Procedure has been developed through a collaborative 

process with all partnering agencies to develop a specific set of standards for 

young people under 18 detained on a section 135 or 136 at the Mason Unit at 

Southmead Hospital in Bristol.

Safeguarding Specific Work:

s฀ 3AFEGUARDING฀TRAINING฀NEEDS฀ANALYSIS฀OF฀STAFF฀GROUPS฀TO฀ASSESS฀ADEQUATE฀PROVISION฀
and how best to deliver. Locality based level 3 training introduced. 

s฀ !DDITIONAL฀APPENDIX฀OF฀#HILD฀3EXUAL฀%XPLOITATION฀�#3%	฀ADDED฀TO฀TRAINING฀STRATEGY฀
and requirement for all staff to access CSE training.

s฀ )MPLEMENTATION฀OF฀3AFEGUARDING฀3UPERVISION฀3TRATEGY฀FOR฀CLINICAL฀TEAMS�

s฀ !UDIT฀OF฀SAFEGUARDING฀REFERRALS฀INCLUDING฀QUALITY�฀THRESHOLDS฀AND฀ESCALATION฀PLUS฀
audit of child protection case records to evidence that role of practitioner in child 

protection plans is recorded including evidence of clinicians understanding of 

‘Think Family’ and impacts on children.

s฀ 2EVIEW฀OF฀3AFEGUARDING฀CHILDREN฀WEBPAGE฀INCLUDING฀PARTICIPATION฀OF฀YOUNG฀PEOPLE฀
to make information more young person and family friendly

Challenges:

s฀ !WARENESS฀RAISING฀OF฀ALL฀NEW฀DEVELOPMENTS฀AMONGST฀CHILDREN�฀YOUNG฀PEOPLE฀AND฀
families

s฀ !BILITY฀TO฀REACH฀ALL฀CLINICAL฀STAFF฀TO฀ENSURE฀AWARENESS฀OF฀NEW฀LEARNING฀AND฀
developments

Escalation of concerns with multi agency partners when there is disagreement over risk and 

need can be challenging at times.

What difference have your achievements made to children, young people, parents / 

carers?

s฀ 3ELF
REFERRAL฀HAS฀MEANT฀BETTER฀ACCESS฀FOR฀YOUNG฀PEOPLE�฀GIVING฀THEM฀THE฀
opportunity to access CAMHS and be heard from directly and stigma/ barriers 

around mental health reduced for young people

s฀ %XTENDED฀INTERVENTION฀FOR฀,!#฀ASSISTS฀SMOOTH฀TRANSITION฀TO฀ADULTHOOD฀FOR฀VULNERABLE฀
young people.

s฀ &ACE฀4IME฀MEANS฀EASIER฀ACCESS฀FOR฀FAMILIES฀REDUCING฀TRAVEL฀AND฀TAKING฀TIME฀OFF฀
school or work (for parents/carers). Young person using Face Time is not reliant on 

being accompanied to all sessions.

s฀ !CCESS฀TO฀���฀3UITE฀MEANS฀A฀YOUNG฀PERSON฀FRIENDLY฀SETTING฀FOR฀THOSE฀DETAINED�฀

s฀ )NCREASED฀STAFF฀AWARENESS฀AROUND฀3AFEGUARDING฀#HILDREN฀INCLUDING฀#3%฀MEANS฀
more appropriate responses and actions taken alongside support for children, 

young people and families

Page 80



73

s฀ 3AFEGUARDING฀3UPERVISION฀PROVIDES฀THE฀OPPORTUNITY฀FOR฀STAFF฀TO฀DISCUSS฀AND฀REmECT฀
on issues of concern to act in the best interests of the child

s฀ !UDIT฀HIGHLIGHTS฀ANY฀AREAS฀OF฀CONCERN฀WHICH฀CAN฀THEN฀BE฀ADDRESSED฀AND฀
improvements made for the safeguarding of children.

s฀ )NFORMATION฀FOR฀CHILDREN�฀FAMILIES฀AND฀CLINICAL฀STAFF฀IN฀AN฀ACCESSIBLE฀FORMAT฀MEANS฀
finding relevant information more quickly and easily which is more likely to be 

utilised by those concerned.

Objectives for 2015-16:

s฀ %MOTIONAL฀RESILIENCE฀HUBS฀IN฀SCHOOLS฀
฀!฀PILOT฀PROJECT฀WILL฀BE฀STARTING฀FROM฀THE฀�ST฀
April for 1 year, developing emotional resilience hubs in all secondary schools in 

BANES. This project arose out of work that has taken place in 2 secondary schools 

in BANES where CAMHS have supported the work of school staff with young 

people with emotional and mental health problems. The pilot project will establish 

a system of school based counsellors who are supported by mental health 

practitioners from the local CAMH Service. Counsellors would act as an internal 

‘Tier 2 ‘service within the school.

 The pilot project aims to achieve the following:

 Improved resilience, emotional wellbeing and mental health for    young 

people of secondary school age

 Promote an increase in suitably qualified and experienced counsellors offering 

sessions in more secondary schools in Bath and North East Somerset.  

 Improve relationships between service providers in communities which are 

relevant to young people’s emotional resilience.

s฀ $EEP
DIVE฀AUDIT฀LOOKING฀AT฀EFFECTIVENESS฀OF฀CASES฀TRANSITIONING฀TO฀ADULT฀SERVICES�

s฀ %VALUATION฀AUDIT฀OF฀GROUP฀SAFEGUARDING฀SUPERVISION฀TO฀BE฀COMPLETED�

Bath & North East Somerset (BaNES) Clinical Commissioning Group 

(CCG)

Brief outline of agency function:

CCG’s are statutory NHS bodies with a range of statutory duties, including safeguarding 

children.  CCG’s are responsible for commissioning most hospital and community healthcare 

services for their local community.  CCG’s need to assure themselves that these organisations 

have effective safeguarding arrangements in place that comply with all statutory guidance 

related to safeguarding children.

The director of nursing and quality is the CCG board lead for safeguarding.  The CCG employ 

a designated nurse and have a service level agreement (SLA) for the designated doctor.

Achievements during 2014-15 (in bullet points including training & awareness raising activity)

s฀ 2EFRESHED฀SAFEGUARDING฀CHILDREN฀STANDARDS฀IN฀ALL฀##'฀CONTRACTS฀FOR฀ALL฀PROVIDERS

s฀ *OINT฀FUNDING฀BETWEEN฀"A.%3฀##'฀�฀0##฀FOR฀)2)3฀0ROGRAMME฀�FOR฀GENERAL฀
practice

s฀ )NCREASED฀SESSIONS฀AND฀CHANGE฀OF฀DESIGNATED฀DOCTOR฀�DUE฀TO฀RETIREMENT	

s฀ !PPOINTMENT฀OF฀NAMED฀'0฀SAFEGUARDING฀CHILDREN

Page 81



74

s฀ 1UARTERLY฀'0฀0RACTICE฀SAFEGUARDING฀CHILDREN฀LEADS฀NETWORK

s฀ 1UARTERLY฀SAFEGUARDING฀CHILDREN฀HEALTH฀PROFESSIONALS฀NETWORK

s฀ #1#฀REVIEW฀OF฀SERVICES฀FOR฀LOOKED฀AFTER฀CHILDREN฀AND฀SAFEGUARDING฀�*UNE฀����	

Challenges

s฀ /VER฀SIGHT฀OF฀CONTRACTS฀WHERE฀"A.%3฀##'฀IS฀NOT฀THE฀LEAD฀COMMISSIONER

s฀ #APACITY฀OF฀NAMED฀'0฀AS฀ONLY฀ONE฀SESSION฀A฀WEEK

s฀ 3ECURING฀ENGAGEMENT฀OF฀ALL฀'0฀PRACTICES

What difference has your achievements made to children, young people, parents/carers

s฀ (EALTH฀PROVIDERS฀ARE฀REQUIRED฀TO฀MEET฀THE฀SAFEGUARDING฀CHILDREN฀STANDARDS฀TO฀
ensure that children are kept safe.  The  ten core Safeguarding Children Standards 

are:

o Governance and Commitment to Safeguarding Children 

o Policy, Procedures and Guidelines

o Appropriate Training, Skills and Competences 

o Effective Supervision and Reflective Practice 

o Effective Multi-Agency Working 

o Reporting Serious Incidents

o Engaging in Serious Case Reviews

o Safe Recruitment and Retention of Staff

o Managing Safeguarding Children Allegations Against Members of Staff

o Engaging Children and their Families 

s฀ 4HE฀##'฀NOW฀HAS฀A฀COMPLETE฀SAFEGUARDING฀CHILDREN฀TEAM฀TO฀PROVIDE฀THE฀STRATEGIC฀
lead across the local health community, influencing local thinking and practice

s฀ 4HE฀NETWORKS฀PROVIDE฀AN฀OPPORTUNITY฀FOR฀SAFEGUARDING฀CHILDREN฀LEADS฀ACROSS฀THE฀
health community to work together and share experiences

s฀ 4HE฀#1#฀ACTION฀PLAN฀PROVIDES฀AN฀OPPORTUNITY฀TO฀ADDRESS฀HIGHLIGHTED฀AREAS฀OF฀
practice that need improving

Objectives for 2015-16

s฀ #O
COMMISSIONING฀ARRANGEMENTS฀OF฀PRIMARY฀CARE฀ARE฀BEING฀INTRODUCED฀FROM฀!PRIL฀
2015.  The CCG need to ensure that the GP services commissioned have effective 

safeguarding arrangements.

s฀ #ONTINUE฀TO฀MONITOR฀HEALTH฀PROVIDERS฀SAFEGUARDING฀CHILDREN฀ARRANGEMENTS฀AND฀฀
compliance of the safeguarding children standards and performance indicators

s฀ #ONTINUE฀TO฀MONITOR฀HEALTH฀PROVIDER฀ACTION฀PLANS฀RESULTING฀FROM฀THE฀#1#฀REVIEW฀
(June 2014)

s฀ -ONITOR฀THE฀)2)3฀PROJECT

s฀ &UND฀ONE฀YEAR฀PROJECT฀TO฀ASCERTAIN฀THE฀NEED฀FOR฀)$6!฀SERVICES฀IN฀THE฀25(฀WITH฀THE฀
intention of building a business case for a permanent position

Page 82



75

Appendix 8: B&NES LSAB / LSCB JOINT WORKING 2015- 

2016

Theme Opportunity Relevance Work needed Anything else?   

   to progress

Communications s฀ *OINT฀
safeguarding 
advice to public 
/ professionals 
e.g. via media / 
newsletters

s฀ *OINT฀
conferences / 
workshops

s฀ $EVELOP฀
opportunities 
for joint 
participation 
activity

s฀ 3MARTER฀USE฀OF฀
budget

s฀ #OULD฀BE฀
relevant to 
“Think family”, 
Young carers, 

s฀ 9OUNG฀CARERS�฀
disabled, DVA, 
“Think family

s฀ #OLLABORATION฀
between sub 
groups LSCB / 
LSAB

s฀ $EVELOP฀A฀
joint strategy 
for Comms 
sub groups 
would need 
to be broad to 
encompass all 
stakeholders

Joint website links 
( see Devon) 

Getting other sub 
groups to link into 
comms-sharing of 
sub group minutes

Most 
disadvantaged 
hardest to access 

Joint newsletter

Quality 
Assurance

s฀ 3HARED฀AUDITS฀
where VA and 
Children are 
relevant

s฀ "EST฀USE฀OF฀
people

s฀ 2ELEVANT฀TO฀$6!฀
, Substance / 
alcohol abuse, 
mental health 
(adult and 
child)

s฀ 6OICE฀OF฀ADULT
s฀ 6OICE฀OF฀CHILD
s฀ (OW฀DO฀WE฀

evidence 
quality

s฀ $ESIGN฀WORK฀
plans for LSAB 
and LSCB 
for some 
convergence on 
issues during 
year

s฀ 1UALITY฀AUDITS฀
and information 
governance

Shared learning 
on process of QA

Joint audits 
on occasion 
using a range of 
methodology’s to 
audit cases where 
there might be 
shared learning

Family QA work 
with overarching 
Information 
Sharing Protocol

Policy and 
Procedures

s฀ !SSURE฀
guidance for 
adults does not 
bring conflict 
with guidance 
for children 
(&vice versa)

s฀ !SSURE฀
guidance is 
consistent 
across both

s฀ !SSURANCE฀AND฀
QA exercise to 
be undertaken

s฀ -AY฀REQUIRE฀A฀
joint T&F group 
to work on this

s฀ 3HARING฀A฀
forward plan of 
groups agenda

Policy checklist 
required to be 
shared with other 
equivalent sub 
groups before 
sign off.

Sharing of a 
‘forward plan’

Could move to a 
SWCPP style web 
based guidance

Application of the 
MCA

Shared information 
sharing protocol

Page 83



76

Across all themes:
฀ s฀ ,ESS฀CONFUSING฀FOR฀THE฀PUBLIC฀AND฀PROFESSIONALS฀IF฀THERE฀IS฀MORE฀SHARED฀WORK
฀ s฀ "ETTER฀USE฀OF฀RESOURCES�฀LESS฀DUPLICATION
฀ s฀ )MPROVE฀KNOWLEDGE฀AND฀SKILLS฀ACROSS฀SUB฀GROUPS฀OF฀BOTH฀"OARDS

Training s฀ !CTIVELY฀LOOK฀FOR฀
opportunities 
for bring 
appropriate 
aspects 
of training 
together (i.e. 
convergence)

s฀ !S฀A฀lRST฀
stage, examine 
opportunities for 
convergence at 
Level 2

s฀ -AY฀REQUIRE฀
joint T&F Group 
to work on this 
could include 
looking at ;

Signs of Concern/
vulnerability

Information 
sharing

‘Think Family’ 
approach

Challenge generic 
perceptions of 
safeguarding

Identify generic 
key areas where 
training can be 
trained together.

Challenge 
generic views on 
safeguarding 

Continue joint 
training at Level 2

Joint work 
would help to 
disseminate info 
on specialist 
training. Look at 
developing easier 
routes to specialist 
training 

Risk of ‘dilution’

Use of champions 
to promote 
knowledge and 
learning

Engagement with 
professionals 
who need to be 
made aware of 
relevance to their 
area of work

Linking training to 
relevant services.

Joint training on 
DV and substance 
misuse

Exchanging 
Information

s฀ )MPROVED฀EARLY฀
identification of 
risk and referral

s฀ *OINT฀
development of 
MASH or other 
appropriate tool 
for this

s฀ *OINT฀WORKING฀
group in 
operation

MISH – all sub 
groups involved in 
design

IRIS

CPIS system

Culture change 
in terms of how 
agencies share 
information.

Perpetrators – 
information and 
how we share it

Feedback from 
referrals

Strategy minutes

Page 84



77

Appendix 9: LSCB Business Plan outturn 2014 -15

Available on B&NES public website

http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/sitedocuments/Children-and-Young-People/

ChildProtection/lscb_workprogramme_2014-15_updated_260515.pdf

 

Page 85



78

Appendix 10: LSCB Business Plan 2015-18 

Template below will be fully completed and signed off in September 2015 LSCB.

Key Priority 1 

The LSCB will co-ordinate a multi-agency approach to reducing harm to vulnerable 

Children and Young People. This will particularly focus on children and young people 

associated with the issues of:

s฀ 0HYSICAL฀!BUSE

s฀ .EGLECT

s฀ 3EXUAL฀!BUSE

s฀ #HILD฀3EXUAL฀%XPLOITATION฀

s฀ #HILDREN฀MISSING฀OR฀ABSENT

s฀ %
3AFETY

s฀ 3ELF฀HARM฀�฀SUICIDE

s฀ %MOTIONAL฀WELL฀BEING

s฀ $ISABILITIES

s฀ &'-

s฀ $OMESTIC฀!BUSE

s฀ 3UBSTANCE฀MISUSE฀

s฀ -ENTAL฀HEALTH฀AND฀LINK฀TO฀DOMESTIC฀ABUSE฀AND฀SUBSTANCE฀MISUSE฀

s฀ 2ADICALISATION฀�0REVENT฀AND฀#HANNEL	

s฀ 3LAVERY

s฀ (ARM฀ASSOCIATED฀WITH฀SERVICE฀PROVISION฀�EG�฀MENTAL฀HEALTH฀BED฀AVAILABILITY฀OR฀
provider failure)

s฀ #HILDREN฀AFFECTED฀BY฀PARENTAL฀OFFENDING

Outcomes

1. Robust arrangements which identify and support children and young people 

at risk of Child Sexual Exploitation

2. Qualitative and quantitative information and intelligence is evident in service 

improvements

3. Children’s workforce have a common understanding of issues, evidence 

based decision making, actions, sharing concerns and evaluations

4. Development of multi-agency information sharing arrangements to ensure 

services are provided at the earliest opportunity

5. Implementation of Early Help Strategy to identify and support children and 

young people at risk of harm  

Page 86



79

Issue Sub group Action Completion Progress (RAG)

 or Lead  Date 

Gather assurance on e-safety  

arrangements

Put in place new Prevent and  

Channel responsibilities  

Monitor progress of Multi-agency  

Information Sharing Hub project  

Gather assurance on the  

effectiveness of missing from  

home, care and school  

arrangements 

Deliver CSE action plan (ensure  

Willow Project is effectively  

functioning, strengthen links with  

schools and sexual health and  

review and refine strategy and  

protocol)  

Implement and monitor  

effectiveness of mental health  

protocol  

Progress targeted work with  

drug and alcohol agencies,  

mental health and domestic  

abuse services – seek  

assurance that effective  

co-ordinated work is in place  

Progress work with the Self  

Harm and Suicide Prevention  

group consider the best  

mechanism to raise awareness  

of risks with low level ligatures  

Assess the potential impact of  

lack of mental health beds on  

young people in B&NES  

Continue to monitor the transition  

of children to adult services

On-going liaison with South  

West Child Protection  

Procedures and arrangements  

going forwards  

Finalise Early Help Strategy

Implement task and finish group  

to look at needs of offender and  

families (in line with iHop  

presentation)

Gather assurance on children  

and young people with  

disabilities  

Understand the data regarding  

children in care in education,  

training and employment

Page 87



80

Key Priority 2

To increase the participation and involvement of children, young people and parents/carers in 

service improvements and developments both:

s฀ %XPERIENCE฀OF฀CURRENT฀SERVICES฀
s฀ !SPIRATIONS฀FOR฀฀NEW฀ONES

Outcomes

1. Agencies learn and demonstrate change in practice from experience of young  

people

2. Children and parents report that they feel more engaged in the Child 

Protection Process

3. Children and parents contribute to the development and improvement of 

services

4. Children experience good seamless arrangements between services 

regardless of their different level of need or the risk

5. Childrens views are clearly articulated in assessments, plans and reviews 

6. LSCB partners demonstrate reflective feedback from and to Children and 

Young People and their parents and care

Issue Sub group Action Completion Progress (RAG)

 or Lead  Date 

Seek assurance that new child  

friendly Working Together  

guidance is disseminated  

Continue to seek assurance  

from IRO, CP chairs, Children  

Specialist Services, Off the  

Record Advocacy Service and  

other agencies that children,  

young people and parents are  

invited and supported to  

participate in meetings – seek  

their views on their experience 

Continue to engage support of  

young people in stakeholder  

events and in recruitment of staff

Commence work with the e-teams   

to develop new materials

Development of further children  

and young people friendly  

communication strands eg,  

potential for face book, twitter,  

You Tube etc to communicate  

messages

To continue to work with Project  

28 and Mentoring Plus to develop  

new ways of utilising the feed-back  

from young people using these  

groups on the delivery of service   

to young people.

Seek assurance that new child  

friendly Working Together  
guidance is disseminated

Page 88



81

Key Priority 3

Strengthening the LSCB’s evaluation and challenge of the effectiveness of individual 

agency safeguarding arrangements

Outcome

1. Safeguarding standards of section 11 are embedded across the workforce 

effectively and ensure that all Commissioning is using the same standards

2. Audit tool is generic to services operating across region

3. Improved number and quality of section 11 returns

4. Continuity of attendance and participation from members attending

5. Effective challenge between LSCB Board members

Issue Sub group Action Completion Progress (RAG)

 or Lead  Date

Continue to undertake multi-agency   

audits and provide feedback  

(specifically review school and GP  

engagement; re audit  

categorisations of abuse; CSE  

cases; joint audit with LSAB  

sub-group)  

Develop programme for auditing  

agency compliance with  

multi-agency procedures  

Ensure Section 11 sub-regional  

mini audits for 2014-15 are  

completed, analysed and  

responded to   

Assurance that findings of schools  

audit are addressed and  

implemented  

Ensure that findings from lessons  

learned reviews are reported and  

actions to improve effectiveness  

are addressed   

Assurance from SCR sub-group  

that single agency action plans  

from SCR have all been completed  

Assurance that Section 11 action  

plans for 2013-14 have been signed  

off and completed  

Review effectiveness of partners  

challenge at CP Conferences  

Audit referrals from adult care  

commissioned services  

Understand the assurance  

mechanisms commissioners have   

in place for safeguarding children  

and young people in contracts  

Banes NHS CCG and B&NES  

Council to ensure standardised  

contractual requirements are  

included in all contracts  
Page 89



82

Key Priority 4

Sufficient and competent workforce to ensure Children and Young People are safe

Outcome

1. Evidence of learning across the partnership collectively and individual 

agencies from the Learning and Improvement Strategy

2. Staff are trained and developed at appropriate level and knowledge to make 

them effective in their work to keep children safe

3. Training sub-group ensure LSCB training meeting the current and emerging 

need of the workforce

4. LSCB is assured that single agency training is appropriate to needs

Issue Sub group Action Completion Progress (RAG)

 or Lead  Date

Disseminate Working Together to  

Safeguard Children 2015 and  

other recent reports / guidance  

documents

Assurance that new areas of  

abuse are included in all staff  

training eg, modern slavery,  

trafficking, FGM and CSE

Develop electronic training  

booking record management  

system to improve quality of  

information to provide assurance  

of multi-agency training

Assurance schools are  

complying with minimum  

safeguarding training  

requirements issued in  

March 2015

Commence the development of  

a quality framework for single  

agency and ‘train the trainer’  

training

Develop standardised  

competencies for all new  

programmes

Assurance that agencies have  

attended Prevent training

Review existing Training  

Programme

Develop and implement joint  

training programme with LSAB  

(consider particularly Domestic  

Abuse in 2015-16) 

Page 90



83

Key Priority 5

Continuous improvement of LSCB

Outcome  

1. LSCB is graded as at least ‘good’ against Ofsted/CQC expectations

2. LSCB has a high profile and is seen as effective in both quality assurance and 

driving improvement in safeguarding 

3. Clear, complementary role and relationship with other strategic boards that 

increases effectiveness and efficacy

4. Formalised joint working arrangements with the LSAB

Issue Sub group Action Completion Progress (RAG)

 or Lead  Date

Review LSCB and sub-group Terms  

of Reference – seize opportunity for  

joint working with LSAB sub-groups

Review assurance mechanisms  

CCG and Council Commissioning  

teams have in place (including for  

schools; ensure standardised  

contract measures between CCG  

and Council where possible and  

included for roll out in contract  

variations 2016)

Assess effectiveness of Thematic  

Reviews

Continue to analyse feedback from  

other LSCB Ofsted inspection  

reports to identify areas for  

improvement

Develop new LSCB website and  

consider opportunity to link with  

LSAB

Develop systematic method for  

reviewing, disseminating and  

monitoring implementation of  

multi-agency policy and  

procedures (initial priority it to  

review against Working Together  

2015 and new Information Sharing  

Guidance)

Clarify arrangements for identifying  

and writing new policy, protocols,  

materials etc

Secure and induct lay members,  

schools and housing  

representatives to LSCB and  

sub-groups

Gather assurance on Private  

Fostering arrangements

Page 91



84

Implement Challenge and Review  

Panel for the Chair

Review data: eg, (1) take a closer  

look at the age of Looked After  

children in comparison to other  

areas to understand if B&NES is  

an outlier and if so why are we  

different; (2) generate data on  

children’s ethnicity, disability and  

gender for those on CP plans and  

Looked After for next years report;  

(3) triangulate sexual abuse cases  

with Avon and Somerset  

Constabulary.

Develop stronger links with other  

Boards

Review performance report  

ensuring new data is added as  

required – members to keep the  

‘so what’ question front of mind.

Page 92



Printed on recycled paper 

 

Bath & North East Somerset Council 
 

MEETING/
DECISION 
MAKER:  

Children and Young People Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel  

MEETING/
DECISION 
DATE:  

15th July 2015 

EXECUTIVE FORWARD 

PLAN REFERENCE: 

  

TITLE: Independent Reviewing Officers Annual Report 2014- 2015 

WARD: All  

AN OPEN PUBLIC ITEM 

 

List of attachments to this report: 

Annex 1 

 
1 THE ISSUE 

1.1 The People and Communities Directorate would like to set out for the Panel the 
activity of the Independent Reviewing Officers (IRO) during 2014-2015.  

2 RECOMMENDATION 

2.1 Proposal 1: The Panel are asked to note the report and to make any requests 
regarding additional information that would be useful to their oversight and 
scrutiny role. The Panel is asked to consider the effectiveness  of the Local 
Authority’s discharging of its duty of care as corporate parent to Children in Care.   

3 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS (FINANCE, PROPERTY, PEOPLE) 

3.1 None 

4 STATUTORY CONSIDERATIONS AND BASIS FOR PROPOSAL 

4.1 The Independent Reviewing Officers have the statutory duty to ensure the Local 
Authority is discharging its duty of care to children and young people as 
Corporate Parent.  

5 THE REPORT 

5.1 The report covers the following areas;  

Structure and Reporting Arrangements 

Profile of Children and Young People in Care 

Agenda Item 10

Page 93



Printed on recycled paper 

Independent Reviewing Officers activity 

Feedback and participation from Children, Young People, Parents and Carers 

Areas of IRO Scrutiny and Monitoring 

Quality Assurance and Feedback to Children’s Specialist Services 

Update of Actions identified in the 2013-14 Report 

Priorities for 2015-16 

Appendix 1 –IRO Caseload 

 

6 RATIONALE 

6.1 To raise awareness of the work of the IRO service as part of the array of services to 
children, young people and families provided by the Council and to provide  assurance 
that the Council’s Corporate Parenting responsibilities are reviewed and monitored.  

 

7 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

None 

8 CONSULTATION 

    The Local Safeguarding Children’s Board.  

9 RISK MANAGEMENT 

The IRO Service reviews the risk to children and young people routinely and in 
accordance with the Council’s Risk management processes.  

Contact person  Jackie Deas, Deputy Safeguarding Lead: Children and Quality 
Assurance  

Jackie_Deas@bathnes.gov.uk 

Background 
papers 

The IRO Handbook 2010  

Children’s Act (1989) (2004)  

 

Please contact the report author if you need to access this report in an 
alternative format 

 

Page 94



1 

 

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                          
 
 
 

 
Annex 1.  

 

 

 

 

 

Independent Reviewing Officers 
 

Annual Report 2014-15                                                                                                                             
 
Author: Jackie Deas 
Deputy Safeguarding Lead:Children and Quality 
Assurance 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                                                                                             

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 95



2 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Contents                                                                                                                     Page 
 

1. Introduction                3                                                                                               
 
2. Structure and Reporting Arrangements                                               3                                  
 
3. Profile of the Children and Young People in Care                              3                                 
 
4. Independent Reviewing Officers Activity                5 

                                        
5. Feedback and Participation from Children, Young People, Parents 6 
 

and Carers 
 

6.    Areas of IRO Scrutiny and Monitoring                                                  8                                  
 
7. Quality Assurance and Feedback to Children’s Specialist Services 9                                 
 
8. Update of actions identified in the 2013-14 Report                                  10                             
 

9. Priorities for 2015 -16                                                                                  11                               
 
10. Appendix 1 IROs Case load                                                                        13                              
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 96



3 

 

1. Introduction 
    
1.1 This is the Annual Report of the Independent Reviewing Officers (IROs) and covers the period 

April 2014 to March 2015. Since the Annual Report 2013-14, the IROs have been working 
against a national backdrop of: 

• the Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) reform being implemented from 
September 2014; 

• the growing national focus on children at risk of sexual exploitation following the Independent 
Report into Child Sexual Exploitation in Rotherham and the Oxford Serious Case Review; 

• the increased emphasis on Children Missing from Home and Education, published by the DfE 
in January 2014.  

 
1.2 The IROs have a key role to play in contributing to how the Local Authority responds to these 

issues for children in care.  
 
2.  Structure and Reporting Arrangements 
 
2.1  The IROs are managed within Children and Young People’s Strategy and Commissioning and 

the team are line managed by the Deputy Safeguarding Lead: Children and Quality Assurance. 
There are 2.5 full time equivalent posts within the Service and one full time Administrator.  

 
2.2 The IRO Handbook suggests that an estimated caseload of 50-70 Children in Care is a 

reasonable level for a full time equivalent IRO; this represents good practice in order to enable 
the delivery of a quality service. The IROs caseload is consistently within those guidelines.  

 
2.3  The Service Manager: Care Outcomes, who works within the Children’s Specialist Services, 

manages the service delivery for Children in Care which includes the Children in Care and 
Moving on Team. Some children will have Social Workers in other Children’s Teams, this 
allocation can depend on what stage of care proceedings they are in and whether they have 
additional needs and are in receipt of short breaks provision.  

 
2.4  Placements for Children in Care are provided by either the internal Family Placement Team or by 

Placements Commissioning who procure placements with Independent Fostering Agencies and 
residential providers.  

 
2.5  Under the guidance of the IRO Handbook, the Service is required to submit an annual report to 

the Corporate Parenting Board and this report is also submitted to the LSCB. A mid-year report is 
also provided to the People and Communities Leadership Team. 

 

3. Profile of Children and Young People in Care 
 
3.1 Number of Children in Care  

Diagram 1 below shows the number of Children in Care including children on short breaks and 
respite both of which the IROs review. There has been a steady decrease in numbers of Children 
in Care since June 2014 and this has levelled out over the last five months. As stated in the six 
monthly interim report (provided to the LSCB in March 2015), there have been some 
developments in Children’s Specialist Services practice, for example, the Placements Panel and 
the separation of Children in Need support from the Duty Team which may have contributed to 
this decrease and are viewed as having a positive impact on the numbers of Children in Care.  
 
 
 

Page 97



4 

 

Diagram 1.  Children in Care 2014-2015  
 

 
 

During the period there have been 56 children and young people who have come into care and 
71 children who are no longer in care.  Of these 71, 14 were adopted, 31 returned home and 12 
became Care Leavers at the age of 18. 

 
3.2  Ethnicity of Children in Care  
 

Diagram 2: Ethnicity of Children in Care as at 31.03.15 
 

The ethnicity of Children in Care is set out in 
Diagram 2. During the last six months there has 
been a percentage reduction in the number of 
children who are white British from 83% to 79%; 
currently 21% of Children in Care are of another 
ethnic origin than white British which is an increase 
of 4% The last Census in Bath and North East 
Somerset was in 2011, and showed that 10% of 
the general population of Bath and North East 
Somerset were from Black and Minority Ethnic 
(BME) backgrounds. The BME population in the 
current Children in Care cohort includes children 
from diverse backgrounds such as Pashtun, Black 
Caribbean, Mauritian, and Bangladeshi.  

 
Recent data collected in Bath and North East Somerset on Early Help and the Common Assessment 
Framework has also shown a 21% representation of children from an ethnic group other than white 
British. Whilst this might be an indication of Early Help targeting children from BME backgrounds with 
emerging needs, the representation of children from BME backgrounds in the Care population may 
require further interrogation.  
 
Given the number of BME Children in Care it was important to note the profile of carers children are 
placed with. In Bath and North East Somerset there are 76 in-house foster placements and a total of 
121 carers. Four are non-white households, and four carers are of Irish or Scottish origin, and one 
Hispanic. There are five non-white households used through Independent Fostering Agencies. The 
IRO Service will continue to check that cultural and heritage issues related to the ethnic background 
of the child are recognised in plans and placements insofar as this is a critical protective factor. It is 

100

110

120

130

140

150

160

170

180

Apr May June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb MarN
o

. 
o

f 
ch

il
d

re
n

  
a

n
d

 y
o

u
n

g
 p

e
o

p
le

Children in Care 01/04/14 - 31/03/15

Children in Care Total inc short break & respite

79%

7%

3%
4%

3%
3% 1%

Ethnicity as at 31/03/15
White British

Black or Black British

Mixed - Any other

mixed background
Mixed - White and

black Caribbean
White - any other

white background
Other

Not yet obtained

Page 98



5 

 

welcome that the contract with Stand Against Racism and Inequality (SARI) has been extended for 
an additional year and the IROs will continue to make sure that support from this service is 
considered at reviews when appropriate. 
 
3.3  Placements outside Bath and North East Somerset  
 
The majority of children and young people in Bath and North East Somerset are placed within the 
home area in Foster Placements provided by Local Authority Foster Carers or Independent Fostering 
Agencies. Bath and North East Somerset is a small geographical area and has limited foster 
placements and no residential provision for Children in Care. As a result, some children will 
understandably need to be placed outside the local area (the local area is defined for the purposes of 
placements as extending to a 20 mile radius of the borders of the Local Authority). Children who are 
placed further from home do require a higher level of vigilance than those children who are closer 
and who are more able to have regular contacts with their familial and friendship networks.    
 
There were 39 placements beyond the 20 mile radius relating to 31 children and young people. Out 
of an annual average of 142 children in care, this represents approximately 21.9%.  
 

• 3 placements were in short break units 

• 5 placements were in Parent and Baby Units ( four of these were court ordered)  

• 3 were in residential schools;  

• 10 were in residential homes; 

• 9 were in independent fostering placements; 

• 8 in Family Placement Team foster placements and 

• 1 in a semi-independent unit 
 

The IROs have developed a monitoring tool for children placed outside the local area, based on the 
required evidence in the Annex M of the Ofsted Framework and will be using this to audit a sample of 
cases in August 2015. Outcomes from this audit will be reported in the 2015-16 Mid-Year Report. 
 
 
 
 
 
4.  IRO Activity and the Difference Made to Children and Young People in Care 
 
4.1  During the period of this report the IROs have undertaken a total of 403 reviews. The team held a 

vacancy for four months and flexibility with part time staff enabled the service to be delivered 
during that period. The IROs enter 2015-2016 with a part time vacancy which will be recruited to 
as a new full time post combining the Child Protection Chair and IRO functions. Appendix 1 
shows the monthly breakdown of reviews.  

 
       The table below sets out a number of things: the numbers of Children in Care and those who 

have been reviewed during the period; the number of children coming into care and the number 
of children who have left care and the total number of reviews completed by month.   

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 99



6 

 

 
Table 1: Number of Children in Care and Reviews by Month 2014-15 
 

  

Children in 
Care(excl. 

short breaks / 
respite) 

Short break 
cases 

Children 
Coming Into 

care 
Children who 
have left care 

Reviews 
completed 

April 151 8 8 5 30 

May 152 6 4 5 39 

June 155 6 6 1 25 

July 149 6 8 13 56 

August 145 6 0 6 24 

September 140 7 5 7 39 

October 141 7 5 5 30 

November 134 7 4 8 30 

December 136 7 6 4 29 

January 134 6 3 5 35 

February 133 6 2 4 32 

March 132 6 5 6 34 

 
 
There have been recent changes in the delivery of services to children which may have had an 
impact on the numbers of Children in Care. Children’s Specialist Services have implemented new   
Children in Need arrangements to focus on prevention of family breakdown and work with children at 
risk earlier. The Placement Panel is also demonstrating effectiveness in ensuring all options are 
explored before a child comes into care.  
 
4.2 Timeliness of Reviews  
 
Performance against the local indicator (previously NI66) for timeliness of reviews for all Children in 
Care has remained consistently very good at 96.8% in Quarter 1, 96.4% in Quarter 2, 95.8% in 
Quarter 3 and 93.3% Quarter 4. The reasons for lateness have been related to sickness absence and 
we have demonstrated a steady improvement on timeliness since 2009/2010 when it was 55%. The 
unstinting flexibility of the team to adapt their work patterns to ensure timeliness has been a key 
factor in meeting timeliness and performance is strengthened by the team approaching reviews as a 
continuing process with children rather than the meeting as a single event. The team audited the use 
of process reviews in January 2015. 20 cases were audited and the aim was to enquire into whether 
process reviews impacted on timeliness and to audit the distribution of the minutes of the reviews. 
The IROs found that whilst process reviews are enabling them to meet timescales, there is a delay in 
getting the notes to young people and carers. The learning for the team from this audit was clear and 
it helped clarify which contacts or visits with a child or young person that we record as part of the 
process review. It highlighted the need to prioritise getting notes of the meetings out within five 
working days and that we will continue to review whether the increase in process reviews has 
impacted on the use of advocacy. 
 

5. Participation and Feedback from Children and Young People, Parents and Carers  
 
5.1 In February 2015 the IROs conducted an audit into how children and young people, parents and 

carers rate the service. The auditor found that of those children who completed a feedback form 
all thought the review talked about the right things, gave them a chance to say what they wanted 
to say and felt listened to. This is encouraging and a positive endorsement of the work of the 
IRO. Most children (19 out of 23) who completed the feedback form felt the review was the right 

Page 100



7 

 

length. Children who completed the feedback form gave an average score of 9.35 out of ten to 
the IROs about being listened to. With regard to parents, Foster Carers and Independent 
Fostering Agency Supervising Social Workers, nearly all respondents indicated that the review 
was held at a convenient place and time, was the right length, that they felt able to share their 
views in the meeting and they felt that the meeting focused on the child/young person’s needs 
and the plans for their care. The adult’s view of the child’s engagement in the review was 6.16 
out of ten which suggests that there remains more to do to improve engagement. 

 
5.2 No feedback forms were returned from in house Supervising Social Workers in the Family 

Placement Team or by Social Workers in general. There is a low uptake of written feedback from 
children and young people in Care about their Child in Care reviews. The auditor was particularly 
mindful that children and young people in care are often asked for their views about services and 
can feel overwhelmed and disengaged from giving feedback.  One of the IROs has been involved 
in identifying an app for Children in Care – MOMO – which could make feedback much easier. 
This will be looked into further during 2015-16. 

 
5.3  The audit did not focus on evidencing the difference the IROs are making for Children in Care. 

The IROs will establish a way of evidencing what difference feedback has made in shaping 
Children in Care reviews and the impact of the recommendations made in reviews. The Team will 
also be taking forward feedback for the Family Placement Team and ensuring that IROs also 
have an opportunity to feed into Foster Carer reviews.  

 
5.4 The IROs continue to ensure children and young people understand the Council’s Complaints 

Procedure and are supported if they want to make a complaint, either by their IRO or their 
advocate. In 2014-15, two formal complaints were made by children or young people; one of 
these was a young person who was supported by their IRO to make the complaint and this 
complaint is still in progress. 

 
Diagram 3 Participation in Reviews 

 
5.5 The IROs continue to be committed 
to supporting children and young people 
to participate in their reviews and are 
flexible in the approach to reviews to 
encourage this.  In the past year, there 
were 403 reviews of which 60 were for 
children under the age of 4 and are 
categorised by Government statistics as 
not participating.  Of the remaining 342 
reviews, 318 children and young people 
participated in some way in their review 
equating to 93% of these reviews.  This 
is an increase from 90% last year. The 
IROs are planning to further develop 
participation and training has been 
commissioned from VOICE, shared with 

other neighbouring local authorities, to support this. This will take place in May 2015 and three 
Advocates from Off the Record will attend.  
 
 
 
 
 

15%

64%

5%

3%

<1%

5%

2%

5%

Participation by type
No participation - under 4

years of age
Attends - participates verbally

Attends - participates through

advocate
Attends - conveys views non

verbally
Attends - no contribution

Does not attend - Advocate

only
Does not attend-facilitative

medium
Does not attend - no form of

participation

Page 101



8 

 

 
 
6. Areas of IRO Scrutiny and Monitoring  
 
 
6.1 Care Plans and Pathway Plans  
 
The IROs have consistently raised the availability of up to date Care Plans/Pathway Plans and the 
assessments that underpin them as an issue for Children in Care.  An audit was conducted in August 
2013 on Care Plans which was highlighted in last year’s Annual Report; progress has been 
monitored against the recommendations and some improvement has been seen since then.  In 2014-
15 the need for Children’s Specialist Services to have a policy regarding updating assessments was 
highlighted, so that Children in Care have Care Plans that are based on a thorough picture of their 
current needs.  This policy is now in place and work is being undertaken to update assessments for 
Children in Care. The IROs have been providing feedback on this key issue to Service Managers in 
Children’s Specialist Services through the informal and formal issues resolution process and to the 
Divisional Director for Children and Young People’s Specialist Services.  
 
The IROs have been highlighting the need for good quality Pathway Plans for young people in Care 
and this has been raised in previous Annual Reports. As part of making these processes clearer, the 
Service has provided input to a working group to address this.  A new policy and process is now in 
place, and once the catch-up process is complete, all children and young people should have good 
and meaningful Pathway Plans based on a thorough, up to date assessment of their needs. 
 
When a child or young person is involved in care proceedings in the Court arena, a Court Care Plan 
will be prepared by Children’s Specialist Services and the IROs must have sight of these prior to 
submission to court in order to agree the plan for the child, as they would do at any stage of the 
child’s journey in care. An agreed process will be developed with the Councils Legal and Democratic 
Services and Children’s Specialist Services to ensure this is done in every instance. 
 
The Deputy Safeguarding Lead has been working with Legal and Democratic Services to take steps 
to ensure the requirement for IROs to have independent legal advice is met by the Local Authority. 
Previously the team have had no recourse to independent legal advice and an interim position has 
been agreed to consult with a Senior Legal Advisor on issues where there is no conflict of interest or 
alternatively to procure legal advice from outside providers using the Framework Agreement shared 
by the four neighbouring Local Authorities.  
 
6.2 Permanence Planning  
 
At a child’s first review, permanence options will be discussed with a clear expectation that a 
permanence plan will be completed by the next review held at 3 months. This gives the IRO an 
opportunity to scrutinise the plan and ensure that it meets the child’s needs. In some cases the IROs 
have   noted a lack of effective assessment of children’s needs from which the permanence plan is 
formulated. This is currently being raised at each child’s review and it will be monitored and feedback 
will be included in the 2015-2016 Mid-Year Report.  
 
Children’s Specialist Services hold a Permanency Panel to review and ensure arrangements for 
permanency. The IROs will have useful information to contribute to some case discussions and 
would welcome being invited to contribute by whatever means are most helpful.  
 
When the plan is for children to return home an exit review is held to ensure appropriate services and 
support are maintained and the risk of breakdown recognised, planned for and therefore minimised. 
 

Page 102



9 

 

6.3 SEND 
 
September 2014 saw the introduction of the SEND reform which combines the Education, Health and 
Care (EHC) plans for all children who have a Statement of Special Educational Needs. Bath and 
North East Somerset are progressing with EHC plans for all children in transition years 2, 6, 9 &11. 
Currently 36 Children in Care have a Statement of Special Educational needs and will transfer to an 
EHC plan as they reach these transition years.  
 
The IROs and the Virtual School for Children in Care have identified a need for social workers to 
have ongoing training on the use of these plans and clarification of where Children in Care reviews 
will dovetail into this process. 
 
6.4 Short Breaks 
 
During 2014-15 Children’s Specialist Services have addressed, with the input of an IRO, a long-
standing concern of the IROs that children receiving short breaks were not being assessed in 
accordance with the Short Break Regulations (2010).  Assessment now conforms to the regulations 
and enables all entitlements to be considered.  Further work is now planned regarding children in 
care under Section 20 (Children Act 1989) also receive appropriate health, care and education 
planning. 
 
7.  Quality Assurance and Feedback to Children’s Specialist  Services  
 
The IROs have continued during the period to strengthen their role in quality assurance. Set out 
below is: 
 

I. Highlight information from the audits undertaken in year, the changes which have been 
identified from these and the progress made 

II. The changes made as a result of  the concern and challenge  the IROs have presented to 
Children’s Specialist Services  and the impact of these; 

III. The work undertaken through the multi-agency Children in Care Quality Assurance group 
and the difference this has made to practice. 

 
7.1  Audits: Since the six monthly update Report, the IROs have conducted four audits of their own 

practice.  
 

• Recommendations made at Reviews: - 30 cases were audited to examine the 
recommendations which were made at reviews. Generally the actions were agreed to be 
SMART and some suggestions were made for improvement.  

• The Voice of the Child: - 20 cases were audited to ensure the voice of the child was central in 
reviews; this is an area of strength in the service and the audit confirmed that. This is 
supported by feedback from the multi-agency audits in the Children in Care Quality Assurance 
Group. 

• The IROs audited the use of Process Reviews to ensure these are being used appropriately 
and with the child or young person at the centre of the review process.  

• The IROs audited the use of challenge processes between the IRS and Children’s Specialist 
Services. As a result of this audit, the local Issues Resolution Protocol has been revised; a 
new process for providing feedback to Children’s Specialist Services has been agreed with the 
Deputy Safeguarding Lead gatekeeping challenge and quality assurance feedback.  

 
 
 

Page 103



10 

 

Feedback to Children’s Specialist Services  
 
The IROs have attended one Manager’s Business Meeting with colleagues in Children’s Social Care, 
to share feedback and will provide quarterly input at this forum.  
 
The IROs have made a total of 25 direct challenges to Children’s Specialist Services. From the end 
of March 2015, as a result of the audit mentioned above, challenges will be recorded directly onto 
CareFirst as Informal and Formal issues raised.  
 
One of the findings in the audit of challenges made was that the IRO does not consistently get 
feedback to enable them to record an outcome to the challenges. As a result of the audit a pro-forma 
has been agreed with Children’s Specialist Services with clear guidance on completion which will be 
sent from the Deputy Safeguarding Lead when a formal challenge has been made. The Issues 
Resolution Protocol has been revised to clarify these refinements. 
 
The IROs provide monthly feedback to the Divisional Director of Children and Young People’s 
Specialist Services which is a collation of themes and specific issues which have occurred during that 
month. This is not part of the Issues Resolution Process. The types of challenges and the themes fed 
back to the Divisional Director of Children and Young People’s Specialist Services show the issues 
which are arising most often and they overlap with some of the themes that have been raised in the 
IRO Annual Reports. Feedback has been provided on the following themes: 
 

• Examples of good practice – 13  

• Plans which haven’t shown any progress/no reason for lack of progress evidenced – 16 

• Issues of practice and decision making which have caused concern - 27 

• No clear permanency plan - 20 

• Care Plan missing or need to be updated – 29 
 
Having highlighted the need to update care plans every two years, the Children in Care Team has 
now embarked on a programme to systematically update all of the care plans so that none are more 
than two years old.  
 
 
Children in Care Quality Assurance Steering Group  
 
An IRO sits on the CICQASG which is chaired by the Deputy Safeguarding Lead. This group 
undertakes audits of multi-agency planning arrangements for Children in Care. The IRO is able to 
provide an overarching view of the planning for children in this forum and they audit their own reviews 
to contribute to the feedback. A separate report has been prepared by the Deputy Safeguarding Lead 
for the Professional Practice Group, a sub-group of the LSCB, which goes into more detail on the 
activity of the group.  
 
8. Update of Actions Identified in the 2013-14 Report 
 

The IROs have worked hard to achieve the goals set out in the team plan for 2014-15. Any 
actions outstanding have been either reviewed  to monitor progress or carried forward to the 
2015-16 plan. The Actions are numbered below: 

 
1. The IROs are involved in a self-assessment working group in response to the Ofsted 

Inspection framework. As we plan to embark on a fresh cycle of audits, we propose to focus 
on the “spotlight” groups that Ofsted highlights which includes: 

• Child sexual exploitation 

Page 104



11 

 

• Education of children in care 

• Children living out of area 

• Quality of work with children when they return to area. Ongoing into 2015-16 

2. The IROs will continue to ensure that the voice of the child is central to all review notes and 
recording and promote the inclusion of Life Story work for children and young people. 
Completed an audit and ongoing development 

3. The Deputy Safeguarding Lead will ensure the IROs are using consistent systems for 
recording challenge and will undertake and audit of the challenges undertaken. Completed 

4. The IROs will evaluate and develop young people’s participation in their review process and 
continue to support and enable young people to chair their own reviews when appropriate. 
Ongoing dialogue and meetings with the Advocacy Service keep this as a focus for the 
team and Voice training to be delivered in May 2015 to help achieve this 

5. The IROs will work in collaboration with the SEND work programme to ensure plans for 
children in care with disabilities are delivered to expectation. Completed and ongoing 

6. With colleagues in Children’s Specialist Services, the IROs will review how we use the short 
break’s policy and ensure we are working together to deliver the best service to these children 
and young people. Complete 

7. The IROs will continue to audit cases using themes from the most recent cycle as part of on-
going quality assurance and supporting colleagues with maintaining improvements, alongside 
the introduction of new areas, for example, we want to focus on young people in the youth 
justice system, a group of young people who often experience a lack of placement availability 
and stability.  The focus of audits in 2014-15 was quality assuring some key areas of the 
IROs work.  

8. In the year ahead, the service needs to make more active use of young people’s feedback and 
continue to learn from this and adapt the service accordingly. Work is underway to update the 
children in care’s information pack. Children in Care pack has been updated by Children’s 
Specialist Services and an audit undertaken has highlighted areas to focus on for the 
IROs.  

9. The IROs will continue to promote the use of advocacy for children and young people in care 
and ensure that the complaints procedure is promoted whenever possible.  

  
9. Priorities for 2015-16 
 
The IROs have recently submitted the work plan for 2015-16 and are committed to delivering the 
following actions.   

 
1. The Team will continue to contribute to the Ofsted self-assessment group and ensure that their 

work is contributing to preparations for an Inspection.  
2. The IROs will continue to develop and consolidate its Quality Assurance functions and deliver 

a consistent service in line with the IRO handbook, the NAIRO Toolkit, the Issues Resolution 
Protocol with Children’s Social Care and will be committed to developing a culture that drives 
forward all plans for children and young people in care.  

3. The Safeguarding and Quality Assurance Team will work with the Head of Legal Services to 
consolidate a permanent arrangement for IROs to receive Independent Legal Advice as 
outlined in the IRO Handbook 

4. The IROs will increase the quality of participation of children and young people in their LAC 
Reviews, including enabling young people and children to chair their own reviews. 

5. The IROs will increase the ways in which young people are enabled to feel confident to make 
complaints 

Page 105



12 

 

6. The IROs will build and maintain a commitment to ensuring the individual needs of children 
and young people are met in the reviewing process, using the learning from training planned 
for May 2015.  

7. With Children’s Specialist Services the IROs will monitor progress on updating assessments 
for Children in Care 

8. The IROs will continue to monitor Care Plans and Pathway Plans and report the progress to 
the Leadership Team and the LSCB. 

9. The IROs will continue to seek clarity for children on Section 20 who may require health and 
education plans  

 
 
Jackie Deas 
June 2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 106



13 

 

 
Appendix 1: IROs Case Load  by month 
 
The table below shows the numbers of Children in Care and those who have been reviewed in the 
last twelve months during the period.  
 
Note: not all children will be reviewed during the period; however they are all reviewed in year and / 
or as set out in accordance with IRO guidance. 
 

  

CiC (excl. 
short break / 

respite) 
Reviews 
completed 

April 151 30 

May 152 39 

June 155 25 

July 149 56 

August 145 24 

September 140 39 

October 141 30 

November 134 30 

December 136 29 

January 134 35 

February 133 32 

March 132 34 

 

Page 107



Page 108

This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 

Printed on recycled paper 

 

Bath & North East Somerset Council 

MEETING/
DECISION 
MAKER:  

 

Children and Young People Panel 

MEETING/
DECISION 
DATE:  

15th July 2015 

EXECUTIVE FORWARD 

PLAN REFERENCE: 

  

TITLE: Update on Care Leavers Service 

WARD: All  

AN OPEN PUBLIC ITEM  

List of attachments to this report: 

N/A 

 

 
 

 

 
1. THE ISSUE 

       This report is to update the Children and Young People Panel on the activity of 
the BaNES Leaving Care team over the previous 12 months.    

2. RECOMMENDATIONS   

There are no specific recommendations attached to this paper, it is tabled for the 
purposes of up-date and discussion.   

3. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS (FINANCE, PROPERTY, PEOPLE) 

There are no specific resource or financial implications outlined or addressed in 
this paper as its remit is one of broad update.  

4. STATUTORY CONSIDERATIONS AND BASIS FOR PROPOSAL 

There are no specific statutory considerations to be addressed in this report. The 
Council will continue to address any identified issues that relate to Care Leavers 
through compliance with the Children Act 1989 and 2004.  

 

Agenda Item 11

Page 109



 

2 

Printed on recycled paper 

 

 

5. THE REPORT 

The Leaving Care service currently provides support to 88 young people that qualify 
as Care Leavers. The cohort of Care Leavers is primarily those young people 
between 18-21 years, although if a young person continues to be in education 
beyond 21 years we also have a duty to work with them until 25 years of age.  

Banes was one of the first Local Authorities in the Country to develop a “Staying Put” 
programme for care leavers that  wished to remain in their foster placement beyond 
18 years and until they are 21 years old. This scheme has now been running for 
nearly three years and currently we have 12 young people that have actively chosen 
to remain with their foster- carer beyond their 18th birthday. Our consultation with 
young people and foster-carers on this scheme remains overwhelmingly positive, 
and this is allowing young people to take their first steps into employment, or 
maintain a secure base whilst attending university with the same level of support and 
encouragement that would be afforded to those young people living with their birth 
family.     

Performance in relation to some of the key issues for Care Leavers are out-lined in 
the table below. 

The first set of data sets out the numbers of Care leavers we continue to be touch 
with following their discharge from care. This is important in continuing to offer a 
corporate parenting role of advice and assistance where it is possible to do so and 
where young people wish to accept this contact or remain living in the area. The 
figures for all age groups are positive and are higher than both statistical neighbours 
and the national average. The team run a bi-monthly meal for each age group as a 
way of facilitating contact and an opportunity to meet up as a group in an age 
appropriate manner and in a way that might replicate how other young people would 
meet with their family to share experiences or talk through issues of concern. These 
meals have proved very popular as well providing a good, non-threatening forum for 
our Care Leavers to meet.         

 

 

In touch data by care leaver age 

banding 
19 years old 20 years old 21 years old 

TOTAL 2014/15 in touch 

figure, 19, 20, 21st 

birthday 

In touch 22 28 29 79 

Not in touch  5 0 4 9 

Total qualifying care leavers by age 27 28 33 88 

% of former care leavers in touch 

with the local authority 
81.5% 100.0% 87.9% 89.8% 

 
     

Suitable accommodation data by 

care leaver age banding 
19 years old 20 years old 21 years old 

TOTAL 2014/15 NI147 

figure, 19, 20, 21st 

Page 110



 

3 

Printed on recycled paper 

birthday 

Accommodation is suitable 23 28 29 80 

Accommodation is unsuitable 4 0 4 8 

Total qualifying care leavers by age 27 28 33 88 

NI 147 % former care leavers in 

suitable accommodation 
85.2% 100.0% 87.9% 90.9% 

   

Employment, education or training 

data by care leaver age banding 
19 years old 20 years old 21 years old 

TOTAL 2014/15 NI148 

figure, 19, 20, 21st 

birthday 

Engaged in activity 17 19 18 54 

Not engaged in activity 10 9 15 34 

Total qualifying care leavers by age 27 28 33 88 

NI 148 % former care leavers in 

employment, education or training  
62.9% 67.8% 54.5% 61.3% 

 

The second set of data outlines the type, and suitability of housing for Care Leavers 
across the three age bands of care leavers. This also continues to be broadly 
positive picture, with the majority of care-leavers being assessed as being placed in 
or remaining in accommodation that is suitable to their needs.  

For both the 19 years age group and the 21 years age group there are still small but 
significant numbers of young people where concerns remain about the 
appropriateness of their accommodation. This could be for a number of reasons, it 
may be that they have chosen to return home and the support worker still has 
concerns about the suitability and safety of the family home, or on other scenario’s 
the care leaver has chosen to live with friends where the support worker is 
concerned about possible criminal activity or mis-use of substances. In scenario’s 
such as this, if we can maintain regular contact with the young person we will 
continue to work with them to ensure if additional concerns arise we are able to 
assist through housing advice or offer strategies to resist involvement in criminal 
activity.     

The final set of data provides information on NEET and EET activity for Care 
Leavers. For the first time, the government has extended this data to include NEET 
data for 21 year olds (in previous years this has only been requested for 19 and 20 
year olds). This data shows a rise in the numbers of care-leavers who are classified 
as NEET. As a consequence of this the percentage of  Care Leavers who are EET 
has fallen from 78.6% in BaNES in 2013/14, to 61.3% 2014/15. This might be partly 
explained by the expansion in the cohort, although a more detailed break-down of 
the cohort  shows that seven of those not engaged in activity have returned home, 
and a further six Care Leavers are currently claiming Emergency Support Benefit 
(previously Incapacity Benefit) as they are presently unable to work.  Although it is 
disappointing that this figure has fallen this year it is important to understand that as 
the cohort is relatively small, small changes in numbers can make this volatile and 
although the 14/15 data for both the national comparitors and statistical neighbours 
are not available, these figure are still ahead of the 13/14 data of 38.9% for our 
statistical neighbours and 45% across the country.     

Page 111



 

4 

Printed on recycled paper 

It is also important to highlight that an increasing number of our Care Leavers 
continue to achieve qualifications via Higher education. Currently we have 5 Care 
Leavers under-taking degree courses and a further twenty-nine who are enrolled in 
other higher education courses that will lead to other academic or vocational 
qualifications. This represents a significant rise in the numbers of Care Leavers who 
were able to access these types of course five years ago.    

 

6. SUMMARY; 

 The BaNES Leaving Care Team continues to work well and effectively with this 
cohort of young people. The age and circumstances for many of these young 
people means that it can often be difficult to engage with them, particularly when 
they have left their foster placements, or returned home.  The high levels of 
engagement and suitability of accommodation reported in this report continue to 
demonstrate that we meet the needs for the vast majority of young people that 
leave our care. We continue to develop new and innovative ways of remaining in 
contact with young people, who face difficult challenges as they seek to take 
their initial steps of independent living in a difficult and challenging economic 
climate.    

   

        

Contact person  Richard Baldwin; 01225 396289 

Background papers Children Act 1989 

Please contact the report author if you need to access this report in an 
alternative format 

 

Page 112



1

CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE POLICY DEVELOPMENT AND 
SCRUTINY PANEL

This Forward Plan seeks to anticipate all the decisions to be made by the Panel.

Inevitably, some of the published information may change; Government guidance recognises that the plan is a best assessment, at the time of 

publication, of anticipated decision making.  The online Forward Plan is updated regularly and can be seen on the Council’s website at:

http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1

The Forward Plan goes beyond the minimum legal requirement for only key decisions to be published over the coming four month period, and 

demonstrates the Council’s commitment to openness and participation in decision making.  It assists the Panel in planning their input to policy formulation 

and development, and in reviewing the work of the Cabinet.

Should you wish to make representations, please contact the report author or Mark Durnford, Democratic Services (01225 394458).  For meeting items, a 

formal agenda will be issued 5 clear working days before the meeting.  

Agenda papers can be inspected on the Council’s website and at the Guildhall (Bath), Hollies (Midsomer Norton),Civic Centre (Keynsham) and at Bath 

Central, Keynsham and Midsomer Norton public libraries.

The Council's Consultation Policy may be viewed at: www.bathnes.gov.uk/Bathnes/councilinformation/consultation/default.htm

A
genda Item

 12

P
age 113



JULY 15TH 2015

15 Jul 
2015

LSCB Annual Report & Work 
Programme
The Panel will receive a report 
on this item following a 
recommendation from the June 
meeting of the Local 
Safeguarding Children’s Board.

CYP PDS
Councillor Lisa 

Brett

Lesley 
Hutchinson
Tel: 01225 

396339

Strategic 
Director - 
People

15 Jul 
2015

Independent Reviewing 
Officers Annual Report
The Panel will receive a report 
on this item following a 
recommendation from the June 
meeting of the Local 
Safeguarding Children’s Board.

CYP PDS
Councillor Lisa 

Brett

Jackie Deas
Tel: 01225 

396959

Strategic 
Director - 
People

15 Jul 
2015

Care Leavers Support Update
The Panel will receive a report 
on this matter.

CYP PDS
Councillor Lisa 

Brett

Richard Baldwin
Tel: 01225 

396289

Strategic 
Director - 
People

SEPTEMBER 2015

Septemb
er 2015

Primary School & Young 
People Parliaments
The Panel will receive a 
presentation relating to this 
item.

CYP PDS
Councillor Lisa 

Brett

Sarah 
McCluskey
Tel: 01225 

394464

Strategic 
Director - 
People

Septemb
er 2015

School Admissions
The Panel will receive a report 
on this item.

CYP PDS
Councillor Sally 

Davis

Kevin Amos
Tel: 01225 

395202

Strategic 
Director - 
People

Ref
Date

Dec’n
Type

Title
Precis

Lead Decision 
Maker/s

Report Author
Contact

Background Papers
Strategic 
Director 

Lead

Date
First

Notified

P
age 114



Septemb
er 2015

Draft School Improvement 
and Achievement Policy
The Panel requested this report 
at their March 2015 meeting.

CYP PDS
Councillor Lisa 

Brett

Margaret 
Simmons-Bird

Tel: 01225 
394240

Strategic 
Director - 
People

Septemb
er 2015

New Schools Briefing
CYP PDS

Councillor Lisa 
Brett

Mike Bowden
Tel: 01225 

395610

Strategic 
Director - 
People

NOVEMBER 2015

JANUARY 2016

MARCH 2016

March 
2016

Education Results 2015
The Panel will receive a report 
on this matter.

CYP PDS
Councillor Lisa 

Brett

Margaret 
Simmons-Bird

Tel: 01225 
394240

Strategic 
Director - 
People

March 
2016

Annual Report on Children’s 
Services Compliments and 
Complaints 2014-15

CYP PDS
Councillor Lisa 

Brett

Stephen Mason, 
Sarah Watts
Tel: 01225 

396974, Tel: 
01225 477931

Strategic 
Director - 
People

MAY 2016

Update on implementation of 
Children's Centres & Services
The Panel requested a report on 
this matter at their March 2015 
meeting.

CYP PDS
Councillor Lisa 

Brett

Deborah 
Forward

Tel: 01225 
395305

Strategic 
Director - 
People

JULY 2016

Ref
Date

Dec’n
Type

Title
Precis

Lead Decision 
Maker/s

Report Author
Contact

Background Papers
Strategic 
Director 

Lead

Date
First

Notified

P
age 115



ITEMS YET TO BE SCHEDULED

School Attendance / 
Exclusions
The Panel will receive a report 
on this matter.

CYP PDS
Councillor Lisa 

Brett

Christopher 
Wilford

Strategic 
Director - 
People

Child Sexual Exploitation
The Panel will receive a report 
on this item.

CYP PDS
Councillor Lisa 

Brett

Richard Baldwin
Tel: 01225 

396289

Strategic 
Director - 
People

Special Educational Needs & 
Disability Reform
The Panel will receive a report 
on this matter.

CYP PDS
Councillor Lisa 

Brett

Charlie Moat
Tel: 01225 

477914

Strategic 
Director - 
People

Children's Centres / Staff 
Mutual
The Panel will receive a report 
on this matter.

CYP PDS
Councillor Lisa 

Brett

Deborah 
Forward

Tel: 01225 
395305

Strategic 
Director - 
People

Review of Community Play 
and Specialist Family Support 
Services
The Panel will receive a report 
on this matter.

CYP PDS
Councillor Lisa 

Brett

Deborah 
Forward

Tel: 01225 
395305

Strategic 
Director - 
People

Healthy Weight Forum 
Presentation
Councillor Dine Romero, 
Cabinet Member for Early 
Years, Children & Youth 
suggested that the Panel 
receives a presentation on the 
work of the Forum.

CYP PDS
Councillor Lisa 

Brett

Denice Burton
Tel: 01225 

394061

Strategic 
Director - 
People

Ref
Date

Dec’n
Type

Title
Precis

Lead Decision 
Maker/s

Report Author
Contact

Background Papers
Strategic 
Director 

Lead

Date
First

Notified

P
age 116



Care Bill - Implications for 
Children
The Panel will receive a report 
on this item.

CYP PDS
Councillor Lisa 

Brett

Lesley 
Hutchinson
Tel: 01225 

396339

Strategic 
Director - 
People

The Forward Plan is administered by DEMOCRATIC SERVICES:  Mark Durnford 01225 394458  Democratic_Services@bathnes.gov.uk

Ref
Date

Dec’n
Type

Title
Precis

Lead Decision 
Maker/s

Report Author
Contact

Background Papers
Strategic 
Director 

Lead

Date
First

Notified

P
age 117



P
age 118

T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	9 LSCB Annual Report & Work Programme
	Appdx1

	10 Independent Reviewing Officers Annual Report
	Appdx1

	11 Care Leavers Support Update
	12 Panel Workplan

